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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREH|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am delighted to present the annual report
of the Group for FY2023. Meanwhile, I, on behalf of the Company,
hereby express my wholehearted gratitude to all stakeholders,
including but not limited to the Shareholders, employees, customers,
suppliers, business partners and vendors, for their ongoing trust and
confidence in the Group and continuous support for the Group’s
business development in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Group overcame the adverse economic downturn from
COVID-19 pandemic in FY2022 and FY2023. The influence of
COVID-19 pandemic has faded in the first half of FY2023, the
economy recovery and the resumed demand for IT products and
solutions in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC in the second half
of FY2023 drove the revenue of the Group from approximately
HK$580.8 million for FY2022 to approximately HK$717.6 million
for FY2023. The revenue from both Enterprise IT Solutions and
distribution and resale recorded an increase of approximately 27.9%
and 12.4%, respectively. For further details of the Group's business
performance for FY2023, please refer to the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

Over the past few years, the Group had extended its footprint
to IT solution market in the Greater Bay Area by leveraging its
competitive advantages and leading position in Macau. The Group
built its reputation by engaging in various IT solution business for
customers in the region and started enjoying the benefits from the
previous efforts. The Group expects the profitability of contracts in
the Greater Bay Area will be improved resulting from the increasing
popularity and the reputation of high-quality IT solution provided by
the Group among IT industry.

The Group will extend and strengthen its business to capture the
emerging business opportunities going forward in the market by:

(i) offering new and customised IT products and IT solutions to
customers in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC. Supportive
policies had been implemented by the governments of
abovementioned regions to encourage local enterprises
transforming their traditional business with the integration of
IT elements. The various aspects of IT could assist customers to
enhance business efficiency, offer high-quality products and
services and develop existing business. The Group expects the
high demand for IT products and IT solutions in the Greater
Bay Area will sustain along with the rising importance of IT
elements in business operations;
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(ii)

(iii)

investing in R&D activities, especially in AloT and BCI
technologies. The R&D team of the Group reached a
breakthrough in the application of AloT and BCl technologies
with the integration of BCl headband during FY2023.
The Group believed the demand for metaverse and digital
content in different industries will keep increasing when such
technologies become more mature. The Group expects the
integration of such technologies with the existing IT products
or IT solutions will create innovative user experience to
customers, which also allow the Group stands out from the
competitors in the market. Please refer to the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report
for further information and development of the R&D function
of the Group; and

diversifying existing business models with new business
streams, which enables the Group to become more resilient to
the ever-changing market and global economy. During FY2023,
the Group entered into the MOU with the Vendor with the
intention to the Proposed Investment. For the details of the
Proposed Investment, please refer to the related announcement
of the Company published on 20 October 2023. The Group
would continue developing new business streams or business
models through organic growth or acquisition of potential
companies in the market.

Except for broadening the source of income from new business
stream development, the Group will also focus on enhancing the
profitability of existing business by enhancing the cost control
efficiency and business-unit reorganisation.

| believe the above strategies taken by the Group are essential for
creating value and maximising the benefits of Shareholders and the
Group in long-term.

Yours sincerely,

Chao Ka Chon
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB RR DT

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK

As an IT solutions provider and authorised distributor, the Group
introduces IT products and services, and provides related IT solutions
to the local markets, including Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC.
The Group also distributes IT products to IT solutions providers and
resellers. The Group had extended its footprint to the Greater Bay
Area to identify new business opportunities since FY2021, which
led to a remarkable increase in the revenue contribution from the
PRC over the past few years. In addition to maintaining the Group'’s
current competitive edge in the Macau market, the Group will also
focus on enlarging its market share in both Hong Kong and the PRC
in coming years.

The potential demands for various IT solutions resumed along with
the end of the influence from COVID-19 pandemic. The Group
expects the demand of IT solutions in the Greater Bay Area will
sustain for the following reasons:

(@) the Group was accredited as one of the top three key
technology enterprises under the “Certification Programme
for Technology Enterprises” in Macau during FY2023. The
accreditation strengthened the leading position and elevated
the reputation of the Group in Macau, which enables the
Group to attract more businesses. In addition, the Group also
conducted a product launch during FY2023 with the support
from the government of Macau SAR;

(b) the Zone officially started closed-loop operation on 1 March
2024. Under the closed-loop operation, goods that meet
certain conditions are exempt from tax when entering the
Zone through the “first line”. Imported goods entering the
PRC through the “second line” are taxed according to existing
regulations. The tax-free arrangement in the Zone enhances
the competitiveness of the Group by lowering the price of IT
solutions and products;
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the government of Macau SAR set the new requirements
on gaming operator license relating to investments on non-
gaming industries aiming at diversifying away from its reliance
on gaming industry, and the Group expects to be benefited
indirectly from the increasing demand for IT solutions and
products relating to the investments from those gaming
operators in the coming years. For FY2023, the Group signed
a contract with one of the gaming operators to foster the
development of digital economy among SME in Macau. The
scopes of the contract consist of (i) construction of a SaaS
platform; (ii) development of related mobile applications; and
(iii) maintenance of dynamic data storage hub for SME in
Macau; and

the government of Macau SAR reinforced its policies of the
“1+4" adequate diversification development strategy to enrich
Macau’s function as “One Centre” for integrated tourism
and leisure, while facilitating the development of four nascent
industries, namely the “Big Health” industry; modern financial
services; high technology; and conferences and exhibitions,
commerce and trade, and culture and sports in “2024 Policy
Address”. It also emphasised the importance of the integration
of various technologies with traditional industries like tourism
and gaming industries so as to create new experiences for
tourists in the future. The Group expects the demand for IT
solutions in the above industries will increase along with the
increasing influence of IT elements in their business operations
and related support policy from the government of Macau SAR.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following emerging business opportunities in Macau and the
Greater Bay Area also offer a platform for the Group to expand its
business:

Supportive governmental policies in promoting
smart city

The government of Macau SAR has been actively promoting
the development of smart city for several years. According to
the “Government of Macau SAR Five Years Development Plan
(2024-2028)" published in October 2023, “Transformation and
upgrading of high-tech industries and traditional industries” has
been introduced to develop new economy growing point by (i)
strengthening the business development and policy supports to IT
enterprises in Macau; (ii) enhancing the existing legal framework
relating to IT industries; (iii) collaborating with Henggin on the share
of talents, resources and IT infrastructure; and (iv) enhancing the
quality of the services and products from traditional industries with
the assistance of new technologies. The overall direction aims to
(i) create a more supportive environment for the R&D activities by
offering preferential policies and providing consultancy supports
to IT enterprises; (ii) foster the R&D activities to develop high-tech
industries by partnering with various tertiary institutions in Macau
and the PRC; and (iii) promote Macau internationally by bridging
Portuguese-speaking countries and the PRC through leveraging its
competitive advantages.

Implementation of loT network

The “Outline of Development Plan for Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area” ({ B8 X &[22 R B E 41 2 )) aims
to build up a smart urban agglomeration. In order to facilitate
the development of smart city within the Greater Bay Area, the
government of Macau SAR has invested extensive resources to
conduct R&D on the implementation of the loT network over the
years. As a result, along with the development of 5G network and
supportive governmental policies, the rapid development of loT
in Macau will directly drive the demand for IT solutions in coming
years.

Development of Fin-tech and e-commerce services

In May 2020, People’s Bank of China, China Banking and Insurance
Regulatory Commission, China Securities Regulatory Commission
and State Administration of Foreign Exchange issued “Opinions on
Financial Support for The Construction of The Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area” (RSB TFEB BN ERER
#) & 2 )) which stated the development direction and emphasised
the cooperation of financial institutions within the Greater Bay Area.
In response to the development goal, the government of Macau
SAR will provide financial incentives to local small and medium
enterprises and help them develop e-Commerce and cross-border
e-Commerce business, as well as popularising digital payment
system.
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R&D of AloT and BCl teams in metaverse
technology

The generation of the internet is transforming from Web 2.0 to Web
3.0, which will provide more customised and individual experiences
to users together with the Al technology.

To embrace the forthcoming business opportunities from the
development and widespread application of Web 3.0, the
Group continues to build up its own features and functions in Al
technology.

During FY2023, the Group continued its process of developing a
new technology platform and products with BCI features, which
could create synergy on the existing IT solutions and products
offered by the Group and such technology could be widely
integrated into products from other fields, including but not limited
to, healthcare, smart auto-mobile, smart home and smart wearable
devices.

In the early of FY2023, the Group has relocated its existing AloT
team and BCI team to a newly established wholly-owned subsidiary
incorporated in the PRC, namely Barco, which specialises in (i)
developing brain-computer interaction and related sense technology
and sensory-induced electroencephalography signal acquisition
technology; and (ii) developing own ecosystem which could be
widely applied in different products under Web 3.0 era.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 56 employees (as at 31
December 2022: 57 employees) in R&D department. During FY2023,
the Group had registered more than 20 software copyrights for
related technologies under China National Intellectual Property
Administration. The Group will adjust the number of headcount
under R&D department in accordance with the latest progress
of product development. The Group will also recruit scientists
and talents to the R&D department for BCl and Al by offering
competitive remuneration packages. To facilitate sustainable R&D
activities of the Group, the Group will continue to seek for possible
short-term and long-term financing sources to support the funding
needs.

Over the FY2023, Barco successfully developed the BCI headband
which can integrate with various application scenarios, including
wheelchairs, metaverse and gaming applications. The BCI headband
is currently under the stage of features’ optimisation. Users can
connect with designated application scenarios through the device
seamlessly. In addition, the Group signed a cooperation framework
agreement with Baidu Group to foster the development of the
construction of BCl based metaverse application scenarios.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e
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For FY2023, Barco entered into a contract relating to metaverse
content of Solitary Beauty Peak in Guilin, one of the popular tourism
cities in Guangxi province. The scopes of the project are to create
a virtual scene for Solitary Beauty Peak in Guilin and allow users to
enter the virtual scene for immersive tourism experience by using
BCl headband and Al technology.

The Group has substantially completed phase 1, relating to the
construction of metaverse application scenario for Solitary Beauty
Peak in Guilin, for FY2023 and is currently under the development
stage for phase 2, relating to the integration of BCI technology to
the metaverse application scenario, up to date of this annual report.

On top of a joint laboratory between the Group and Guangdong
Institute of Intelligence Science and Technology, namely BrainVerse
Digitalisation Laboratory, which was established in FY2022, Barco
also entered into an agreement in FY2023 to build a joint laboratory
with Beihang University, which mainly focuses on the development
of additional features and furthering new technologies as well as
new applications with AloT, BCI and Al technology. The Group
believes such technologies will be the new development trend in IT
and will be widely applied in various industries with the increasing
awareness from the world. It also helps diversify the existing
businesses by building up a new business driver for the Group.

Opportunities in the PRC

During FY2023, the Group entered into the MOU with the Vendor
with the intention to the Proposed Investment. The Group believed
the Proposed Investment will create value to the customers and
Shareholders by further diversifying and extending the current
business of the Company in the PRC. For the details of the Proposed
Investment, please refer to the related announcement of the
Company dated 20 October 2023.

As of the date of this annual report, the Group is still under the
progress of finalising the formal sale and purchase agreement with
the Vendor. The Company will make appropriate announcement(s) as
and when appropriate in due course.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

During FY2023, the Group continuously maintained its
leading position in the Macau IT solutions market by providing
comprehensive and high-quality end-to-end Enterprise IT Solutions as
well as distribution and resale business to customers under various

industry sectors in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Group endeavoured to capture the resumed demands from the
recovery of the economy from the pandemic to expand its market
share in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC during FY2023, resulting in
an increase in the revenue from approximately HK$580.8 million for
FY2022 to approximately HK$717.6 million for FY2023, representing

an increase of 23.6% as compared to that of FY2022.

During FY2023, the Group achieved promising progress in
expanding its business in the PRC, in which the revenue generated
from the PRC increased from approximately HK$41.1 million for
FY2022 to approximately HK$122.0 million for FY2023. On the
other hand, the Group also benefited from the steady revenue
source from Managed Services and IT maintenance and consultancy

services due to their recurring nature.

Enterprise IT Solutions

The revenue from Enterprise IT Solutions increased from
approximately HK$356.8 million for FY2022 to approximately
HK$456.2 million for FY2023. Such increase was mainly attributable
to the increase in the revenue from Professional IT Services by
approximately HK$116.6 million resulting from the increase in the

number of contracts in Macau and the PRC.

For FY2023, the government of Macau SAR reinforced its direction
on integrating IT elements with local traditional industries in “Policy
Address 2024", the Group expects company users, especially
those from non-IT industries, would actively upgrade or implant
IT elements into their existing businesses, which would drive the
demand for Enterprise IT Solutions in coming years. The Group will
focus on enhancing the existing IT solution with Al elements and
digital contents which enable the Group to maintain its competitive

advantage in IT industry and create new experiences to users.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Distribution and resale

During FY2023, the Group continuously acted as a distributor by
partnering with system vendors or their authorised distributors in the
sale and distribution of a selected range of hardware and associated
system relating to corporate mobility and cybersecurity solutions
in Hong Kong. In addition, the Group also procured different IT
products for resale to fulfill the needs from different customers
in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC. Resulting from the recovery
of the economy from the COVID-19 pandemic, the revenue from
distribution and resale increased from approximately HK$223.3
million for FY2022 to approximately HK$251.0 million for FY2023,
which was attributable to the increase in the number of resale
orders in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Group increased by approximately HK$136.8
million or 23.6% to approximately HK$717.6 million for FY2023
from approximately HK$580.8 million for FY2022. The increase
was attributable to the aggregate effect of the increase in revenue
generated from the Enterprise IT Solutions business by approximately
HK$116.6 million and the increase in revenue generated from
distribution and resale business by approximately HK$27.7 million.
For explanations of such change in revenue, please refer to the
section headed “Business Review" in this annual report.

Cost of sales and services

Cost of sales and services of the Group increased by approximately
HK$121.4 million or 25.3% to approximately HK$601.9 million
for FY2023 from approximately HK$480.5 million for FY2022. The
extent of the increase in cost of sales and services was greater than
that of the revenue for FY2023 and the reason was mainly due to
the lower gross profit margin for contracts with significant contract
sum in the PRC. There is no significant change in the mix of cost of
sales and services for both periods.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit of the Group increased by approximately HK$15.2
million or 15.1% to approximately HK$115.6 million for FY2023
from approximately HK$100.4 million for FY2022. Such increase
was attributable to the increase in the revenue derived from both
Enterprise IT Solutions and distribution and resale. However, gross
profit margin of the Group decreased from 17.3% for FY2022 to
16.1% for FY2023, which was mainly attributable to the increase in
the weight of revenue derived from the contracts with lower gross
profit margin in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

Other income

Other income of the Group increased by approximately HK$2.5
million or 43.9% to approximately HK$8.2 million for FY2023 from
approximately HK$5.7 million for FY2022. The increase was primarily
attributable to the increase in the government grant received by the

Group relating to R&D activities in the PRC.

Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses of the Group increased by
approximately HK$7.7 million or 31.3% to approximately HK$32.3
million for FY2023 from approximately HK$24.6 million for FY2022.
The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in the salaries
payable and commission expenses payable to salespersons resulting
from the increasing revenue and the expansion of the marketing

team in Hong Kong for FY2023.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by approximately
HK$13.2 million or 22.5% to approximately HK$71.8 million for
FY2023 from approximately HK$58.6 million for FY2022. The
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in entertaining and
travelling expenses for the business development together with the
increase in the depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
right of use assets for the expansion of business in Macau, Hong

Kong and the PRC.

R&D expenses

R&D expenses of the Group increased by approximately HK$3.3
million for FY2023. It mainly represents the relevant costs incurred
by AloT and BCI teams established in the PRC, which specialise in
the development of core technologies widely applied in metaverse
experience, including three-dimension reconstruction, haptic
feedback, iris recognition technology, Al, loT, and edge computing,
aiming to develop a metaverse eco-system for new users’ experience
and enhance the existing IT solutions provided by the Group in the

future.

Other expenses

Other expenses of the Group of approximately HK$8.6 million for
FY2022 represented the listing expenses, in which no such expenses

were incurred for FY2023.

Finance costs

Finance costs of the Group decreased by approximately HK$1.5
million or 65.2% to approximately HK$0.8 million for FY2023 from
approximately HK$2.3 million for FY2022. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the decrease in finance costs relating to the financial
liability with redeemable right which was lapsed and derecognised in

FY2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Income tax expense

Income tax expense of the Group decreased by approximately
HK$0.5 million or 14.7% to approximately HK$2.9 million for
FY2023 from approximately HK$3.4 million for FY2022. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in the unrecognised
tax loss in the PRC. The effective tax rate for FY2023 and FY2022
are approximately 39.5% and 51.3%, respectively.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing reasons, profit for the year of the Group
for FY2023 increased by approximately HK$1.3 million or 40.6%
to approximately HK$4.5 million for FY2023 from approximately
HK$3.2 million for FY2022.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a conservative approach towards its treasury
policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout
FY2023. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
assessing the potential customer’s credit quality, defining credit limit
by customer and conducting regular meetings and reviews on the
overdue status of the customers. To manage liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management of the Company to finance the
Group’s operations and meet its short-term and long-term funding
requirements.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed its operations mainly through a combination
of cash flow from operations and borrowings. As at 31 December
2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$28.7 million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$105.5
million) that were mainly denominated in HK$, MOP, RMB and US$.
The decrease in the cash and cash equivalents is mainly attributable
to (i) the increase in contract assets resulting from the fulfillment
of contracts; and (ii) increase in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables arising from the operations for FY2023.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2023, which
was calculated based on the total borrowings as at the respective
dates, was approximately 3.3% (31 December 2022: nil). As at
31 December 2023, the Group had total borrowings in RMB of
approximately HK$11.1 million (31 December 2022: nil), which
mainly comprised of secured bank borrowings of approximately
HK$5.5 million and financial liabilities on bills discounted with
recourse of approximately HK$5.5 million (31 December 2022: nil).
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total lease liabilities of
approximately HK$11.2 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$12.2 million), of which short-term lease liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$7.1 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$6.6 million). Details of the borrowings of the Company are
set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions
or recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the Group entities’ functional currency. For commercial
transactions, the exposure to foreign exchange risk is minimal as the
majority of subsidiaries of the Group operates in Macau and Hong
Kong with most of the transactions denominated and settled in

HK$.

For assets and liabilities, a majority of the monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in HK$, MOP and US$, and the foreign
exchange risk is considered minimal as these currencies are pegged.
The Group considers Macau and Hong Kong subsidiaries are
exposed to minimal foreign exchange risk from insignificant amounts

of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in RMB.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing regular
reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and tries to
minimise these exposures through close monitoring. The Group did
not carry out any hedging activities against its foreign currencies’

during FY2023 and FY2022.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT

LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$1,252,000 (31 December 2022: nil) relating to
capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment contracted for but not provided in the consolidated

financial statement.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any

significant contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no significant investment, material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group during
FY2023. Save for the future plans as disclosed under the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus,
there was no plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31

December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERERRR DT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY EE RFMBEE

As at 31 December 2023, we employed a total of 287 employees  12023F 123318 » HMKLER287ZEE (R
(including four executive Directors and excluding one non- FENEHITES  BETNRE—RIFNTESEN=
executive Director and three INEDs), as compared to a total of 249 BB IEMITESE) - MN2022F 128318 * &
employees as at 31 December 2022. The remuneration packages fFIE BB E 5249% - AEEREERENH
that the Group offers to its employees include salary, commissions, BB RIEFHE - B - BIBTEAL - RIKSETE
discretionary bonuses, pension scheme and other cash subsidies. N EAMIREMEL - —MRME - AEERIESEE
In general, the Group determines employee salaries based on each ERERE - BUNFEETEEFH & - AEED
employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has  $IEFERFHE - LFHMEEREMRKRIE - WU
designed an annual review system to assess the performance of its  IL{EARTEINE * DA REARKIE - REBER
employees, which forms the basis of its decisions with respect to  2023FFFEAME TR AABHA112.168
salary raises, bonuses and promotions. The total staff costs incurred 7T © M2022F B F R BN 2HEBTT - &
by the Group for FY2023 were approximately HK$112.1 million BEBIEIIEBERENTIEREFRKIBHE TR
compared to approximately HK$90.2 million for FY2022. Various & °

on-the-job trainings were provided to the employees based on their

job duties’ needs.

The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the Board upon EEZMFHMHMHEESREFHEESLEELE
recommendation from the Remuneration Committee having regard ~ BEIRJAZE 245 - EARRRAIE LB TSR
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and BEEHHEZEET -

comparable market statistics.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS EEEH

As at 31 December 2023, the bank deposit of approximately 72023912 A31H ' $RITFRAS3.3EEE T
HK$53.3 million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$53.3 (2022412 A31H : £953.38 &4 L) AEGR
million) was restricted for securing banking facilities and a  {7#%{E R EHERBITERMZIE  EREE
bank guarantee requested by a supplier. The bills receivable of #5588 L(2022F 124318 : &)Z2MEE
approximately HK$5.5 million (31 December 2022: nil) were — ZRFEERLIIR FIRTT - AEB AP ENIR AL
discounted to bank on a full recourse basis. The Group also pledged ~ (202212 A318 : & )EBAFENAE49A
the investment property with the fair value of approximately HK$4.9 ~ &ETTHIIREWE -

million for the existing borrowings in the PRC (31 December 2022:

nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD MEHEEE

There were no other significant events after the end of the reporting ~ RIREERAE R 1B M B 2 AN F 3R B #7348
period and up to the date of this annual report that either request ~ BAFSIRFRAMEH T - s 7 ARARNEE B AT LB
adjustment to the financial statement or are material to the EAMEMEAREM -

understanding of the Group’s current position.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED HBE r BEOREEAQXA TN LHHE
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY -

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,  E20234F & FREARFERHH FHIR » AQF]
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during ~ SE(ERHEBASMEEE « EO s EHEARAF]
FY2023 and up to the date of this annual report. B ETHEZ ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWR DT

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final
dividend for FY2023 (FY2022: nil).

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Net Proceeds from the Listing amounted to approximately
HK$93.0 million after deducting the underwriting fees and
commissions and other listing expenses borne by the Company. As
at 31 December 2023, the Directors are not aware of any material
change to the planned use of proceeds as set out in the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The
Company will use the Net Proceeds raised from the Global Offering
in accordance with the intended application of the Net Proceeds as
set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in
the Prospectus.

During the second half of FY2023, the usage of the Net Proceeds
was slightly higher than the intended usage as disclosed in the
interim report published by the Company on 20 September 2023,
mainly due to the acceleration of the hiring of staff for the expansion

KR
BEEHRTEATIR2023F M FHRARE
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B o
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of business in the PRC and strategic investments in relation to Barco.

An analysis of the planned usage of the Net Proceeds as stated in
the Prospectus and the actual utilisation of the Net Proceeds up to

RIS RATM A FTS R IE FENTE AR A RE
F2023F 12 A3 BABFIEFENERERS

31 December 2023 are set out below: RAWTT -
Unutilised
Actual use of  Net Proceeds
Percentage of proceeds up to as at
total Net  Allocation of 31 December 31 December
Proceeds Net Proceeds 2023 2023
HBZ2023F  #BZF2023F
E2HAE 128318/ 128318 %
RIERHE FriSFIE PG RIE BRAMNRE
Use of proceeds FERIEA% Batk FEOR BB MEFE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEBT BEBT BEAT
(Note)
(PH3E)
Capturing business opportunities IR AER KR4
in the Greater Bay Area 43.8% 40.7 34.2 6.5
Upfront costs of two Enterprise 1AM ZEITAR R H ZIE R
IT Solution projects BRI EARC R 30.4% 28.3 - 283
Strengthening the product N5 2E an A 2 B2
development capabilities 15.8% 14.7 11.8 A
General working capital —REEES 10.0% 9.3 93 -
Total 45T 100.0% 93.0 S5 37.7

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Note: As disclosed in the Prospectus, the estimated Net Proceeds after
deduction of underwriting fees and commissions and estimated
expenses payable by the Company in connection with the Global
Offering, were approximately HK$104.8 million, which was revised to
approximately HK$94.1 million as disclosed in the Company’s offer
price and allotment results announcement dated 14 July 2022. The
actual Net Proceeds received by the Company were approximately
HK$93.0 million. The Company intends to adjust the difference of
approximately HK$1.1 million to the business strategies in the same
proportion as the original funds applied as shown in the Prospectus.

As at 31 December 2023, the unutilised Net Proceeds amounted
to approximately HK$37.7 million. Such unutilised Net Proceeds
are intended to be applied in the same manner and the same
proportion as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The expected schedule for utilisation
of the unutilised Net Proceeds is set out below:

EHEEIwR DN
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SHPTSRIEF A R1048EEE T - MALAR
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B37TEEBIT - AR B IEBRER KKt
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R BE 2SR B A TS SR EFEE - REVAFT
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2024Q1 2024Q2 Sub-total
20245 —FE 20245%X-FE NEF
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEBT BEBT BEBT
Capturing business opportunities I K& [ H P& i
in the Greater Bay Area 6.5 - 6.5
Upfront costs of two Enterprise IT ~ ’{E{ZEITARR 5 2218 B #)
Solution projects AT ERRK 7 - 283 28.3
Strengthening the product HNS&R EE A EE 8 7
development capabilities 2.9 - 2.9
General working capital —MREEER = = =
9.4 28.3 37.7

The expected timeline for the utilisation of the unutilised Net
Proceeds above is based on the Director’s best estimation barring
any unforeseen circumstances, and may be subject to change based
on the future development of market conditions. Should there be
any change in the intended use of the unutilised Net Proceeds, the
Company will make appropriate announcement(s) in due course.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other update on the use
of Net Proceeds up to the date of this annual report. The Directors
will constantly evaluate the Group’s business objectives and specific
needs from time to time.

LRCRE A EFIRF AN TRB A RR TV E
REZNREMGFT (BRIFLRTAIBRELNER) -
WEREBARRTNERMES - HAREBAAER
FFRAEE e A TR - ARRRERE
HERAE -

B EXFREEIN  BEARFRAY - AKEH
BHMABASIRFERENRNES - EF
AR REN AR RENEE R R ABHER -
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DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of eight Directors, comprising four
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three INEDs.
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the

B

EFEeRM/\REFER AT ERNERTE
= —BFPTEER=EBIFRNTEE - T
RESNEREESNETER -

Directors.
Relationship
amongst
Date of Directors Relationship
Date of joining appointment  Length of Existing position Main roles and and senior with substantial
Name Age  the Group asaDirector  service in the Company responsibilities management Shareholder
mA BZIR EZRER BIERRH
fe FR F5EEY 209 BBER BRELANEL  FEBERER EEENER B
Executive Directors
HTEZE
ChaoKaChon 47 21 April 2003 18 February 3 years Chairman, CEOand ~ Overall management, ~ Cohabiting with Ms.  N/A
2021 executive Director strategic development  Chiu as a spouse
and leading the
business development
of the Group
B AT 2003F4A218 202152R188 3% IR BRHTER ASENRREE. AREERiRE  TER
H7E% BRARREERH
R
ChiuKoon Chi 45 11 January 2011 18 February 3 years Executive Director Overall administration, ~ Cohabiting with Mr.  Cohabiting with
2021 operations and Chaoasaspouse  Mr. Chaoasa
human resources spouse
and marketing of the
Group
HES 45%  2011F1ANAE 2021528188 3% HHES AEEMERTH EREEARLERE EEBAXLRE
BB BERAN
BRAREH
Lei Sok Han 46 3 June 2013 18 February 3 years Executive Director Overall development of ~ None None
2021 product solutions and
marketing strategies
of the Group
R 4  2013%6A38  202152A18H 3% YES ARENERIR . & £
ERSRREHRE
NgHongKei 36 1July 2014 18 February 3 years Executive Director Overall business Elder brother of Mr. None
2021 development and Ng Hong Seng,
business consultation a member of the
of the Group senior management
team
RBH 35 201457818 202152R188 3% HiTES AREMBREABER RREREENKE E
REH#A L~ RERFER
by
Non-executive Director
FHTEE
Li Haodong 47 1 April 2021 1 April 2021 3 years Non-executive Director ~ Providing strategicand ~ None None
development advice
to the Board
AR AT 2NF4RNR 2021F4R18 3% IHITES RESeRMRRL & &
BERER
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Relationship
amongst
Date of Directors Relationship
Date of joining appointment  Length of Existing position Main roles and and senior with substantial
Name Age  the Group asaDirector  service in the Company responsibilities management Shareholder
mA BZER EZREH BIERRH
#e FR FREEH 209 RBFER BRRALFANRL  TEREREHR EEENER B
INEDs
BUFHTEE
Man Wing Pong 53 20June 2022 20June2022  3years INED Supervising and None None
providing independent
advice to the Board
3K 53%  202066A208 2002568208 3F BUFHES EERMEZERE B £
BUEE
U Seng Pan 53 20June 2022 20June2022  3years INED Supervising and None None
providing independent
advice to the Board
RECE 53%  202066A208 202256A208 3F BUFHTES EERMEZERE B &
BUEE
Suen ChiWai 59 20June 2022  20June 2022 3years INED Supervising and None None
providing independent
advice to the Board
FER 59B  2022%6A208 202%6A208 3% BUFHTES EERMEZERE B £
BUEE
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chao Ka Chon (BZ ), aged 47, is the founder of the Group,
Chairman, CEO and executive Director who is primarily responsible
for the overall management, strategic development and leading the
business development of the Group. Mr. Chao was appointed as a
Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated as Chairman,
CEO and an executive Director on 20 April 2021. Mr. Chao is a sole
director of Tai Wah, which is a substantial Shareholder. Mr. Chao is
cohabiting with Ms. Chiu as a spouse.

Mr. Chao has over 20 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior
to first commencing the business operation of the Group in 2010,
Mr. Chao worked at HKBN JOS (Macau) Limited (formerly known
as Jardine OneSolution (Macau) Limited) which principally engages
in the provision of enterprise systems in Macau and is a subsidiary
of HKBN Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1310), as a senior account manager from March 2006 to May 2009.
From June 2002 to June 2005, Mr. Chao worked as a senior system
engineer and a senior system analyst at Noveland Textiles Limited
(formerly known as Novetex Spinners Limited).

BAREXE > 475 BEAEEMAIBA - £
& BREATERNTES  FXTEAELAEE
HEEER BRERLESEBER - AL
HER2021F2R18HEZEAESE © WHK2021
FAA20BEFAEAERF BRATERATE
£ FEABTERBTal WahBIMfE—E = - 7
S AR ERREEZ T RE -

BEERTITEREB0FLR - RAEEE
000F BN HAREREEZA » AREYER
HKBN JOS (GRF9) ABR 2 &) (A fE Ataf il (B
FERAT)EE:  Z2r BB EIEERA A
(B—RERERZ AT LT AR (BB R - 1310)
KB AR - EERNRPIN BRI R GRS
%75 0 B2006F3 H £2009F5 B EESREE
4538 o F20029F6 A E 200556 A © FLAEREE
B ER AR (RIS ARETHARAR)EFE
SEES TR I INESTIES o av il -1
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Mr. Chao was elected as a member of F B A RECEHHE

P -

= R b

THEEMMEZEEEZELE (the 14th Guangzhou District Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference*) on 22
January 2022 and has been a member and a standing committee
member of FEIARBUAHE EZEMNTHEZ B2 (Guangzhou
Baiyun District Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference*) since October 2021. Mr. Chao also has

been a member of the #% 7% 2% /&8 & & & (Economic Development
Council*) since August 2021 and has been the vice chairman of &
VESROK & & 5 B 48 B2 (the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area Internet Alliance*) since December 2020. Mr. Chao has
been the executive vice chairman of the board of supervisors of the

Macau International Industrial Technology Development Association

since October 2018. Mr. Chao has also been the vice chairman of

the board of supervisors of the Guangdong and Macao Federation

of Industry and Commerce since July 2018.

Since launching the scholarship and internship awards programme

in collaboration with the Institute of Data Science of the City

University of Macau in May 2019, a programme that aims to support
and cultivate talents in Macau, Mr. Chao has been the chairman

of such scholarship committee and has been leading the

overall

co-ordination and candidates’ selection process of the programme.

Mr. Chao obtained a degree of bachelor of science

and a

postgraduate diploma in science from The University of Auckland
in New Zealand in October 2000 and June 2002, respectively.

Mr. Chao was awarded “Excellence Award in Entrepreneur” by

the Business Awards of Macau in November 2019. Mr. Chao was

admitted as the member of Science and Technology Committee of

Macau in 2023.

Ms. Chiu Koon Chi (#57&3), aged 45, is an executive Director who

is primarily responsible for the overall administration, operations
and human resources and marketing of the Group. Ms. Chiu was

appointed as a Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated
as an executive Director on 20 April 2021. Ms. Chiu first joined the
Group as a director of BoardWare Macau in January 2011. Ms. Chiu

is also a director of each of BoardWare Macau, BoardWare

HK and

Synergy CCL. Ms. Chiu is cohabiting with Mr. Chao as a spouse.

Ms. Chiu has over 17 years of experience in marketing. Prior to

joining the Group, Ms. Chiu worked at IDT Telecom Asia Pacific

Limited, a subsidiary of IDT Corporation, a company listed

on The

New York Stock Exchange (stock code: NYSE: IDT), from May 2005

to July 2007 where her last position was a senior marketing

officer.

From June 2002 to March 2005, Ms. Chiu worked as a sales and

marketing assistant at Noveland Textiles Limited (formerly known as

Novetex Spinners Limited).

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

BRAER2022F1 A2 BEE AT B ARBUAR
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HEEEERIE)F o

B R FIN2019%5 A RPN H A 2 HURTL 24
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[& % £ B 7420004 10 A 200246 A R 70
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Ms. Chiu obtained a degree of bachelor of social sciences from & +H2001F12 AEBSESEEAENL S
Lingnan University, Hong Kong in December 2001. In July 2006, Ms. ~ BIEZ &+ {7 o 22006578 @ Mz T EBES
Chiu obtained a diploma in marketing from The University of Hong ~ AE2HEEESBR R ERSHTHRE@NHISE
Kong School of Professional and Continuing Education in association — $43& °

with the Chartered Institute of Marketing.

Ms. Lei Sok Han (Z 1), aged 46, is an executive Director who  ZH &L+ - 4655 BHTEE  FTEBEX
is primarily responsible for the overall development of product SBEERARTELEHBIENEEERE - T
solutions and marketing strategies of the Group. Ms. Lei was T /2021F2 18 EZ T AZEE » 172021
appointed as a Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated ~ F4 A20 BT ARITESE - TLLH2013F
as an executive Director on 20 April 2021. Ms. Lei first joined the 683 B BIXATE 4RI E @ N5 2 85 20AC 12
Group as a manager of the product and marketing department HIFDIIAKRESR » K E2016F4 A —HEEH
of BoardWare Macau on 3 June 2013 and has been a director of ~ #E8F9 i SFIRVAEES - 4+ B RiJETE 4
the aforementioned department of BoardWare Macau since April  RFIRBHFEHNES o

2016. Ms. Lei is also currently a director of BoardWare Macau and

BoardWare HK.

Ms. Lei has over 21 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to ~ ZZ HRTITEREA 21 F488 - RIMAKEH
joining the Group, Ms. Lei worked at CSA Automated (Macau) Z Al » & +H2010F98 E2013F5 KB H
Limited, a subsidiary of Automated Systems Holdings Limited, a ~ZE&CRFI) AR A BMEE - 2 A VBB EGHE
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock BB AR (A—MREZHMER EHHAF
code: 771), which principally engages in the provision of IT services, PSR : 771)MMB AR - TEBRERMEITHR
from September 2010 to May 2013 with her last position as an  FSER - ER1E&AEERE A HE R Hi5 4 8E
account manager in the sales & marketing department. From FF#&IE o 200842 A F2009%F2 8 » =2+
February 2008 to February 2009, Ms. Lei worked as a sales manager 7 Certis Security (Macau) Ltd JE{T SR © %
at Certis Security (Macau) Ltd., which principally engages in the AR FERERFLRIRIGER - B20019F5 A
provision of security services. Ms. Lei worked as a senior account ~ £2008F1 A » L+ RFSITIRIEH EE Mega
manager at Mega Tecnologia Informatica Lda., a Macau IT services  Tecnologia Informatica Lda f2E SR E LR ©

provider, from May 2001 to January 2008.

Ms. Lei obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration ~ 2=+ 5200141 A S RFPAALZTHER(H
in marketing from the University of Macau in January 2001. 5%44) 2+ 27 o N2007F6 A - TL+@iB
In June 2007, Ms. Lei obtained a degree of master of business &F2E2E 5% Capstone University ) T &
administration from Capstone University, the United States through — IRIE2(7

distance learning.

Mr. Ng Hong Kei (R38%#), aged 36, is an executive Director who  REHEE » 365% ' ARTEE TEE R
is primarily responsible for the overall business development and ~ AEBAEEEKERE R EKLEH o REER
business consultation of the Group. Mr. Ng was appointed as a 202152 18HEZ T AESE - W H20215F4 A
Director on 18 February 2021 and was re-designated as an executive 20 B EFEANITESE - BELEMN20145F7 A LA
Director on 20 April 2021. Mr. Ng first joined the Group as a  TB#4ERFIE A & BRI SPAIRE & 1) B R INARE
manager of the presales and consultant department of BoardWare ' FR2018F 10 B B A A8 4RI 21575 3020
Macau in July 2014 and was promoted to be a director of the #43E% o

business consultation department of BoardWare Macau in October

2018.

Mr. Ng has over 13 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior — RIFEAITITERA B13EKLE - RIMAKREH
to joining the Group, Mr. Ng worked at NetCraft Information 2 - R %4 R 200858 A £2010F 10 A KR
Technology (Macau) Co., Ltd., an IT solution provider in Macau, 201241 A £201445 A E X FEARE ORF)
from August 2008 to October 2010 and January 2012 to May 2014  BR A a5 « 522 8l &R TR 5 SR e
with his last position as an assistant manager of the pre-sales team. 7 HREFEERE RSB ELE -
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Mr. Ng obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration in
business information system from the University of Macau in March
2009. Mr. Ng was recognised as a Cisco certified design associate
from May 2009 to October 2017, a Cisco advanced wireless
design specialist from June 2009 to June 2011 and a Cisco security
solutions and design specialist from August 2010 to August 2012
and from October 2014 to October 2016, by Cisco Systems, Inc.

Mr. Ng has been serving as a member of B S B4t [ERGHEAEZE
& (the Islands District Community Service Advisory Committee*) of
Macau since January 2019. He is currently appointed as the Deputy
Coordinator of the committee for a term up to 29 January 2025.
Mr. Ng was awarded as Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area (GBA) Outstanding Young Entrepreneur in 2023.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Li Haodong (Z%5R), aged 47, was appointed as a Director on
1 April 2021 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on 20
April 2021. Mr. Li is primarily responsible for providing strategic and
development advice to the Board.

Mr. Li has over 15 years of experience in business management. Mr.
Li has been a director and the general manager of DHQ (Macau),
which principally engages in the provision of industrial development,
project investment and management services, since December 2019.
Mr. Li has been a general manager assistant of ¥k /& K & = &
A BR A 7] (Zhuhai Da Henggin Group Limited*), which principally
engages in the provision of infrastructure project investment,
construction and industrial development, property management and
consultancy services, since March 2019. Mr. Li worked at ¥x/8miE
EE A AN ERREER AR (Zhuhai Henggin New Area Elites
Human Resources Services Co., Ltd*), which principally engages in
the provision of recruitment and consultancy services, from March
2016 to April 2020 as a general manager. Mr. Li worked at Zk/& K
REEMBHEE R AR A A (Zhuhai Da Henggin Building Material
Technology Development Co. Ltd*), which principally engages
in the provision of R&D of building and urban green technology
development services, from June 2012 to February 2016 as a deputy
general manager.

Mr. Li obtained a degree of bachelor of science in industrial
automation from Guangdong University of Technology, the PRC in
July 1998. Mr. Li also obtained a master of business administration
degree from Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications, the
PRC in December 2008.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e
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INEDs BYFHITESE

Mr. Man Wing Pong (325 3B), aged 53, was appointed as an INED ~ 3UKFB54 © 535% * 7202266 A20HER T A
on 20 June 2022. He is primarily responsible for supervising and & IEHITEE - KT BB EEBENAEESIR
providing independent advice to the Board. B -

Mr. Man has over 20 years of experience in investment banking, asset XA RIEEIRITE BESELROEETEES
management and corporate management. Mr. Man is currently the — #20F &8 o XA ERETBAKREGR A AL
chief risk officer of Silverstone Investments Limited and is licensed EERIEE @ WHIRESLHEEHIETE4
under the SFO as a responsible officer to carry out Type 4 (Advising JB(FEHFIREER) « FelE(MERVEIRIES
on Securities), Type 6 (Advising on Corporate Finance) and Type 9 R)RFIBE(REEEEER)TREETHNAE
(Asset Management) regulated activities. From April 2020 to June A B ° 3 J4EM2020F4 8 £20214F6 AEIE
2021, Mr. Man served at League Capital Limited as managing EIEAGRABESZELIE : 2019F1HE2020
director. From January 2019 to February 2020, he worked at F2AEEERBREKERNEBR QA RRERITHE
Mason Global Capital Limited as director, Investment Banking; from 28 : 20149 A £2018F 4 A X B 2R BRI gt
September 2014 to April 2018, he worked at ABCI Capital Limited &EA&R QA - E??:?f‘fﬂfﬁkﬁ&ﬁfiﬁwﬁi&iu
with his last position as senior vice president in Investment Banking — #2%% : 2011 ¢6)EI FE2014F9AERHREEFE
Department; from June 2011 to September 2014, he worked atRHB & AR A BEETREATERESESE
OSK Capital Hong Kong Limited with his last position as director, 2007¢1OH Z2011F6 AN IBEES(F
Corporate Finance; from October 2007 to June 2011, he worked at  JE)BRAR] © EETES AR ERITIVEIE -
China Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Limited with his last position as

manager in Investment Banking Department.

Since June 2023, Mr. Man has been serving as an INED of Changan X4 H2023F6 A ETEBERLTREM R
Minsheng APLL Logistics Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main B AR AR (—KREEZER ETORE @ I
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 01292). Since February — {3fX5% : 01292) B JEITES : §2023¢2)51
2023, Mr. Man has been serving as a member of China Committee BETEFEELALRELERHEESEE -

of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.

Mr. Man is a fellow of CPA Australia, a fellow of Institute of Public XA ARBMNEFMASERSE - AL SR
Accountants, a fellow of Institute of Financial Accountants, a fellow Tﬁ% BreE VB AEERSE - B
of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a fellow of the Hong BEEZ2E€&FEELEEZLFNREESEFE
Kong Securities and Investment Institute. B e

Mr. Man obtained a bachelor’s degree of social science from The X LAR1993FEESB/ER X KEHSFIE
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1993, obtained a master’'s 121 - FR2004F 15 ﬁh,ﬁﬁﬁl,ﬁﬁkgfﬁ%fr
degree of financial management from Rotterdam School of &8 EPT BA 75 IR AE T 24 j’[EA2018¢§’¥%E'r
Management, Erasmus University in 2004, and obtained a &BHF XAEH I EESHTERE R
postgraduate diploma in professional accountancy from Graduate

School, The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2018.
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Mr. U Seng Pan ( &k & 3& ), aged 53, was appointed as an INED ~ REGR%E4E @ 535% © 202266 A208EZRT A
on 20 June 2022. He is primarily responsible for supervising and BYFHITES - RTIZAETEEVTHEET SR
providing independent advice to the Board. MEIER -

Mr. U has nearly 30 years of experience in the IT industry. Mr.  REAEITITERAILI0OFENLR - B2023F
U is currently a management member of Silergy Corp., a high- 3 A% &L 4E—H ASilergy Corp. K& 2 E K
tech company which has the industry-leading process technology & ' 2 AR A— KSR AR EEITESRL
to design innovative mixed-signal and analog IC for automotive, K TZEFf - B/RE - T%¥ - HE - ERNE
industrial, consumer, computing and telecom equipment, since ZRERTAIFTAREAEHLIERERER -
March 2023. Mr. U was the co-founder and currently Council ~ B202269 A#R » Fx %4 AR P9 E ZE R 7EhR
President of Macao Institute of Industrial Technology (MIIT), a non-  (MITAEE A AR A MIBERER - MITA—K
profit organisation and business incubator aiming at technological — FE&FIHE & 2 LR - S EBBREEBUT
innovation and entrepreneurship by facilitating applied research, 3¢ - B4 KR S| B RERmm AL K EB#ETT
uniting and attracting international and cross-border high-end talents ~ FffT88 A - M EIRFATAIFT R A% - REER
and teams for technological transformation since September 2022. 20214 3 A £2022 4 8 A B i #&{E 8 P9 Akrostar
Mr. U served as co-chief executive officer and a managing director ~ Technology Co., Ltd.(—fI B Fie Mt & &
of Macau of Akrostar Technology Co., Ltd, a high-tech company T FIRFER A KV SR M ERRAE K
which principally engages in the provision of chip design and system — RFSHSRIE A F)) B E TR M E BEK
applications with advanced semiconductor intellectual property I o 720014108 » %4 IS Al Chipidea
development and services, from March 2021 to August 2022. In  Microelectronics (Macau) Ltd @ M #% & & B %
October 2001, Mr. U also co-founded Chipidea Microelectronics 20094 # Synopsys Inc(— I = ZR Ept & &
(Macau) Ltd which was acquired in 2009 by Synopsys Inc, a world & ~ 5278 - B BB HE(P) SR R EE L 2 R
leading high-tech company principally engages in the provision of IR ER MM EERBLESEH AT WE @ &
advanced technologies for chip design, verification, IP integration ~ Z=202142 8 - ERERA B LEE - Rkt
and software security services, his last position as the R&D director 719949 A E202152 A RFIRETIE - H
until February 2021. Mr. U worked at the University of Macau from  &#E&BAM AL RS EHRBARERERER
September 1994 to February 2021 with his last position as a deputy ~ EZiEE = 5T (T MRFIA BRI B IE2U% -
director of the State Key Laboratory of Analog and Mixed Signal

VLS| and full professor of the faculty of science and technology in

University of Macau.

Mr. U has been currently a member of the 4£ # % B £ B8 8 HRALEA201F8ABREEAAKERELZES
(Economic Development Council*) since August 2021 and a K& - I AIEE MR8 B R A E R 35 R R T
member of the Macao Committee for Guangdong-Hong Kong- ZEB&Z 8 - EHE2025F118 - RELED
Macao Great Bay Area Development of the Boao Forum for Asia  E2016%E8 A 2202043 A £ #& TR P94 BII7 TR
(BFA) with his appointment valid until November 2025. Mr. U has ~ @EFRIFZE B & KBS BITTERE BUF A A 3
been a committee member of SEFIFRITHERBNEEZE S (The RZBEMZEE - RIELEB2019F 11 ARIEFE
Technology Committee of the Government of Macau*) and JEF94%F HEFERTEHSEETRITHTEES
BITTHR R T AA 3 EZ E€ (The Talent Development Committee & © RFEAH20165E3 AR E2021FEEPZEA
of the Government of Macau*), since August 2016 and March ERHENEH#EFRERIMEESEE -

2020, respectively. Mr. U has been the vice chairman of the China

Semiconductor Industry Association IC Design Branch of the PRC

since November 2019. Mr. U has been a committee member of the

Science and Technology Commission of Ministry of Education of the

People’s Republic of China since March 2016 until 2021.
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In recognition of his pioneering contribution both in academic ~BXREHENEMA I LITEHRRE HEAHAME
research & industrial development, he was awarded by The B @ FEER2021FEERAEEGHHEF
2021 Best Sci-Tech Innovation Award for Qutstanding Young 1ERFERFAIFE  RFIERITTHRIE B
Entrepreneur in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay 20105 BES BRI M2021FE LEhES S 1A
Area, Macau SAR government the 2010 Honorary Title of Value  X2019F EHAEARLMEIK 7 70BFHR
and the 2021 Merit Medal of Industry and Commerce, and 2019 #&&RE -

National Commemorative Medal of celebration of 70th anniversary

of the founding of the PRC.

Mr. U obtained a bachelor of science in electronics engineering  R&EAN1991F6 AEFBRENERMASETT
from Jinan University in Guangzhou, the PRC in June 1991. Mr. U 2RI 27 - RITHER1997F7 A &SR
obtained a master of electrical and electronic engineering from the AE2EFERLIEB LT EA o RIELER2002F
University of Macau in July 1997. Mr. U obtained a doctorate degree 7 ABUSRFIALETER T RELEM - 7%
in electrical and electronic engineering from the University of Macau 4 520044 4 A 158 & 7 18 31 A KX Znstituto
in July 2002. Mr. U obtained a doctorate degree in electrical and ~ Superior TécnicoR) & N B IS TI2IE T E47 o &
computer engineering from the Instituto Superior Técnico of the &4 H2016F1 AKX AEREE T TIEMHBE
University of Lisbon, Portugal in April 2004. Mr. U has been a fellow HJ&8 o

of The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers since January

2016.

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (& & {#), aged 59, was appointed as an INED  FR&E4E  595% © P2022F6 5208 EZR T A
on 20 June 2022. He is primarily responsible for supervising and BMFFHRITEE - FEZEEEENAESSIE
providing independent advice to the Board. BT EE o

Mr. Suen has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance and FRIuEAENRTCEME ST EIEBB20F &R =2
with area of practice principally in initial public offerings on the Stock £ BB E N AR T ~ 488 - ARIEHAKL
Exchange, mergers and acquisitions, corporate reorganisations and TR BIA R TIE - H&EEBE20184F2 AET
Listing Rules compliance matters. Mr. Suen was a partner of Withers — #lELZEIEETNAZA  HE2023F3AR
from February 2018 until his retirement in March 2023. Mr. Suen is /K ° BRI AATEHEMEFANER © KRt
currently a consultant in Withers. Mr. Suen worked at DLA Piper in 45200746 A £2018%2 A £ B BB ERZME
Hong Kong from June 2007 to February 2018 with his last position as ~ T FT{ER: - HREMEEBEAEEABA  HE
a partner. Mr. Suen served as a manager in the investment products 4= /2005510 8 £20065F7 A E BE SR EE
department of the SFC from October 2005 to July 2006, responsible  @REFIEELIE - B BB S RIR ST 2B F
for reviewing applications of collective investment schemes and  ESZ AT EINIEE AR o FREL N 200049 A
monitoring continuing compliance of authorised schemes. Mr. Suen  £200543 A fE& B AT B E2MITIEE IR
worked as an assistant solicitor at Woo Kwan Lee & Lo in Hong i o

Kong from September 2000 to March 2005.

Mr. Suen has been serving as an INED of (i) Xin Yuan Enterprises &4 —HETUA TS A TINBILIENTES ¢
Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock ()VEBRMCEEBAR AR (A — MR ZFTER
Exchange (stock code: 1748) since September 2018; (i) Venus FTHAG] - BRMHAIE : 1748)(EH 201849 A
Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc., a company listed on the Main Board of  #£) : (iD#/ B EEX= MR MH AR A7 (A —H
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2500) since July 2019; and (iii) Da ~ REERZFFER EHAAAE - &5 A : 2500)
Yu Financial Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board  (E2019%7A#E) : M(i)KBHE BIERAR AT
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1073) since July 2019. (B—BERERAER EMAAT - BRDASR
1073)(B201957A#) -
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Mr. Suen obtained a degree of bachelor of science from University
of East Anglia, the United Kingdom in July 1987 and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from the University of Hong Kong in June 1998.
Mr. Suen has been admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong since
October 2000 and in England and Wales since December 2003.
Mr. Suen has also been a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since May 1998 and a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 1993.

Save as disclosed above, each of the Directors:

(i) did not hold other positions in the Company or other members
of the Group as at the date of this annual report;

(i) did not hold other major appointments and professional
qualifications as at the date of this annual report;

(i) had no other relationship with any Directors, senior
management or substantial Shareholders as at the date of this
annual report;

(iv) did not have any other directorships in public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities markets in Hong
Kong or overseas in the three years prior to the date of this
annual report; and

(v) confirmed, to the best of his or her knowledge, information
and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, there were no
other matters that need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders in connection with his or her appointment, and
there was no information relating to him or her required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules as at the date
of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, save as the interests of Mr.
Chao in the Shares which are disclosed in the section headed
“Disclosure of Interests and Other Information” in directors’ report
in this annual report, each of the Directors does not have any
interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Other than the Directors, the senior management team consists
of seven members, who, together with executive Directors, are
responsible for the day-to-day management and operation of the

oooo
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EERSHREEE

SREEE

Group. The table below sets out information in respect of the senior
management personnel.

BRESI

SREREERHCRKEAR K
EEPTEFARAEAEEANAEERRE
B TREYEESNEEERENER

Date of
appointment Relationship with
as a member Directors, Controlling
Date of joining  of senior Existing position in Shareholders and
Name Age  the Group management the Group Roles and responsibilities substantial Shareholders
BzEAR4 HES  ZRRRR
#E FR MAZKEEH EEERERN RRARENBL BBREL TERRHBEE
Tsang Tik Man 35 2 May 2019 2 May 2019 Financial controller and Overall financial management ~ None
Company Secretary and company secretarial
matters of the Group
BHX 355 20195828 201965028 MBEERATNE AEEERHHEER il
PGEEES S
Leong Wai Meng 38 23 June 2014 1 August 2019 Director of the sales department ~ Overall supervision and None
of BoardWare Macau management of the sales
matters of the Group
26 /5 014568238 2019681 BRRFIRENEE ERREEAREMERHE &
£
Chan Kuong Kit 37 2 January 2020 2January 2020 Assistant director of the Overall management and None
application development development of the software
department of BoardWare application business of the
Macau Group
S 377 2020F1A28 200128 BRERMEREFEEIENE AEEANEREARENE B
aE BERREE
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Date of
appointment Relationship with
as a member Directors, Controlling
Date of joining  of senior Existing position in Shareholders and
Name Age  the Group management the Group Roles and responsibilities substantial Shareholders
BzEAE4 HEZ  ZRRRR
#E FR MATRERS EEENERE BRRAARENEQ BEREL TERRHBEE
Hoi Ut Sim 4 1 November 2017 1 June 2019 Director of BWZ department ~ Overall business development ~ None
and IR&D department of and the supervision of
BoardWare Macau Managed Services matters
and Innovation and R&D
matters of the Group
AR ME 017FNAIR 2019F6A18  BARMANERRERER  AREAEREBERREE B
e eE STERBEEAREER
EE
Ho lo Keong 54 23 September 23 September Director of professional service  Overall daily operations of the ~ None
2013 2013 department of BoardWare service team and overseeing
Macau the delivery of service
functions of the Group
friss S 203F9A238  201359A23F  BERFZERKHER AREMEERGENNAE &
& YEERERENE
i3
Ng Hong Seng 34 2 January 2014 1 June 2019 General manager of BoardWare  Overall management of the Younger brother of
Hong Kong daily operations and talent Mr. Ng, an executive
development programmes of ~ Director
the Group
REH Mm  014F1828 20195610 BRERELR ERERAREMAR HTESRALNNS
LERATER:E
Chan Hon Fan 47 2 May 2000 April 2018 General manager of Synergy ~ Overall management of the None
ccL daily operations and talent
development programmes of
the Group
REE 477 200095828 2018547 EHR e BREEARENER &
LERATER:E
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Mr. Tsang Tik Man (& # 32), aged 35, first joined the Group as X %4 » 355% © N2019F5 82 &R MA
a financial manager on 2 May 2019 and was promoted to be the ANEBEEREIFLIE - WH2021F1 818 EFH
financial controller of the Group on 1 January 2021. Mr. Tsang was ~ ABASEBSEE - BAEER2021F4A200%
appointed as the Company Secretary on 20 April 2021. Mr. Tsang ZIAXRARMNAGIWE - CAATEEEAE
is primarily responsible for the overall financial management and ~ EFEBEIKEIE LA RWEEL

company secretarial matters of the Group.

Mr. Tsang has over 11 years of experience in professional auditing, & 4AREEE; €t MY KERTEESR
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the Group, 11948 - RIMARNEBR Z /1 - LHER
Mr. Tsang worked at Nexion Technologies Limited, a company listed 201747 A £20194F 1 A £ Nexion Technologies
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8420) which principally  Limited £ 8t + 5% 2 5175 — @ A B 2 FTGEM L1
engages in the provision of information and communications ERQ R (BHREE : 8420) - EERFREEE
technology solution, from July 2017 to January 2019 with his last ~ MiBERMAR T RER - WREMEERS A
position as a finance manager. Mr. Tsang worked at Deloitte from  BAF§4&KIE « B2011F9 A E20179F78 - &4
September 2011 and July 2017 with his last position as a manager. DR HE - HREMETRGEALIE -

Mr. Tsang obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration ~ E5EAER2011F 11 AESHEEZSRETIEE
in accounting from Hong Kong Baptist University in November &2 24 - BEADTREBFIWER
2011. Mr. Tsang completed the Chartered Governance Qualifying &/ 202142 AR AEHFRARDAEEEE KR
Programme launched by The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered f2I7/20224 11 AESHIWE MBFIPAER
Secretaries in February 2021 and was admitted as chartered secretary 2 A BEH o KR 2015F1 AESELSA
and chartered governance professional in November 2022. He was Sl @t E KRR AT ESHMASHNE
admitted as a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute & &Rl o % /A 2022 6 1 BIES HEHE KB B LT
of Certified Public Accountants in January 2015 and is a certified 4 @IS HNISHFSTMER -« WHEAR
public accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified ~ 20234E#EEM £ @t 2 A 22 & Bt & (EFFAS) 78 3%
Public Accountants. He was also admitted as chartered accountant — sEfEREE « H & R EADHTEB(CESGA®)FESR

of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in

January 2022. In 2023, Mr. Tsang was awarded the title of certified

Environmental, Social and Governance Analyst (CESGA®) from the

European Federation of Financial Analysts Societies (EFFAS).

Mr. Leong Wai Meng (2 & 8) (formerly known as Li Jing Hong  REBAS4E (BIFEZEAUE) » 385% © 1R2014F6 A
( & Ak 8 )), aged 38, joined the Group as a manager of the sales 23 H ATE#RFIEETSE T D IMALES -
department of BoardWare Macau on 23 June 2014. He has been an 1% E201948 A1 A2 — E (T L it ZBFIBHIE 48
assistant director of the aforementioned department since 1 August E—8 - RAEF T HER LT AL EHEE
2019. Mr. Leong is primarily responsible for the overall supervision $HEEE °

and management of the sales matters of the Group.

Mr. Leong has over 13 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior RS ARITITE A B13F K5 - RIMALEH
to joining the Group, Mr. Leong worked at NetCraft Information ~ Z A7 * 254K 2009F 7 A £20144F 6 A £ X4
Technology (Macau) Co., Ltd., a solution provider in Macau, from  BEHTGRPI) AR A RIEE - 522 5 AR
July 2009 to June 2014 where his last position was a sales manager &R =M ER - H &2 FE TR A HE 0
of the sales department. BRI o

Mr. Leong obtained a degree of bachelor of engineering from 244200947 AESHEERIKETIEES
Northeastern University, the PRC in July 2009. B o
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Mr. Chan Kuong Kit (B 3 #£), aged 37, joined the Group as an  BRE#EE4A - 375% - M 202051 A28 AE 4R
assistant director of the application development department FIfERIE PRI EFBNIRAEE (D IMANRED - R
of BoardWare Macau on 2 January 2020. Mr. Chan is primarily 4T B2 aSREEHN M ERR N ERHBES
responsible for the overall management and development of the IENZHE o

software application business of the Group.

Mr. Chan has over nine years of experience in the IT industry. Prior ~ RFEANITITEREBBNERLR - RIMAKEH
to joining the Group, Mr. Chan worked at FasyTone Network 2RI ' BRSCAEMR2013F 11 AZE2019F 12 AR5
Technology Limited, an online payment platform company focusing EBELRITARARMEE  ZA AR A—HEE
on system development and research, from November 2013 to R EHZHZEMMENESRTHFAERE @ E&E
December 2019 with his last position as a general manager. FRYEERRTS /AR AC IR -

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of bachelor of business administration  BRZA R 2008F 7 A S RPIA LT EERE (1
(business information system) from the University of Macau in July ¥ 8 X&) 22L& -
2008.

Ms. Hoi Ut Sim (§F B &), aged 41, joined the Group as a business FFBEZ =t © 415% * K20175F11 A G 4R
engagement manager of the presales team of the business EBS#HAMSHEFNESER KRS HIMA
consultation department of BoardWare Macau in November ANEE - # B i ABERPIAIFESEZERIT LA
2017. She is currently the director of BWZ department and IR&D  FTEEFFZEEMEES - rh+ T B AT AEFAEE
department of BoardWare Macau. Ms. Hoi is primarily responsible 2752 & BA &35 ARFE S B LA N Al B 3 &=
for the overall business development and the supervision of I& °

Managed Services matters and Innovation and R&D matters of the

Group.

Ms. Hoi has over 23 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to R ERTITEREAR B234 88 - RIMAKREE
joining the Group, Ms. Hoi worked at Microsoft Hong Kong Limited, 2B * sF&Z £H 2014512 A £2017F4 A £
a subsidiary of Microsoft Corporation which is a company listed on  EEB AR A RIETEERETHERE - ZA
Nasdaq (stock code: MSFT), from December 2014 to April 2017 as @3B AR (B —RERAETER FHHAF
a services account executive. From September 2012 to December B 5E : MSFT) I B AR - 20125697 &
2014, she worked as a services sales supervisor for Microsoft Macau 2014412 B - A HECRFI A R A 514 (RS
Limited, a subsidiary of Microsoft Corporation. From September $#&EXE—B - Z AR MR A RNHBRR] °
2007 to September 2012, Ms. Hoi worked as an assistant product ~ E200749 8 £ 2012491 » #HFLTHEPIITHR
marketing manager at Mega Tecnologia Informatica Lda., a Macau  #5{t f& 5 Mega Tecnologia Informatica Lda. #& 1T
IT services provider. From May 1999 to August 2007, Ms. Hoi BN IR EE @ & §54C T8 - B 19994F5 B £ 200748
worked at Detection Security Systems (Macau) Co., Ltd. with her last 3 + fFZ THRRBELTEFRHER A AR - &
position as a senior clerk. BFIEERB REREBE -

Ms. Hoi obtained a degree of bachelor of management from Macao ~ #FZ /200848 A &SRR T EIR &S+
Polytechnic Institute in August 2008. EAfi] o
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Mr. Ho lo Keong ({#838), aged 54, joined the Group as a director ~ fA¥BM %4 © 545% * 201359 A23H A HHR
of the professional service department of BoardWare Macau on 23 FIZEEREBEEFSMHIMANER » 4L TE
September 2013. Mr. Ho is primarily responsible for the overall daily B & AEENEEREEBFN D EEE - WEE
operations of the service team and overseeing the delivery of service  ARFSHEBEEDIRIE -

functions of the Group.

Mr. Ho has over 28 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to {50 A RNTITE A B28F K5 - RIMAKEH
joining the Group, Mr. Ho worked at CSA Automated (Macau) Z Al * (/LR 1994F7 B E2013F7AEEH
Limited, a subsidiary of Automated Systems Holdings Limited, a ~ ZE#HCEF) BRI BEHE:  ZAR A ESRSE
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock EIBR AR (A —ERBRMER EHHAF -
code: 771) which principally engages in the provision of IT services, — B&DAEE : 771)MMEB AT - TERERMEITHR
from July 1994 to July 2013 with his last position as a technical — FSEF » E&1%&FrEERS ARMRTSEIE -
services manager.

Mr. Ho obtained a degree of master of business administration  {a] ¢ 4 74 2016 4 3 A & 15 B M X 2 (European
with a major in international business from the European University,  University)# + S 4SS0 & T 59 & 1B 18 £ 247 -
Montreux Campus, Switzerland in March 2016 which was a long FEBEEBEERK(BRRZEERIR)

distance learning course.

Mr. Ng Hong Seng ( & % B% ), aged 34, joined the Group as a RMEER%E4 - 345% » R201451 F2B AIHHR
solution architect of the professional service department of  PIBERTT R E RIS IBLELER S D IMAKER -
BoardWare Macau on 2 January 2014 and was promoted to be a  ¥/A2017F1 A1 BEH ARTEE - RAER
technical manager on 1 January 2017. Mr. Ng was promoted to 201946 31 H & A E 4 RFIH % RIS B2
be an assistant director of the professional service department of BB —Bf - RAEAH2023F7 AR —EETHH
BoardWare Macau on 1 June 2019. Mr. Ng has been a general ZEHBLE T ZTAEREEREALEENAEE
manager of BoardWare HK since July 2023 where Mr. Ng is primarily — E& AA ZRETE] o

responsible for the overall management of the daily operations and

talent development programmes of the Group.

Mr. Ng has over 10 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to ~ REANITITEREGBI0FLLR - RINALEE
joining the Group, Mr. Ng worked at CSA Automated (Macau) Z 87 H2011F128ZE2013428 » RELER
Limited, a subsidiary of Automated Systems Holdings Limited, a B®R&ZCRF)ARATHE - ZARIEBR
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock SEBEAR AT (A—BEREZAER ETHA
code: 771), which principally engages in the provision of IT services, & * B HR5E : 771 B R A - TEWRFIR
from December 2011 to February 2013 with his last position as a  fITARIE £ - EREMEERE A TRIAK
network engineer in the engineering department. T#2RM o

Mr. Ng obtained a degree of bachelor of management from R%&E£R20114F7 AESHE EEBASBNE
Shanghai Jiao Tong University, the PRC in July 2011. Mr. Ng was  IPE2E4E(y o REAR202049 AEBIRE R
awarded as a certified information systems security professional E#HGZE2REEEREARUEANRRRLTRE
by the International Information System Security Certification A& W/ 201347 A%Cisco Systems, Inc.z2 7]
Consortium in September 2020 and was recognised as having AE KA M BEHRENHZ K -
completed the relevant certification test requirements in relation to

routing and switching by Cisco Systems, Inc. in July 2013.
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Mr. Chan Hon Fan (B# &), aged 47, joined the Group as a field BRESEI%E4 - 475% - H 2000455 A2 B AR B Rl
service engineer of Synergy CCL on 2 May 2000. Mr. Chan has FIEERFETRRMEMDINALAEE - RECEF
been the general manager of Synergy CCL since April 2018 and 201854 AEES BRI AL - T 288
is primarily responsible for the overall management of the daily AEBHEEENMAS ERTEINVEEESE
operations and talent development programmes of the Group.

Mr. Chan has over 23 years of experience in the IT industry. Prior to ~ FREANITITEE B B23EL R - NIMAKRE
joining the Group, Mr. Chan worked at Chat Horn Engineering Ltd. as B2 81 * B 199946 5 £2000%5A + RILAER
an assistant radio frequency maintenance technician from June 1999  Chat Horn Engineering Ltd. ¥&{T B IR 5T SBAE FE R
to May 2000. T8 —H o

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of bachelor of science from Oxford  BR&EAH2007F6 ARiBRIEEFESHELERE
Brookes University, the United Kingdom in June 2007 through  #7 & 52 H7 A 2(Oxford Brookes University) I £ £
distance learning. He also obtained a degree of master of science in =247 » # /5 Bl 20114108 &%2016%9 A
electronic and information engineering and a degree of master of EEEBETASBNETREETRESBELE
business administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University i & T & I2RE 247 -

in October 2011 and September 2016, respectively.

* For identification purpose only
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The board is pleased to present the CG report of the Company for
FY2023.

CG PRACTICES

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements
of good CG in the management structures and internal control
procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability.
The Company has adopted the Code Provisions.

Except for the deviation from provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
Company’s CG practices have complied with the CG Code during
FY2023 and up to the date of this annual report. The reason for the
deviation is explained in the paragraph headed “CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE" in this CG report.

The Directors will review the CG policies and compliance with
the CG Code each financial year and comply with the “comply or
explain” principle in the CG report, which will be included in this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors regarding any
non-compliance with the Model Code. All the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code in FY2023.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF AND DELEGATION BY
THE BOARD

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
is in place for the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions
performed by the Board include but are not limited to formulating
the Group’s business and investment plans and strategies, deciding
all significant financial (including major capital expenditure) and
operational issues, developing, monitoring and reviewing the
Group's CG practices and all other functions reserved to the Board
under the Articles of Association.
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The Company has delegated certain responsibilities to various
committees as set out in their respective terms of reference.
The responsibilities of these committees include monitoring the
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensuring that
appropriate internal control and risk management systems are in
place. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions to
the management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management is mainly responsible for the execution of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board and
other duties assigned to it from time to time.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the Company’s needs. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management on the Company’s behalf.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
the management has an obligation to supply the Directors with
adequate information in a timely manner to enable the Directors
to perform their responsibilities. The Directors are entitled to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expense.

CG FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that CG should be the collective responsibility
of Directors and has delegated the CG duties to the Audit
Committee which include:

(a

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on CG
and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Group;

to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Group; and

to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code from time
to time adopted by the Group and the disclosure in the CG
Report to be contained in the Company’s annual report.
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The responsibilities of the Audit Committee in relation to CG
functions are set out in the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee. Upon the Listing, the Audit Committee appointed the
consultant to perform a CG Code compliance review. The review
covered the Company'’s terms of reference of Board Committees,
CG policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the senior management and
disclosures in the CG report. The consultant has provided certain
recommendations on improving the Company’s CG practices,
which the Company has adopted accordingly to ensure sound CG
practices.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company is committed to holding the view that the Board
should include a balanced composition of executive Directors, non-
executive Director and INEDs so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

At the date of this annual report, the Board currently consists of
eight Directors, comprising four executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and three INEDs as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chao (Chairman and CEQO)
Ms. Chiu

Ms. Lei

Mr. Ng

Non-executive Director
Mr. Li

INEDs

Mr. Man
Mr. U
Mr. Suen

Except that Ms. Chiu is cohabiting with Mr. Chao as a spouse, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship) among the Board.

The biographical details of each Director are set out in the section
headed “DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT" of this annual
report.

For term of appointment of each of the non-executive Director,
please refer to the paragraph headed “DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACT"” in section headed “DIRECTORS’' REPORT" of this
annual report.
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The non-executive Director and INEDs have brought in a wide
range of business and financial expertise, valuable experience
and independent judgement to the Board for promoting the
best interests of the Company and Shareholders. Through active
participation in the Board meetings and serving on various Board
committees, all INEDs will continue to make various contributions to
the Company.

Throughout the year, the Company had three INEDs, meeting the
requirements of the Listing Rules that the Board must include at
least three INEDs and the number of INEDs must represent at least
one-third of the Board members, and that at least one of the INEDs
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation and not aware of any
adverse event, the Company considers that all the INEDs are
independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors and senior management of the Company
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed annually.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Board has established mechanism to ensure independent view
and input are available to the Board when it discharges its duties.

Such mechanism includes:

1. annual evaluation of training sessions undertaken by each of
the Director during the financial year;

2. obtaining advice from external advisers when and where
required,;

3. a Director (including an INED) who has a material interest in
a contract, arrangement or other proposal shall abstain from
voting or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving the same; and

4. the Chairman meets with the INEDs annually without the
presence of executive Directors and the non-executive Director.
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DIRECTORS" CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director was provided with the necessary
induction programme, training and information to ensure that
he/she has proper understanding of his/her responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other applicable laws, rules and regulations prior
to his/her appointment. The Directors are encouraged to participate
in continuous professional development courses and seminars to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company will
continue to arrange and fund suitable training and regular seminars
to provide Directors with updates on the latest developments and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements regularly.

All Directors have participated in training provided by the Company
prior to the Listing, and for the period from the Listing Date up
to the date of this annual report, all Directors have been updated
with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements through reading materials to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

The individual training record of each Director received during
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FY2023 is summarised below: D
Attended
Attended trainings
trainings organised
organised by
by the professional Reading
Company organisations materials
ZiBATE S iNmEEA
Directors 2= EAEE  AEMBREIEI BEM B
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Chao (Chairman) B (EE) v v v
Ms. Chiu FH2Z T v v v
Mr. Ng REEHE v v v
Ms. Lei ESyar v v v
Non-executive Director FHITEE
Mr. Li e v v v
INEDs BUIHTEE
Mr. Man Vit 4 v v
Mr. U RIiEE v v v
Mr. Suen i v v v
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Chao is Chairman and CEO.
In view of the fact that Mr. Chao has been responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Group since 2010 and the steady
development of the Group, the Board believes that with the support
of Mr. Chao’s extensive experience and knowledge in the business
of the Group, vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive
officer in Mr. Chao strengthens the consistent and solid leadership
of the Group, and thereby allows for efficient business planning and
decision which is in the best interest of the Group as a whole.

Directors consider that the deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstances. Notwithstanding
the above, the Board is also of the view that the current
management structure is effective for the Group’s operations, and
sufficient checks and balances are in place. The Board will continue
to review the effectiveness of the CG structure of the Company in
order to assess whether separation of the roles of Chairman and
CEO is necessary.

The Board and the senior management of the Company, which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals can ensure the
balance of power and authority. As at 31 December 2023, the Board
comprised four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
three INEDs.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.
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Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit
himself/herself for election by Shareholders at the first general
meeting of the Company after appointment and any new Director
appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself
for re-election by the Shareholders at the next following annual
general meeting of the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-election and succession planning of Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the CEO.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings
regularly. Both the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee shall meet at least once every year and the Audit
Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Notices of not less than
fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers
are despatched to the Directors or committee members at least
seven days before the intended date of the meeting to ensure that
they have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately
prepared for the meeting. When Directors or committee members
are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters
to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman or the committee members prior to the meeting.

Minutes of meetings are kept by the Company Secretary with copies
circulated to relevant Board or Board Committee for comments and
records. Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by the Board or committee members and dissenting views
expressed. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and committee
meeting are sent to the relevant Board or committee members for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by Directors.
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For FY2023, five board meetings were held and the attendance 2023484 - BT TAXREEFTS 2 - @R
of the individual Director at these meetings is set out in the table BEERZEE€HMEEBERIIINTE :
below:

Meetings attended/Eligible to attend
BHE/RERLEES
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting 2023 AGM
2023%
Exeed FIZE00E REZRE098 FMZEeeE RRAFAS

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Chao B4 5/5 N/ATER 171 11 1N
Ms. Chiu L 5/5 N/ATE NATER N/ANE B 1
Ms. Lei T+ 5/5 N/ATER N/AT SR N/AT SR 1N
Mr. Ng Rk 5/5 N/ATER N/AT SR N/AT SR 1N
Non-executive Director FHTEE

Mr. Li Tk 4/5 N/ATER N/AT SR N/AT SR 1”7
INEDs BUFHATEE

Mr. Man ks 5/5 6/6 11 N/AT SR 1”7
Mr. U Py 5/5 6/6 N/AT SR 11 1N
Mr. Suen BRE 5/5 6/6 11 1" 11
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING BRREBFAS

An annual general meeting is an important forum in which BREBAFAEZHEEANTEEEHERRERBD
the management of the Company can communicate with the ZEZ¥& o EJE2024FRFBFRE 502024
Shareholders. The upcoming 2024 AGM will be held on 20 June F6H20B%17 ©

2024.

BOARD COMMITTEES EELER

The Group delegates certain responsibilities to various committees. AERERLZFEHOBETELZET - REBEEAHE
In accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing 2#BI% EmRA]  XREBEKIESEZES -
Rules, the Group has established Board Committees, each Board &EEZEESHEAMIEEESYEER MBS
Committee has its own terms of reference relating to its authority ZEREHEHREESBAWTHRER - S=FH
and duties, which have been approved by the Board and are ZE8& BEHELD FIERAR B &
reviewed periodically. The terms of reference of each committee are i ©

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each Board Committee has also been provided with sufficient ®SEFZESHEERHARERBITERE
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request, NMARAGEZREAIEHEE BN TS HKBLEER
is able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate & @ BERBEZNA RIEIE o

circumstances at the Group's expense.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 20 June
2022 in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr. Man, Mr. U
and Mr. Suen, Mr. Man has been appointed as the chairman of the
Audit Committee and he possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
major duties of the Audit Committee are the followings:

Maintain relationship with the Company’s
independent auditor

(a

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the independent auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the independent auditor, and any
guestions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the independent auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
shall discuss with the independent auditor the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit
commences, and to ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved. Procedures to review and monitor the
independence of independent auditor may include:

considering all relationships between the Group and the
independent auditor (including non-audit services);

i. obtaining from the independent auditor annually,
information about policies and processes for maintaining
independence and monitoring compliance with relevant
requirements, including those for rotation of audit
partners and staff; and

ii. meeting with the independent auditor, at least once
annually, in the absence of the management, to discuss
matters relating to audit fees, any issues arising from the
audit and any other matters the independent auditor may
wish to raise.
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to develop and implement policy on engaging the independent
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose, an
independent auditor includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee shall report to the Board, identifying and making
recommendations on any matters where action or improvement
is needed:;

to ensure that the independent auditor’s provision of non-
audit services does not impair its independence or objectivity.
When assessing the independent auditor’s independence or
objectivity in relation to the provision of non-audit services, the
Audit Committee may wish to consider:

whether the skills and experience of the independent
auditor make it a suitable supplier of non-audit services;

i. whether there are safeguards in place to ensure that
there is no threat to the objectivity and independence of
the audit work as in itself of the provision of non-audit
services by the independent auditor;

iii. the nature of the non-audit services, the related fee levels
and fee levels individually and in total relative to the
external independent auditor; and

iv.  criteria for compensation of the individuals performing the
audit work; and

to review with independent auditor and the staff of the
Group'’s finance department, the Group’s management, the
adequacy of the Group’s policies and procedures regarding
internal controls (including financial, operational and
compliance controls) and any statement by the Directors to be
included in the annual accounts prior to endorsement by the
Board.
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Review the Company’s financial information

(a

to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and, if prepared
for publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them. In reviewing
these reports before submission to the Board, the Audit
Committee shall focus particularly on:

any changes in accounting policies and practices;
ii.  major judgmental areas;
iii.  significant adjustments resulting from the audit;
iv. the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;
v.  compliance with accounting standards; and

vi. compliance with the Listing Rules and legal requirements
in relation to financial reporting.

regarding above:

members shall liaise with the Board and senior
management of the Company and the Audit Committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the independent
auditors;

i. the Committee shall consider any significant or unusual
items that are, or may need to be, reflected in the
reports and accounts, and shall give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the Company’s
staff responsible for accounting and financial reporting
function, the compliance officer or the auditors; and

ii. discussing problems and reservations with the
independent auditors arising from final audit, and any
matters the independent auditors may wish to discuss (in
the absence of management where necessary);
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Oversee the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control procedures

(@

(b)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have an effective system. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its
own initiative and management'’s response to those findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-ordination
between the internal and independent auditors and to review
and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the independent auditor’s management letter,
any material queries raised by the independent auditor to
management about accounting records, financial accounts or
system of control and management’s response;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the independent auditor;

to review the whistle-blowing arrangements of which
employees of the Group and other persons who have
connections with the Company, such as customers and
suppliers, may use, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters relating to the Company. The Audit Committee
shall ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate
follow-up action;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the independent auditor's management letter,
if any;

to report to the Board on the matters set out in the CG Code
and CG Report (Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules);

to do any such things to enable the Audit Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the
Board;
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() to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that
may from time to time be contained in the memorandum
and Articles of Association or imposed by the Listing Rules or
applicable law;

(m) to consider agreeing with the Board in relation to the
Company'’s policies on hiring employees or former employees
of the independent auditor and monitoring the application
of these policies. The Committee should then be in a position
to consider whether there has been or appears to be any
impairment of the independent auditor’s judgment or
independence for the audit;

(n) to review ongoing connected transactions of the Company and
ensure compliance with the terms of approval by Shareholders;
and

(0) to consider such other matters as the Board may from time to
time determine.

In the meetings, the Audit Committee considered and approved for
presentation to the Board for consideration and approval of (i) the
draft audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
FY2023; (ii) the draft unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023; (iii)
the appointment of new independent auditor for FY2023; and (iv)
the audit scope and audit plan prepared by the independent auditor
relating to the audit for FY2023. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 20
June 2022 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. The Nomination Committee consists of one executive
Director, namely Mr. Chao and two INEDs, namely Mr. Man and
Mr. Suen. Mr. Suen has been appointed as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. The major duties of the Nomination
Committee are the followings:

(@) toreview the structure, size and composition (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service) of the Board at least annually, to evaluate
whether Directors have committed adequate time to discharge
their responsibilities, and to make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;
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(b)

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and senior management of the Company, and
to select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships or senior
management for approval. In identifying suitable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall consider candidates on merit
and against the objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board,;

to assess the independence of INEDs, review the INEDs' annual
confirmations on their independence and make disclosure of its
review results in the CG report;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the CEO, taking into
account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future,
together with the Board, as appropriate;

to review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and review
measurable objectives for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy and progress on achieving the objectives, and to make
disclosure of its review results in the CG report annually;

to do any such things to enable the Nomination Committee to
perform its duties and functions conferred on it by the Board,;
and

to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation
that may from time to time be contained in the Articles of
Association of the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or
applicable law.

In the meetings, the Nomination Committee (i) reviewed and
discussed the policy, procedure and criteria for nomination of the
Directors; (i) reviewed and discussed the Board Diversity Policy and
discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the policy
and the progress made towards meeting the measurable objective in
the policy; (iii) assessed the independence of INEDs; (iv) considered
the re-appointment of the retiring Directors, reviewed the time
commitment required from the non-executive Director; and (v)
fulfilled duties as required aforesaid.
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NOMINATION POLICY
Objective

The Nomination Committee shall identify candidates who are
qualified/suitable to become a member of the Board and to make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates
nominated for directorships with a view to ensuring that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee is authorised by the Board to determine
the nomination of Directors, the procedure, process and criteria
to be adopted for the purposes of selecting and recommending
candidates for directorship, and shall make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Director and
succession planning for the Directors, in particular, the Chairman
and the CEO.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination
Committee may make reference to certain criteria such as
Company’s need, reputation for integrity, motivation, experience in
principal business of the Company, balance of skills, knowledge and
experience on the Board, the amount of time and effort that the
candidate will devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities
and, in case of INEDs, the independence requirements set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and take into account various aspects
set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the Company, number of
directorship(s) in other listed/public companies, and in case of INED,
number of years he/she has already served in the Company.

Selection criteria

(@) Proposed candidate will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information, together with his/her written consent to
be appointed as a Director and to the public disclosure of his/
her personal data on any documents or the relevant websites
for the purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as
a Director;

(b) Non-executive Director and INEDs will receive a formal letter
of appointment on his/her appointment to the Board, setting
out clearly the expectations of him/her in terms of time
commitment, committee service and involvement outside Board
meetings; and

() Any appointment of proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall be
made in accordance with the Company'’s Articles of Association
and other applicable rules and regulations.
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Nomination procedures

(@

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall invite
nominations of candidates from Board members, if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not
nominated by Board members;

Non-executive Director should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election;

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
on or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until
the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment, and shall then be eligible for re-election. The
Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting. Every Director, including those appointed for
a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years;

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the
circular to the Shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting:

the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

i. if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh (or
more) listed company directorship, the reasons that the
Board believes the individual would still be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board;

ii. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

iv. how the individual contributes to diversity (including
gender diversity) of the Board; and

If an INED serves more than nine years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
Shareholders. The papers to the Shareholders accompanying
that resolution should include the reasons why the Board (or
the Nomination Committee) believes he/she is still independent
and should be re-elected, including the factors considered, the
process and the discussion of the Board (or the Nomination
Committee) in arriving such determination.
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(f)  Each newly appointed Director should receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on appointment. Subsequently,
he/she should receive any briefing and professional
development and obtain legal advice necessary to ensure
that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing
Rules as amended from time to time, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance
policies.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee shall keep under review the leadership
needs of the Company, for both executive and non-executive
Directors, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of the
Company to compete effectively in the marketplace. The Nomination
Committee will report annually in its CG report on how this policy
is being applied in recommending candidates for directorship and
retiring Directors for re-election during the year.

Review of nomination policy

The Nomination Committee shall keep up to date and be fully
informed about strategic issues and commercial changes affecting
the Company and the market in which it operates. The Nomination
Committee will review this policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of this policy in line with the Company’s strategy.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Board Diversity Policy has been adopted, which sets out the objective
and approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives of the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy
provides that the Company should endeavour to ensure that the
Board members have the appropriate skills, expertise and diversity
of perspectives that are required to support the execution of the
Group's business strategy. Board Diversity Policy (including gender
balance) is reviewed from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness and the Company will disclose the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy in the CG report on an annual basis.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, selection of candidates for
Directors will be based on a range of perspectives, including but not
limited to skills, professional experience, educational background,
knowledge, expertise, culture, age and gender. The ultimate decision
of the appointment will be based on merit and the contribution
which the selected candidates will bring to the Board and the
business needs of the Company from time to time.
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The Board believes that such merit-based appointments will
best enable the Company to serve the Shareholders and other
stakeholders going forward. The Board comprises of eight members,
including four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
three INEDs. Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including
management and strategic development, corporate finance,
investment banking, legal and professional accounting in addition
to experiences in the IT industry. Furthermore, the Board has a
wide range of age, ranging from 36 years old to 59 years old, and
comprises of two female Directors and six male Directors. The Group
also has a good mix of new and experienced Directors, who have
valuable knowledge and insights of the Group’s business over the
years, while the new Directors are expected to bring in fresh ideas
and new perspective to the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Group had eight Directors
in the Board. Set out below is the detailed breakdown of the
composition of Directors by designations, gender and age.

DESIGNATIONS GENDER
B4 14 7l

Bl Executive Director #i{T&E % Bl Female %1k
I Non-executive Director 3E1TE E Male B4

INED B FEHITES

As at 31 December 2023, the ratio of women to men in the
workforce (excluding non-executive Director and INEDs) was 29:71
whereas the ratio of that was 24:76 as at 31 December 2022. For
details of gender distribution, please refer to ESG report in this
annual report.

As regards gender diversity of the Board and the senior management
team of the Company, the Group has two female Directors and
six male Directors, and one out of seven members of the senior
management team is female. Given the current composition and
gender diversity of the Board, the Board and the Nomination
Committee are of the view that it is not necessary to set numerical
targets and timeline for board gender diversity for the time being.
Nevertheless, the Group is committed to creating favorable working
environment to employ and promote more females in the workforce
to hold senior management positions based on the qualifications,
experience and skills required for those positions. The Group strives
to increase the ratio of females in the workforce to the extent
possible onwards and maintain diversity and equality in respect of its
workforce.
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The Nomination Committee will (i) report annually, in the CG report
contained in this annual report, on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy; and (ii) review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
and discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 20
June 2022 in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Chao and two INEDs, namely Mr. Suen and Mr. U.
Mr. U has been appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The major duties of the Remuneration Committee are
the followings:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management'’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(c) either:

to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director
and senior management of the Company; or

i. to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director
and senior management of the Company.

This should cover bonus, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group. The Remuneration Committee shall
also ensure that the levels of remuneration should be sufficient
to attract and retain the Directors needed to run the Company
successfully but should avoid paying more than is necessary for
this purpose;
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(m)

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management of the Company for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not
excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

to determine the criteria for assessing employee performance,
which should reflect the Company’s business objectives and
targets;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration;

advise Shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service
contracts of the Group's directors which require Shareholders’
approval under Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules;

reviewing matters relating to the Group'’s share scheme;

confirm to any requirement, Direction and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the Articles of Association of
the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable law;
and

do any such things to enable the Remuneration Committee to
perform its duties and functions conferred on it by the Board.

In the meeting, the Remuneration Committee (i) discussed
and reviewed the remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management of the Company; (ii) assessed performance of executive
Directors; and (iii) made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management of the Company (i.e. the model of Remuneration
Committee under Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code) and
fulfilled duties as required aforesaid.
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REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT = 4B B i

Number of person(s)
Band of remuneration £ 48 B A
From Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 5

From HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
From HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000

1,000,001787T 22,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001/ 7T % 3,000,000/ 7T

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid employees are set out in notes 11 and 12 respectively
to the consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During FY2023, Deloitte was engaged as the Group’s independent
auditor. The remuneration paid/payable to Deloitte for audit and
non-audit services in respect of FY2023 is set out below:

EENTARDH
RAEMBREMEIIR12 -

A LR — FRFIB D BIER

B BT

R2023F B - EHRETAREBBIZH
B R2023F B - REH RIEBARBE
4,/ B EBOME RN T -

Fee paid/payable

Services R Bt B E R

HK$'000

T

Audit services — annual audit Fit RS — FEER 2,250

Non-audit services — taxation service fee IEE TR — B IS AR AS 108

Total w5t 2,358
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF ES¥HKEHRRNELE

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2023 which
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of the Group’s consolidated
financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with all applicable IFRS, IAS, amendments
and interpretations issued by the IASB and in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides
all members of the Board with regular updates on Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.
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The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the independent auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEM

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the Company's strategic objectives, and ensuring that
the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. The Board oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Board acknowledges that such risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate
the risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Group has established an enterprise risk
management policy in order to provide sound and effective risk
management. This sets out a framework for the identification,
analysis, evaluation, treatment, monitoring and reporting of the
Group's key risks, with a view to supporting the achievement of the
Group's overall strategic objectives. The Company does not have an
internal audit department. The Board has reviewed the need for an
internal audit function and currently takes the view that there is no
immediate need to set up an internal audit department in light of
the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. The need
for an internal audit department will be reviewed from time to time.

In view of the Group’s business and scale of operations, and in
order to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting
periodic reviews of the Group’s internal control and enterprise risk
management systems, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant firm to execute the internal audit function. Independent
consultant has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Group's enterprise risk management, cash and treasury management
and revenue and trade receivables management for FY2023. The
report issued by the independent consultant firm was reviewed by
the Audit Committee and the Board and no major issue was raised
for improvement.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
aimed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and thus can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including
financial, operational, strategic and compliance controls and has
considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company's
accounting and financial reporting functions. The Board considers
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review of the
risk management and internal control systems will be performed
annually.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of the SFO and the Listing
Rules. The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the
safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully
disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the information is kept
strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensuring that
information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of
a material fact. The Group is committed to ensuring that information
contained in announcements is presented in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative
facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tsang Tik Man has been appointed by the Board as the
Company Secretary since 20 April 2021. His biographical details
are set out under the section headed “DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" in this annual report. The Company Secretary is
responsible for facilitating the Board’s processes and communications
among Board members, Shareholders and the management of the
Company. During FY2023, the Company Secretary had confirmed
that he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for each
substantially separate issue at Shareholders’ meetings, including
nomination and election of individual Director.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
in a timely manner after each Shareholders’ meeting in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Procedures for convening general meeting by
Shareholders

In accordance with Article 58 of the Article, any one or more
member(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 58 of the Articles for requisitioning
an extraordinary general meeting and including a resolution at such
meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article 58 of the
Articles are set out above.

Procedures for putting forward enquiries to the
Board

The Group values feedback from Shareholders on its efforts to
promote transparency and foster investor relationship. Shareholders
are encouraged to send their enquiries to the Board by post
to the principal place of business set out in the section headed
“CORPORATE INFORMATION" in this annual report. Shareholders
may also make enquires with the Board at the general meetings of
the Company.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted, on 20 June 2022, the amended and
restated memorandum and Articles which took effect from 15 July
2022. There was no change in the constitutional documents of the
Company during FY2023.

COMMUNICATION POLICY

Under the Company’s communication policy, to promote
effective communication, the Company maintains a website of
“www.boardware.com” which provides the Shareholder and
stakeholder a communication channel with the Company. The
website provides up-to-date information and updates on the
Company’s financial information, CG practices, biographical
information of the Board and other information are available for
public access.

The Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders’ communication policy, and considered that
the current available communication channel for Shareholders and
stakeholders is effective and adequate.
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RIZ - HERERHRE

ABOUT THE GROUP

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of Professional IT
Services, Managed Services, IT equipment leasing, IT maintenance
and consultancy services, as well as distribution and resale of
packaged hardware and software.

ABOUT THE ESG REPORT

This ESG Report summarises the Group’s ESG practices, plans and
performance.

Reporting Period

Unless specifically stated otherwise, this ESG Report covers the ESG
activities, challenges and measures of the Group for 2023.

Reporting Scope

The reporting scope is consistent with this annual report and covers
all the business operations under the direct operational control of
the Group, including the headquarters in Macau, offices in Hong
Kong, Zhuhai and Nansha in the PRC. The major business segments
representing the Group’s major sources of revenue include (a) the
provision of Enterprise IT Solutions, including (i) Professional IT
Services, (ii) Managed Services, (iii) lease income from IT equipment
and (iv) IT maintenance and consultancy services; and (b) distribution
and resale of hardware and software.

Reporting Framework

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide. This ESG Report complies with all “comply or
explain” requirements and reports on all mandatory disclosures
outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide. Information relating to the
Group's CG practices can be found in the CG report in this annual
report.

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied
the reporting principles in the ESG Reporting Guide, as described
below:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted with key
stakeholders to identify material issues during the Reporting Year,
thereby adopting the confirmed material issues as the focus for
the preparation of this ESG Report. The materiality of issues was
reviewed and confirmed by the Board and the Sub-committee. For
further details, please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.
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Quantitative: Environmental and social performance data were
collected in accordance with the ESG Guide and relevance to the
Group's targets and ESG direction. The standards, methodologies
and applicable assumptions used in the calculation of KPIs data were
supplemented by explanatory notes.

Consistency: This is the second ESG report presented by the Group.
The approach adopted in preparing the ESG Report is substantially
consistent with the one adopted in 2022. Explanations are provided
for data with changes to the scope of disclosure or calculation
methodologies.

Balance: This ESG Report aims to provide a balanced and
transparent representation of the Group’s performance. It
avoids selections, omissions, or presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the report
reader.

MESSAGE FROM CHAIRMAN
Dear Valued Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present this ESG Report
which demonstrates the Group’s growing commitment to improving
the Group’s ESG performance in both environmental and social
aspects including but not limited to environmental management,
employment and labour practices, operating practices and
community involvement.

The Group believes that business sustainability can only be
accomplished by operating a profitable business without sacrificing
the well-being of either the Group’s society or the environment. It
therefore incorporates ESG concepts into its business philosophy to
cultivate sustainable value for Shareholders by seizing opportunities
and managing risks associated with developments in the economy,
society and environment. The Group’s ESG responsibility initiative
depends critically on the Group’s ability to comprehend how various
ESG issues may impact the Group’s business and the Group’s
stakeholders.

The Group remains committed to enhancing its CG practices,
prioritising compliance and effectiveness. In order to effectively
manage ESG related matters within the Group, the Board holds
ultimate responsibility on the Group’s ESG issues and has established
the Sub-committee. Information about the Group’s ESG governance
structure is stated in the section headed “"ESG Governance
Structure”.
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RIR - HERERHRS

To identify and prioritise material ESG issues that have a
significant impact on the Group’s operations and stakeholders,
the Group continuously communicates with internal and external
stakeholders. The Board has delegated the Sub-committee and
hired an independent third party to carry out the materiality
assessment. Details about the stakeholder engagement channels
and the materiality assessment conducted by the Group are stated
in the sections headed “STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT” and
“MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT" respectively. In order to have a more
comprehensive understanding on stakeholders’ expectations of the
Group's sustainable development, the Group will further strengthen
its communication with stakeholders and formulate relevant policies
and measures based on their opinions to improve the Group’s ESG

performance.

Being a proponent of corporate social responsibility, the Group
recognises the significance of minimising its potential adverse impact
on the environment. Aligning with the corporate strategy and the
national vision of carbon neutrality, the Group has set quantifiable
environmental targets to give stakeholders a better understanding
of the Group's progress in improving ESG performance. The Group
actively carries out a range of operational measures in order to
meet such targets. The Sub-committee, authorised by the Board, is
responsible for gathering ESG data, monitoring and analysing the
Group's performance, and evaluating the Group’s progress toward
its targets. Relevant results are summarised in the section headed

“Environmental Targets”.

Moving ahead, the Group will maintain a vigilant stance in observing
how the evolving market conditions impact corporate compliance,
business development and ESG considerations from various angles.
The Group will proactively respond to national, regional and industry
calls to formulate timely and effective strategies strictly in line with
the requirements of the central and local governments. Furthermore,
the Group will persist in its endeavours to create higher economic

and social value.

Chao Ka Chon
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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ACCREDITATION AND AWARDS

Awards

3]

RiE - HERERERS
7.7 B 3% 1

Organisers

EZ ]

Macau Sales Performance Award

RFIHE KRR

2022 Business Breakthrough Partner
2022 ¥ BRIBEVERAE

2022 The Best Service Quality Partner Award (HK & Macau)
20225 ERRIGE SR HEEERE)

2022 The Best Contribution on Deal Registration Award
(HK & Macau)
2022 ETHE RBEERBZCERRE)

2022 Outstanding Contribution Partner Award (HK & Macau)
02 WERAIERHE(ERE)

2022 Golden Shield Award
025 ESEE

Hillstone 2022 Best Performing Partner
Hillstone 2022 & FEFRIFE1ER

FY2022 Rising Star of The Year
202 REFENFERARZE

Cloud Service Provider 2023
2023E RIS L FER

NextWave Partner of The Year in 2023 (Macau)
Palo Alto NextWave 20238/ B F [ B F [ B PR 1

Top Partner of the Year of Aruba in 2023 (Macau)
Aruba 202381 U F E R F ERPIR A

Lenovo Business Partner — Intelligent Devices Partner

BB —EBLRBEIERH

Lenovo Business Partner — Infrastructure Solutions Partner

SR TSR — B R IERA T RA(ER

Certificate for Qualification of Information Security Service
Provider

ERLERBEEL

Kodak Alaris Management (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
FELRNER(EE)ARAH

H3C Technologies Co. Limited
E=EEARAT

Huawei International Co. Limited

BEERBIBRBR AT
Huawei International Co. Limited
BEERBIRBR AT

Huawei International Co. Limited

BRERERERAR]

Huawei International Co. Limited

BRERERERAR]

Hillstone Networks (HK) Limited
WAL (BS)BRAF

Veeam Software Hong Kong
Veeam Software Hong Kong

VMware, Inc.
BE

Palo Alto Networks

IRIR A8

Hewlett Packard Enterprise Aruba Networking

LRBREERR(PE)BRATF]

Lenovo Group
st e

Lenovo Group
R SE]

China Cybersecurity Review Technology and Certification
Centre

FRBR T2 BERMERED O
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Awards Organisers

#21g 3y

CMMI V2.0 for Development Maturity Level 3 Information Systems Audit and Control Association (ISACA)
BE A AAE RV AR RE2 Oy — ZERAGVER RIS Bl B RR BT E(SACA)

ISO/IEC 27001:2013 Provision of Security Monitoring Services The International Organization for Standardization (ISO)
ISO/IEC 27001:201 352 4848 % & B 4E IR 75 PR ER

ISO/IEC 20000-1:2018 Supporting the provision of Managed The International Organization for Standardization (ISO)
Services to clients of 24x7 maintenance support, IT
infrastructure monitoring and routine IT operation

ISO/IEC 20000-1:201852(ITFEE BRTS » B IE24XT7 Iy 4 B AR A
& TESEERBERIGEE

ISO9001 Quality Management Systems, 1ISO14001 The International Organization for Standardization (ISO)
Environmental Management Systems, 1SO45001
Occupational health and safety management systems

ISO9001E EEIEEE R ~ ISO14001IRFEEIREE R 15045001 BIFRIRRE(CAHR
BEERLZTEERR

High and New Technology Enterprise Torch High Technology Industry Development Center
Ministry of Science and Technology
TR R R EEXFES L
Electronic and Intelligence Engineering Professional Urban Planning and Construction Bureau of the Hengqin
Contracting Level Two Guangdong-Macao In-Depth Cooperation Zone
EFARHLIRALEO A S ERAE A BT RENRER
ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE ESGERZHE

The Group has developed an ESG governance structure to ensure  ASEEHIEESGE AL - HERHESGE R
its ESG governance aligns with its business strategy and to integrate  #~F& B 3 5 BB I 9 ESG B IR 4 A H 35 7558 &
ESG management into its business operations and decision-making  JRZETE o

process.

The Board holds the overall responsibility for overseeing the ZEE®2HAFEEARKEWESGE R Rk
Group's ESG risks and opportunities and sets out ESG management ~ W HIEESGEIRT)A » HKIE - BEEENBR
approach, strategy, priorities and objectives. The Board is responsible & & & IR ZNEE B [ bz B 12 A0 A HB 12 i R 4t
for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and ~ FYBERIE - WHEAEESGH S H A HEFE © ESGRE A
internal control systems and approving disclosures in the ESG report. S FRBAEESEHW °

ESG issues are discussed on an annual basis via Board meeting.

o
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The Group’s Sub-committee serves a supportive role to the
Group’s Board in implementing the agreed ESG policy, targets and
strategies, conducting materiality assessments of environmental-
related, climate-related, social-related risks and assessing how the
Group adapts the Group’s business in light of climate change,
continuously monitoring of the implementation of measures to
address the Group's ESG-related risks and responsibilities and
ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and regulations.
While preparing for the ESG report, the ESG data collected from
different parties by the Group’s Sub-committee are confirmed by
the respective departments. The Group’s Sub-committee is also
responsible for keeping track of the progress with the KPIs against
relevant ESG-related goals and targets set by the Board. When there
is any deviation from targets, it will investigate and liaise with the
responsible department to take prompt rectification actions. The
Group's Sub-committee reports to the Group’s Board on an annual
basis via board meeting on the Group’s ESG performance and the
effectiveness of these ESG systems.

An ESG team comprised of personnel from departments such as
human resources, administration and procurement is also set up
to coordinate and manage general ESG affairs. The ESG team is
responsible for guiding the development of ESG-related matters,
communicating with stakeholders and assessing ESG-related risks,
including climate-related risks and opportunities. Related ESG issues
would be discussed with the Board at meetings at least once every
year. Where appropriate, external advisors would be engaged to
provide expertise and professional advice for the ESG management
process.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Effective and ongoing stakeholder engagement is an integral part of
the Group’s business development and commitment to environment
and society. By understanding the Group'’s stakeholders’ views,
the Group can better align the Group’s business practices with
their needs and expectations. This approach enables the Group to
build trust and mutual beneficial relationships with the Group'’s
stakeholders and promote sustainability.

RIR - HERERHRS

AEER/ MR B ERRITHEMESGER - B
ERERES  BERFARE - RIREE - L 2H6H
MRBETTEE MG - FHEASENIEER
RECRERS - FHEEEERYESGHRERR K
BEERAEEBRIARERETESGHERER
FHHREFERUE - RERESGHRER -
PNMEZRBGWSRRE BT EMESGEIE - WM
MHRAERPTETTIER - AREM/ NMEZBEREIE
T BERUERAA RN ES SR EMMESGH
BRERHERBR - MEEMAREERRNE
o B EETREY RE B RPIME - KR
BAIESE G - AREN/MIZE SR BESFS
CHREBFNEFEREARENESGEMLZE
ESGHIZRARKIE -

AEBIERL—ERANER - TREFEES
EPIABHEKHESGER - BEHARERE K
HIESGETS o ESGEIB & B8 EESGAEB EIEM
R - EBRZSIERE BRI HESGHEERRE -
BIERIEABARR RS - ESGIHRIETEE T
EL—RRgm LEEFESETWR - EEERN
BRT - BRI PERE AESGEE RIZRMESR
ESIE IVE-E =0

K ESH

BRMFHFENRFNESEINRERREG NE
TRERMEEE— AN AT RERAIRE - BB T
BRNENEL  AREREENARENELS
RN AMPINFERMEE o TR EAKEE
I ERIYBEEENEE  ESHERR -
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The Group formulates its engagement approach based on the

AEEEREFNELENBENEEDZ S EM

engagement objectives and stakeholders’ level of interest and FZENTITEFHENRET R - EAH EEER

influence. As part of its business strategy, the Group engages with
its stakeholders via different channels shown in the table below.

Stakeholders
BE

Expectations and concerns

HERBEIEE

M—&n - AKEEB FRAUR T RREER
ERFEE

Communication channels

BERE

Shareholders and investors

BREBEE

Employees

il
il

Suppliers
HrEm

Customers

BF

Government and regulatory bodies

BT EREE #E

Media, non-governmental organisations

and the public
HEe - FBUTHEME N AR

CG system

Business strategies and
performance

Financial results

EERERDIE
[GESLYSES
MR

Career development
Occupational health and safety
Remuneration and benefits
Equal opportunities
Company'’s prospect

BEER

BEERERLE

B AE

FERS

NGRS

On-time payment

Fair and open procurement
RIS 3R

NP RFREE

Quality of products and services
Privacy protection

Business ethics and reputation
EmEkRGEE

AL RE

RRERERER

Compliant operation
Payment of tax
BREE

R

Environmental protection

Social welfare

Transparent information disclosure
RERE

an=gep

BRI B AREE

Annual general meeting and
Shareholders’ meetings
Financial reports
Announcements and circulars
Company website

Social media
BERBFRE MR EH
BTG HRE

NIEER

AR EE

Trainings, seminars and briefing
sessions

Company activities
Performance review

3| F R REEY
AFES)
ERER

Supplier audit and assessment
Email

g KTk
B

Customer satisfaction survey
Customer service hotline and email
Company website
BEEmEERE
BEPIRISEGZ M BT ET
NGRS

Compliance officer
Legal advisor
BRFLE
LB

Company website
Media channels
ESG reports

NGIE D
HEERE
ESGHE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In hope of understanding the views and expectations of stakeholders
on the Group’s ESG performance effectively, the Group adopts a
systematic approach in conducting the annual materiality assessment.
With reference to the Group’s business development strategy and
industry practices, the Group identified and determined a list of
material ESG issues. The Group prepared a questionnaire based on
the list and invited relevant stakeholder representatives to rate the
potential material issues according to the level of importance to
the stakeholders and to the Group. The results of the survey were
analysed and a materiality matrix was developed. The materiality
matrix and the identified material topics were reviewed and
confirmed by the Board and the Sub-committee and disclosed in
the ESG Report. During the Reporting Year, the Group’s materiality
matrix is shown below:

RiE - HERERERS

BRI

BTAMT B & B AEBESGE M EBEMN
HIZ - AEERBBRGNEETFRER N
Al - 2EAREEEBBRBBEAITEED - K
SEBRILHEE T —MHESCERZEBE - A%
BRIBBEERNES - WHBR@TNERRR
RESGHRBH N ELARENERRRE - &E
EMEARBETHE - AEEHREEERET
Toth WRETERNLER - ERHEEREED
A EARECHEF G/ MR B EEERME
R WRAESGRETHKE - RIMEFE » A%
B ERMERMEI TR

MATERIALITY MATRIX

ERMEEE

High =
9 Quality Management
HEERE

Privacy and Data Security

LEREER R

Corporate Social

Responsibility
TEMSEE

Anti-corruption
RES
Health and Safety
[ s

Emissions and
Pollution Control

Supply Chain Management
HrEsEER

Resources and Energy
Management
HRRERER
Use of Clean Technology
B RAMHER

Employment Practices

fEIR1ES

Development
and Training
R R IE

PER )5 AR

HEQETERARNLE

Climate Risks Management

RiIFEAREE

Low 1K SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS

/E BRERGENEZEE

High =

INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDER ASSESSMENTS AND DECISIONS

CONTACT THE GROUP

Stakeholders’ valuable opinions can help the Group continue to
improve performance on ESG. Please feel free to contact the Group
with any comments or suggestions related to the ESG Report.

BRAEE
FENBEEE R E A EFERAESGHE
o INBEREARESGHRER ANE R ER -
FEPERT I AR EE -

Address:  Unit 01-02, 12/F., Tower |, Enterprise Square ik : HBNFELEEE

No. 9 Sheung Yuet Road AL

Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong EES—E121201-02F
Email: ir@boardware.com E#H : ir@boardware.com
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Environmental Targets

To better manage the Group’s material topics and its
sustainability performance, the Group has set targets for the
environmental aspect since 2022. The table below summarises
the Group’s environmental targets, of which the progress is
monitored and assessed annually:

B

RREER
REHHERARENEZERE AR
BEREN  AEBB2022FREHER
BIEMBRE TREGAKENIRER
= BEEERESFETER &S

Aspects Targets set in 2022 Progress Targets set in 2023

EmE 20225 RENBZ EBE 2023FREMNBE

GHG emissions Maintain the total GHG emissions achieved Maintain the total GHG

BEREEBEN intensity for 2023 to be not more than emissions intensity for 2024
the 2022 baseline. to be not more than the

2022 baseline.

REF2023FNAAETRBHREETE BER RIF2024F R EREEHE
iB2022F HIELR © WMEETNHEB2022FHE

Waste reduction Maintain the total non-hazardous waste achieved Maintain the total non-

B RERY)

Energy use
efficiency
CEY IRV ES

Water efficiency
FAK Rz

intensity for 2023 to be not more than
the 2022 baseline.

REF2023FMBEBEEEZYZE BB
2022F ELR -

Reduce the total non-hazardous waste
intensity by 3% by 2027 compared to
the 2022 baseline.
PREBEEREYEE - FHEN2027F
ZAIE2022F R EZ TE3% ©

Maintain the total energy consumption
intensity for 2023 to be not more than
the 2022 baseline.

RE2023FNBERERZETBB
2022F HELR -

Reduce the total energy consumption
intensity by 3% by 2027 compared to
the 2022 baseline.

PREARRERTE - EER2027F2
RI#R2022F H) AR TFE3% ©

Conduct or participate in awareness-
building activities related to water
conservation annually from 2023
onwards.

hazardous waste intensity for
2024 to be not more than
the 2022 baseline.

BEER RIF2024F N BEEEEDE
[ETIBIB2022 FHELR o

on track Ongoing

N HETT TR

achieved Maintain the total energy
consumption intensity for
2024 to be not more than
the 2022 baseline.

EEHR RIF2024F W B RETROBFE T S
THBIB2022F MY ELAR o

on track Ongoing

IEFETT  #EITH

not achieved Ongoing

A2023% 48 - SERTRSEAMEK KER TP
BB MEEE -
2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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A1. Emissions A1l BERD

The Group recognises the importance of environmental REEBHRIIRBREER/FFER
protection as the starting point for sustainability. The BREFNEZN - AXEEBEES A
Group continues to reduce the adverse environmental DREBENEBHIRENAETE -
impact of the Group's operations and to promote I 7E 7N £ B A4 R B R IR IR AR
environmental protection within the Group and the supply o ASEEHITEEAESGHER -
chain. The Group has developed comprehensive ESG VAR IR & B 103 D Bk 2 IR ARG A BE
Policy to meet the Group’s environmental objectives in YHHNRERZ -

carbon footprint reduction and waste reduction.

Although the Group is predominantly service-oriented REAEBUREEH AL - TBER
and do not belong to heavy-polluting industry, the Group BSRTE  BRKBEMNZEEDNRY
recognises its operations still have a certain level of impact REELE—TRENTE  WARR
on the environment and acknowledge that addressing RIREMERTETEKERRENE
environmental issues is a collective responsibility shared by FoREEBRIRBERVELER]
every member of the community. The Group is committed BEEIIRIBE T AL - REBET
to minimising the adverse impact that its operations may BT e KA IRIBE B EGIAIEE - A
have on the environment. The Group continually improves WA RERMEMERKER - BE2R
its environmental management practices and measures to DRBIWHRAER - BEWER - &
reduce energy and other resource consumptions, minimise REERBREAINERLE A%
waste and promote a recycling culture within the Group B A EPHE R R Y B AU -

on “Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and Replace” basis.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not have any RWEFE - AEBWTMEBEME
material non-compliance of environmental laws and RERBABRKRERBHEN - M
regulations relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges KRTHEEES EEREEREREY
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and R EESZHIRITAERROIN A S
non-hazardous waste that would have a significant impact BELEEAFE - HEZERBROE
on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include but FETRRFIE 2/91/MSER(RIE
not limited to the “Environmental Law (Law no. 2/91/ MEE)  PEKPEARLFBIRR
M)” of Macau, the “Environmental Protection Law of REE) ~ (P ZEAR KBS
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Water Pollution yavE) (R E AR IR KRS D
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of avEY  (REARLMNE EEREYS
China”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on RAIRBFEE)REB(ERTRE
the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution”, M) ~ COKITRE BB R RE Y B
the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention BE&BI) o

and Control of Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid
Waste” of the PRC, the “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”,
“Water Pollution Control Ordinance” and the “Waste
Disposal Ordinance” of Hong Kong.
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BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

Air Emissions

Due to the Group's business nature, the Group does not
involve any industrial production or possess any factory
facilities, which had an extensive consumption of fossil
fuel. Therefore, the Group’s air emissions are mainly
generated from the fuel consumption by its motor vehicle
and only generates slight amount of air emissions during
the Group’s operation and hence no relevant targets were
set. Nevertheless, the Group has implemented measures
relating to the reduction of air emissions including:

e  Perform efficient planning on driving routes to o
minimise the number of trips made for business

purpose;

e Regularly maintain and repair the vehicle by qualified
personnel to ensure fuel consumption efficiency
and respective emissions have complied with local

emission standards; and

e Switch off the engine when the vehicle is idling.

The Group's air emissions are as follows:

B

ERE

R

AEBHBERBERMAT

R RS

ARAKRENRGIHE - AEETY
MEMTEEESERETAEEAE
LR THRE - Bt - AEE
M Z= RPN E B R G EEE EWAIR
HEM  WAREBERRETEELD
BRERGEN - Bt &R EHERE B
= BENY  AEECERERD
FERPFIRRERSEIE - BIE

BRRBITERR  BERED

EHHRAERABETERMEE
KRB - DARELR KA e B FE R K
KRR HETT & B R BER

Type of air emissions’ Unit 2023 2022
BERBER R B 2023%F 20224
Nitrogen oxides g 333.14 300.21
p=K (e I

Sulphur oxides g 6.18 5.57
ety 2

Particulate matter g 24.53 22.10
FERIY) 2

Note: sk -

1. The calculation method of air emissions is based on 1. BERBEMERNE R E2 BB R

“How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock

Exchange.

85D e
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GHG Emissions

The Group’s GHG emissions are mainly attributable to
direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) from the fuel consumption
by its vehicle, and energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope
2) from the purchased electricity. In order to achieve the
emission reduction targets described under the section
headed “Environmental Targets”, the Group has actively
adopted measures on vehicle usage described in the
section above, as well as the energy-saving measures
which are described in the section headed “Energy
Management” in Aspect A2.

The Group’s GHG emissions and its intensity performance
are as follows:

oooo

RIR - HERERHRS

BEREHH
AEENRERBHFNEIERGHEE

5

MM EENERREREHR

(BEN) RINBENELNREREE

N
Jm =

B
Tt
I -

TSR (EE2) - BERRE
-8B EE B 1R - AKED
R E X — B pTil B BB S R e
ARA2EET 88RE I | —EifTi

EVENREHEHE ©

AEENRERBHRLEZEWT

Type of GHG emissions sources? Unit 2023 2022
BE RS BRI By 2023%F 20224
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions
#HE — EEREREHN
e  Petrol tCO,e 1.12 1.01
e AU WE—SbIRE S
Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG emissions
#HE2 — gERABERERIEN
e Purchased electricity tCO,e 259.22 22411
e SNEE WE—SbIRE S
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and 2)  tCO,e 260.34 225.12
BEREHNESE(BEIKR2) WE—SbIRE S
Total GHG emissions intensity kgCO,e/HK$'000

revenue 4 0.363 0.388

HRERBHREE

Tr_f{HEE
Tl

Notes:

2. The calculation method of GHG emission data is based
on, including but not limited to, the “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the
“2023 Sustainability Report” released by CLP Holdings,
the “Notice on the Management of Enterprise Greenhouse
Gas Emissions Reporting by Power Generation Industry
for 2023-2025" issued by the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of the People’s Republic of China and
“Sustainability Report 2022" by CEM of Macau.

3.  The revenue of the Group for 2023 was HK$717,595,000
(2022: HK$580,833,000). The data is also used for
calculating other intensity data.

4. The unit of the intensity was redefined to enhance the
accuracy of comparison by reducing the rounding effect.

B

2023 FERE

BEREHREENAE T ARES
518 71 PR A B 32 P 3% 4 B0 SN ] 2 4
BT e RERRE KR B
R ERUEIZERIES|) B
BB 2023 F AT BB R R ) -
REE A RAFBEERRIRITEEMN
(AT 2023-2025 F B BITED
EBEREHRREEEABIEN
BEIYIABCRPIE NP AR A A%
MEIC022 F A HE R B ME)
20234 R 52 @/ Yk 25 A717,595,000
777 (20224 : 580,833,000/ 7T ) °
ZEE AR E R EEUE -
BT IRBHERERYE - BRENER
AL  REBMFEHNTE °

e BMUEESMBEARAT
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Sewage Discharge

The office operations of the Group do not generate any
industrial waste water during the course of operation,
but only domestic sewage. As the sewage discharged
by the Group will be sent to the sewage treatment
plant through the sewage pipe network, the amount of
sewage discharge is considered as the water consumed.
Information related to water consumption will be
described in the section headed “Water Management” in
Aspect A2.

Waste Management

Under the aforementioned ESG Policy, the Group has
formulated a “Policy on Generation of Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Wastes” to ensure that all hazardous and
non-hazardous waste is properly and safely managed.

Hazardous Wastes

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group does
not generate a significant amount of hazardous wastes
during daily operation, and therefore no relevant targets
have been set. Nevertheless, the Group has established
guidelines in governing the management and disposal
of hazardous wastes. In case of any hazardous waste
generated, the Group shall engage a qualified chemical
waste collector to handle such waste to comply with
relevant environmental laws and regulations.

Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group adopts the principle of “Reduce, Reuse,
Recycle and Replace” for waste management and strives
to promote better utilisation of resources. The major
non-hazardous waste generated during the course of
the Group's daily operations is office paper. Paper and
general wastes are collected and sorted with recycle bins
for recycling. It was effective in reducing the amount of
purchase and waste while reusing over 9,000 pieces of
paper during the Reporting Year.

DT
AEBRNGRMELEBIET TEL
EAITREK  EEEEESK - H
AR B BER 57K 8 i85 K E 4
REJSKEER - FIS/KEERER
RAKE - BFKERBENENSE
BEA2[KERER |-yt

BEEYEE

RIE_FIESGEUR - NEE D HIECE
EEEREZEEYNEE) - AR
FIBEEREEZEEMHBIEZER

LTERER -

BEEERY

BHAAEENEBILE  AEERA
FREPYBELAERERERY
Hut KRR EHEBER - BE WU - &
KECHEE AREEAEREYN
EEHE - WEETABEEEEY
AEEAEREERN BRI E
ERIEZEREY - AETHBRRE
BRI -

BEEZEY

REBUDCHRDER - EMER - B3R
BEKBERERINRANSEEEY)
BAOREEFRNZR - AEBEHBL
ERBRREANBEEEEZEY T Z Al
DR - HMER—REZEDEHIK
& WHABWKRAEETDEDWK - Rk
EFEENERFEA T79,000% KA
BRRL THBERRE -
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In order to achieve the waste reduction target described
under the section headed “Environmental Targets”, the
Group has implemented measures including but are not
limited to the following:

Utilise electronic communication means such as
e-leave system, e-cards for festival greetings, medical
e-claims, and e-brochures, where applicable;

Reduce printing and paper wastage by minimising
font sizes and deleting unnecessary blank space in
documents;

Use double-side printing as default mode for printers
and encourage employees to reuse single-side paper
for internal documents or drafting need;

Use high-performance multifunction printers which
incorporate the functions of printing, scanning, and
copying, and share the printers among different
departments to reduce energy consumption;

Redeploy office furniture, computers, and notebook
where possible;

Place recycling bins and appropriate signage in office
areas to encourage recycling; and

Sort recyclable wastes into appropriate receptacles
and educate employees on sorting methods if
needed.

The Group’s non-hazardous wastes generation and its

RIR - HERERHRS

REBRBIRT | — &P 6y BE
ZWER  ARECDRIRUER - 8%
BARR

. ERBEAETEANR - HIm
BFHBES BTHET  BE
EFEBRETTME

o BBSK/IMEFEAR/N R MR
RABENZEAME - B R
KAFORE

o  HEEERIRE SITEIHATAR
B BB R B R A BB Ml
EREREEEAEEAAR

o ERARMENZINGEITHE 8
FRITED - fRH AR ENTIBE - A
NRBRFT 2 A 2L = 4T EN#4 LASRL A
BEIROBRE

«  RAENERTEFALRAR
A BERERAT

o RPWRRBNE DA KEE D
F5e 0 AmEIEY R

o BHULOWEEMHIEREZEE
MBRT  WAFE - WEEH
BAREITE -

ARENEEEENELRETER

intensity performance are as follows: R -

Type of non-hazardous wastes Unit 2023 2022
EmERERYER B 20234 20224
Total non-hazardous wastes

BERERVEE

e Office paper kg 1,077.79 1,031.12
o WA T

Total non-hazardous wastes intensity  g/HK$'000 revenue® 1.502 1.775
BEEEENTE 5,/ TS

Note: 5T

5. The unit of the intensity was redefined to enhance the 5. RTRSHREERME - BEMNER

accuracy of comparison by reducing the rounding effect.

ARFE  BEBIRENTEE
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A2. Use of Resources

The Group has established “Policy on the Efficient Use of
Energy and Other Raw Materials” under the ESG Policy
to manage the use of resources with a view to achieving
energy-saving and reducing consumption as well as to
minimising the negative impact on the environment
during the Group’s business operations.

Energy Management

During the Group’s daily operations, apart from the
slight direct consumption of fuel by its vehicle, the major
source of the Group’s energy consumption is electricity
consumption for its operations. To achieve the target
and prevent unnecessary energy wastage, employees are
required to adopt the following energy-saving measures as
stated in the aforementioned “Policy on the Efficient Use
of Energy and Other Raw Materials”:

e Turn off lights when not in use and use natural light
when possible;

e Turn off, not just log off, all computers, speakers and
other office equipment at the end of every work day;

e Turn off power strip at the end of every work day;

e Activate the power down features on computer and
monitor to enter a low-power or sleep mode when
not in use;

e Unplug equipment that drains energy when not
in use, such as cell phone chargers, fans, coffee
makers, desktop printers and radios;

e  Air-conditioning should be maintained at 25 degrees
Celsius; and

e |dentify and apply feasible clean technology such
as energy efficiency equipment in our business
operations.

A2. EREMA

RER B 2 ARIRESGHEUR H ECH A A
R KR EMEM R BEIAEEER
MER - AEE Jﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂﬁ R
PAEBEBELBIETLHIRENE
[E-Z X

BEREHE

MALEEREEET  BREBHFHEM
BEEBEOREN - REBEEIRERE
NEZBHRRREEMTENENERE
RBITAEBEHEEEN AR EBEA
RE BB BF B e R R E R R
BIR )RR AR TE H) 51 EIREFEBE -

s EE wﬁfiﬁﬁk’*tﬁﬁi HER - I
BRI REER B AN

e REEAIERBERKTILEEL -
FEEAMER - BB L EMM
NG

s REEIRERFEMIERE
R

o RBEMNBE TSN

RE R AR FE S R IR A8
= s

o WiIRHETERBEELE
o PIMFHITES AR - ﬂil[]
DE « SRETEDH RS

o THREREBERERKIE K
o HBIKIERAITHEZRM -

MR B MR T E R AR
M -
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The Group’s energy consumption and its intensity
performance are as follows:

RIR - HERERHRS

REBERERBERAEZERBAT

Type of energy Unit 2023 2022
BRI R B 2023F 20224
Direct energy consumption MWh 4.08 3.67
BHERRER KL
Indirect energy consumption MWh 477.47 406.79
B BEIRHAE KL
Total energy consumption MWh 481.55 410.46
RERHRERE KL
Total energy consumption intensity kWh/HK$'000 revenue® 0.671 0.707

e R B E
Note:

6.  The unit of the intensity was redefined to enhance the
accuracy of comparison by reducing the rounding effect.

Water Management

The Group’s water consumption is mainly attributable to
the usage in offices. Based on the locations of the Group’s
operations, and as the property management company
is responsible for the provision of water within the office
premises, the Group did not encounter any issues in
water sourcing. As water usage has been included in the
rent, the consumption data is not available and thus no
guantitative target has been set.

Although the Group’s business is not a water-demanding
business, the Group understands the importance of saving
water. The Group has implemented the water-saving
measures and encourage employees of the Group to use
water efficiently within the operation:

e Extend the air conditioning drain to a barrel to collect
waste water for watering and cleaning;

. Flush toilets with high or low water flow rate,
depending on the amount of water needed to flush
dirt; and

e Perform regular maintenance and replace old faucets
timely.

FTRE,FHETKRER®

PAE

6. RTEDLEBMERNE  RENRD
AR E  BEBMKEHNTE

KEREE
HRAEBMNAKEZHBAEES
SIE - RBEAEBERAHI - LK
VEBEBENRAERENAZTANIH
AR - ANEE N B BT OR L R
F'EJ%% c HR/KBEFTAES » EFW
[RAKEE AR EREEFNEL
ETTF

%%$%E¥%ﬂmﬁiﬁ* B
SEINRE  EERKEREE - K
SEEEHE mhm WEEIAEE
MEEEEET B IHFERKER :

o EBZEFAPKE INKSIE — @

A - YEREEKETTESE © Ml

. 1’;&?%&%}%)41}%}%%&’3%7%%

7 RIE BB R IKGR AN KT e
TT/L:F'/ﬂ_Zv&

o TEHRE MEEHE/KEESE -
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Since 2022, the Group has been committed to conducting
or participating in activities related to water conservation
to raise awareness among employees. During the
Reporting Year, although the Group did not take part in
a specific activity, it has not forgotten the importance of
water conservation as a year-round issue. In echo, the
Group has made effort to raise the awareness among
employees by promoting water saving tips throughout
the year. Comprehensive guidance regarding water
consumption for drinking, kitchen, cleaning and flushing
as well as maintaining water facilities has been provided
to all staff members. The Group will continuously look for
other relevant activities as well as opportunities to improve
water efficiency in the future.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group’s main business is the provision of IT
solutions and services, the products involved during the
provision of IT solutions and services are pre-packaged
by the suppliers, it is therefore less likely for the Group to
provide re-packaging service on the products, hence no
respective disclosures on policies and data are available
and no respective targets have been set.

The Environment and Natural Resources

In view of the IT-related business nature of the Group,
highly-polluting production and procedures are not
involved in its daily operation. The impact on the
environment of the Group’s business activities is mainly
attributable to the consumption of energy. The Group is
conscious of the potential adverse impact of the Group’s
operations on the environment and the Group strives to
conduct operations and activities in an environmentally
responsible and sustainable manner. The Group has
established the aforementioned “Policy on the Efficient
Use of Energy and Other Raw Materials” to recognise
that minimising the environmental impacts of the Group’s
activities is an important part of the Group’s mission. In
addition, the paper used for printing the interim reports
and annual reports are supplied by paper mills that are
members of Forest Stewardship Council, which aims
to promote the responsible and sustainable use of the
resources from forests in the world.
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Environmental Awareness

In addition to strictly requiring employees to implement
the environmental protection measures formulated by
the Group, the Group needs to proactively promote
environmental awareness among the Group’s employees.
They are frequently reminded to recycle wastes, conserve
energy and water and protect the natural environment.
They are also encouraged to participate in environmental
protection activities and share their views on the
environmental issues via internal communication channels.
In addition, the Group adopts green procurement
practices when purchasing resources such as paper and
electronic appliances. The Group continues to review
and minimise the impacts of the daily operations on the
environment.

Indoor Air Quality

The Group is dedicated to providing a comfortable
and green working environment for the employees
by constantly monitoring the indoor air quality in the
workplace. The air-conditioning and ventilation systems
in the offices are cleaned four times a year to ensure that
indoor air quality is maintained at a good level.

Climate Change

Climate change poses escalating risks and challenges
to the global economy, and such risks may negatively
impact the Group’s business. During the Reporting Year,
phenomenal typhoons relentlessly hit Macau, Hong
Kong and Guangdong Province in the PRC, where the
Group’s operations were located. The Group witnessed
firsthand the destructive consequences brought by the
record-breaking rainstorm and floods. It is anticipated
that increase in ocean temperature from global warming
will provide more heat energy for typhoons, resulting in
higher probability and frequency of powerful typhoons.
In view of this, local communities have been urging for
climate action plans.
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In response to the community’s gradual concern on
climate changes and related issues, the Group has
implemented the relevant ESG Policy. The “Policy on the
Efficient Use of Energy and Other Raw Materials” outlines
the Group’s management approach on climate-related
issues and commitment to climate mitigation, adaptation
and resilience across its operations and along the value
chain. The Group identified the material impacts on the
Group's business arising from the following risks:

Physical Risks

The Group is aware of the risks brought forth by climate
change, especially the increasing frequency and intensity
of extreme weather conditions such as typhoons.
The increasing frequency and severity of such events
may increase the risk of power failures, supply chain
disruptions, and damage to the office premises. This
could disrupt the Group’s servicing activities, resulting in
reduced revenue as well as increased costs for repairing
and insurance premiums in long term. The Group is also
aware that these incidents may endanger the safety of its
employees. As mitigation, the Group closely monitors the
latest weather alerts and suggestions issued by the local
government authorities. The Group has established work
arrangements during typhoons in the “Staff Manual”
to ensure that all personnel are prepared to deal with
such extreme weather conditions, aiming at reducing
or avoiding potential losses and injuries during extreme
weather circumstances. A “Business Continuity Plan” is
in place to ensure operational continuity of processes and
activities of the Group. To prepare for rapid response,
the Crisis Management Team has been designated with
unified structure and management plan prior to crises.
The Group also maintains a comprehensive insurance
coverage to safeguard its assets and employees.
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Transition Risks

The development of international policy and regulation
on climate change, and the evolving commitment of the
PRC and Hong Kong Government to carbon reduction are
anticipated and may present potential risks to the Group
in the coming years. In addition, the Stock Exchange
requires listed companies to strengthen climate-related
disclosures in their ESG reports, which may increase
related compliance costs. Such transition risks which
require the Group to move towards a sustainable business
model may potentially lead to impacts such as increasing
operational costs from change of operational practices.
Failure to meet climate change compliance requirements
may expose the Group to the risk of claims and
litigation, which may result in a possible loss of corporate
reputation. The Group will regularly monitor existing and
emerging climate-related trends, policies and regulations
to avoid reputation risk due to slow response. The Group
will continue to assess the energy consumption proportion
in the Group’s operation comprehensively and optimising
the corresponding procedures.

B. SOCIAL
B1. Employment

The Group considers its employees to be its greatest asset
and strives to attract and retain the best people for its
sustainable growth. The Group has established the “Staff
Manual” and “Human Resources and Payroll Management
Policy” to ensure that employees are treated fairly and
equally, and that their rights and interests are protected.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include
but not limited to the “Labour Relations Law (Law
no. 7/2008)” of Macau, the “Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Social Insurance
Law”, the “Regulation on the Administration of Housing
Accumulation Funds” of the PRC and the “Employment
Ordinance” of Hong Kong.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 287 employees
(including four executive Directors and excluding one non-
executive Director and three INEDs) (as at 31 December
2022: 249 employees). Employees’ composition by
gender, age group, employment type and geographical
region is shown as follows:

#HZE2023F12A318 » "&EEHF287
ZEEB(BENEHTESHETBIE
— BT EER B IERNTE
£)(HZE2022F12A318 : 249% 18
8) o LRl - FEAER - BEERAN
@ EDMESBRET

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Number % Number %
A % AE %
By gender 214 B
Male Bt 204 71.08 189 75.90
Female 74 83 28.92 60 24.10
By age group RERER
<31 1A T 103 35.89 97 38.96
31-50 31E505% 172 59.93 145 58.23
>50 50 A = 12 4.18 7 2.81
By employment type RIEFEER
Full-time a7 277 96.52 245 98.39
Part-time F 10 3.48 4 1.61
By geographical region Rt E
Macau BRFT 150 52.26 122 48.99
Hong Kong BE 60 20.91 42 16.87
The PRC F 77 26.83 85 34.14

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



oooo

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREGRSE

Recruitment, Compensation, Promotion and HHHE - B - BEHRAGE
Dismissal

The Group believes each employee is entitled to fair, rEERE  BUEBIHARSEIR
courteous and dignified treatment. The “Policy on I -BREEEERNETF AEER
Recruitment, Promotion and Development of Talent” BESGEUR HIEC A A REE - B REH
has been formulated under the ESG Policy to offer an RER) - BE—EEF - KEEMR
innovative, growth-oriented and challenging workplace MEBKB N TIESFT - HEEE
with the expectation that everybody contributes to the AR AR EEKRIELERIL S
results and shares in the success of the Group. The Group ERY c AEETERBLE FBEF
recruits employees mainly through online recruitment B HEREBEREIENRERSE -
platform, recruitment agent and by referral. Educational REBERNTIEZHRESELHESS
backgrounds, technical qualifications, characters, relevant &R - MfE - BETELREE
industry experiences and adoption to the corporate DHECEEBESR AEEBANER
values are key recruitment criteria. The human resources HBEMEERNEEPIBIK - LA
department of the Group reviews the Group's recruitment HAEBEEBELT K -

policy from time to time to cope with the needs of the
Group's business operation.

The Group is committed to providing a competitive REBBIRARMESERNZH R
remuneration package to all eligible full-time and part- RBEEBRERHEABBFZFANHMNE
time employees which are outlined in the “Policy on Other B MAATNFENIRIRESGER
Benefits and Welfare” under the ESG Policy. The Group's I8 T eCE 48 AR B R ) R it -
remuneration package generally comprises basic salary, REBOTHEE - RBEEELRT
performance-based commission, if applicable, discretionary & BEREENEe(WER) - B
performance-based bonus and other benefits such as WERERS AR EMEF - nEE
medical/labour insurance and travel insurance. The Group BRI RIRTTIRER - NEE A5 &
will review and evaluate the performance of the Group’s EERNHEENRR - WAHEME
employees periodically and make any salary adjustments HE AR REA - RIFABEFBE
and promotions accordingly. The Group is required under BERORTE  ~EEARBREED
relevant PRC laws and regulations to make contributions e ReERFBLRMNEBEEE S
to employee benefit plans at specified percentages of the HESEAMFEEEHR  FaR5E
salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of the Group’s & i B ERER TRFIEE ©

employees, up to a maximum amount specified by the
local jurisdiction from time to time.

Employees are subject to performance appraisals every EESFRETEYNGE - THER
year, which assess their past performance and jointly AMRBEASHRAGEEBEZRA
formulate their career development direction. Subject M e BBEAREZRERN - A HAERA
to the company operation, the results of appraisals may REMERASFHRE - ALKEMARED
be used as the standards and grounds for promotion BRI o

recommendation, deployment or salary adjustment.

Employees who fail to fulfil the responsibilities set out by RECERBERUTAE  RBI - 1BF RAT
the performance criteria, rules, procedures and standards BIZENEB IS ZETHASEIT
of conduct may be subject to adverse personnel action. B E  c HRNEAHTARIERE
Dismissal is a potential consequence for employees whose 4R E B e - M= s iR E
conduct or job performance results in a decision to impose AL EREIHIER @ FIReEITHE -

a disciplinary penalty of demotion, suspension without
pay or dismissal.

2023 FEHE o BAESHERERLT



82

oooo

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERHRS

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a turnover
rate’ of approximately 23.69% (2022: 24.90%). The
breakdown® of employee turnover rate by gender, age
group and geographical region is shown as follows:

EREFE  AEBESRAEY
23.69% (2022 % : 24.90% ) ° 7%
Al FEAERI MR E 5 HEE K
REAMREIN PR

2023 2022

Turnover rate AR 2023F 20224
% %

Total A&t 23.69 24.90
By gender =R
Male EELks 24.51 26.98
Female pegis 21.69 18.33
By age group REwRAR
<31 31BRIAT 42.72 43.30
31-50 31E505% 13.95 13.79
>50 505 A £ - -
By geographical region T ith &
Macau peal ] 20.00 21.31
Hong Kong B 13.33 28.57
The PRC H 38.96 28.24
Notes: 5T

7.  Calculation method of turnover rate: (total number of
departures during the reporting year = total number of
employees at the end of the reporting year) X 100%.

8.  Calculation method of turnover rate for each category:
(number of departures in the specific category during the
reporting year = number of employees in the specific
category at the end of the reporting year) X 100%.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

To suit different business needs, the working hours may
vary from different positions. The “Policy on Working
Hours and Compensation” has provided an overview on
working hours and compensation for employees. Subject
to the Group'’s work assignments and executive Director’s
approval, the employee’s supervisor shall determine the
hours of employment that best suits the needs of the
work to be done by the individual employee. The policy
has also provided regulations regarding attendance,
punctuality and overtime compensation. On the other
hand, rest periods and holidays are provided to employees
according to the “Policy on Rest Periods” to ensure the
work-life balance of employees and in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations.

7. RAREWEHELE: (REFES
BRAB-BEFERBETHAR)
X 100% °

8. BHERRAENAERL: (REF
ERTENNEBRAR - REFER
HERERIME TAZ) X 100% °©
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

Creating a discrimination and harassment free work
environment is every employee’s responsibility and one
of the major goals of the Group. The Group upholds
the value of diversity and shall act as the responsible
agent in the full implementation of the “Policy on Equal
Employment Opportunity” under its ESG Policy. The
policy applies to the Group to provide equal opportunities
in all aspects of employment, including recruitment,
hiring, job assignments, promotions, working conditions,
scheduling, benefits, wage and salary administration,
disciplinary action, termination, and social, educational
and recreational programs. The Group does not tolerate
any forms of discrimination within the Group’s operations
with regard to race, colour, religion, national origin, sex,
age, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, political
affiliation, personal appearance, family responsibility,
matriculation or any other characteristics as recognised
by relevant anti-discriminatory regulations. The “Policy on
Discrimination and Harassment” is also in place to clearly
define and prohibit discrimination or harassment in the
workplace, whether committed by or against managers,
co-workers, customers, vendors, or visitors. Any claims
of discrimination or harassment will be investigated
promptly, and appropriate disciplinary action will be taken
to eliminate inappropriate behaviour.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to achieving excellence in
occupational health and safety management in a
dynamic process and continually strive to improve the
Group's performance. It is the foundation for continuous
improvement in the Group’s facilities, products and
services. The Group has developed and adopted “Policy
on Occupational Health and Safety” to ensure and provide
a safe and healthy working environment for all employees
with zero tolerance for unsafe acts or conditions.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with laws and regulations relating
to health and safety that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include
but not limited to the “General Regulation of Work
Safety and Hygiene of Offices, Services and Commercial
Establishments (Decree-Law no. 37/89/M)" and the
“Legal Regime on Compensation for Damages Arising
from Work Accidents and Occupational Diseases (Decree-
Law no. 40/95/M)” of Macau, the “Provisions on the
Administration of Occupational Health at Workplaces”,
the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases” of the
PRC and the “Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance”
of Hong Kong. In the past three years (including the
Reporting Year), the Group did not record any work-
related fatalities and injuries. During the Reporting Year,
the Group also did not record any working days lost due
to work-related injuries.

Measures on Occupational Health and Safety
The Group provides the Group’s employees with safe
working environment, and strives to protect them
from potential health hazards and injuries. Employees
are required to familiarise themselves with local safety
requirements including wearing adequate personal
protective equipment when required and reporting unsafe
acts, conditions and safety risks. To raise employees’
awareness of safety, mandatory training and observation
programs such as safety training, fire drills and first-
aid certificate course are provided for them to take part
in. The management is responsible for facilitating risk
assessments and developing protective measures in
cooperation with employees. The Group also provides
industrial accident insurance for employees as a protection
measure.

The human resources department of the Group is
responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the
above measures relating to occupational safety and
health matters of the Group. In each of the workplace in
Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC, cases of personal work-
related injury by accident must be reported by the human
resources Manager to the relevant regulatory authorities
within the respective time limit. All employees of the
Group may, from time to time, raise any occupational
health and safety related issues through various channels.
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Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

While the COVID-19 pandemic began to ease off at
the beginning of the Reporting Year, the Group still
adhered to placing the health and safety of employees
as its top priority. The Group strictly maintained a high
hygiene standard and complied with the virus prevention
regulations issued by the local governments. Face masks
and sanitiser are provided to employees in case they are in
need.

Development and Training

The Group adopts a philosophy of continuous
improvement and endeavours to keep the Group’s
technical professionals abreast of the latest technology
developments. To always stay at the technological
forefront in an ever-changing market, the Group
encourages employees to continuously improve and
further develop their skill sets. The Group’s performance
management process encourages timely fact-based
feedback and promotes regular opportunities to discuss
development. The Group provides ongoing product and
other on-the-job training and development opportunities
through formal programs, coaching, mentoring and on-
the-job experiences. In addition, the Group provides
global training programs in a variety of areas, such as
people management and leadership. The Group has
stipulated management procedures on employee training
in its “Staff Manual” under the section headed “Employee
Training and Development”.

Training Programmes

Subject to the needs of business development, employees
may be required to take part in training or professional
examinations to obtain industry certifications and
accreditations, of which the expenses are subsidised by
the Group as an encouragement. It is believed that all-
around training can increase productivity, build confidence
in the Group’s workforce, and create a better working
environment. Trainings will be offered to engineers
regularly to keep their technical standards up to market
level and equip them for certification examinations.
Before their participation in the training or professional
examinations, they are required to sign an agreement
on employee training stating their willingness to serve
the Group within a certain service binding period after
the training or professional examinations. In addition,
pursuant to the “Taxes Management Policy”, the Group
provides continuing professional development for staff of
the Finance Department to ensure tax filing is prepared
and reviewed competently and is submitted to the
regulatory bodies timely and accurately.
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In view of the significance of data security due to the
Group’s business nature, relevant trainings have been
provided to employees during the Reporting Year to
enhance their awareness and familiarity with security
compliance and best practices. The Group’s project
management professionals have earned leadership
experience and expertise with globally-recognised
certification. In addition, employees who are qualified
members of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance

ENRAREENEFEENEELE
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Institute have attended development trainings related FREENEBBERMNT
to accounting and corporate governance to fulfil the
professional requirement. A summary of the Group's
training data during the Reporting Year is as follows:
2023 2022
2023F 2022F
Percentage  Breakdown Average Percentage  Breakdown Average
of employees of employees training  of employees  of employees training
trained’ trained™ hours"' trained? trained' hours'
ZilEER ZiEE B3 ZiES ZillES FHEGN
Bt A g Epaiin BR4g FE
% % Hour % % Hour
% % N % % AN,
Total &t 1986  N/ATER 5.35 1205 NATER 2.00
By gender BRI
Male Bt 25.49 91.23 6.39 15.34 96.67 232
Female it 6.02 8.77 2.81 1.67 333 1.00
By employee RESER
category
Senior management ®RERE 8.70 3.51 8.15 7.69 333 2.65
Middle RREEE
management 11.11 7.02 2.00 .11 10.00 4.30
General —%ES 22.37 89.47 5.60 12.44 86.67 1.67
Notes: k3
9.  Percentage of employees trained = (number of employees 9. XIEEAD=(FEHEIMEFE
trained in the specific category during the reporting year < ZiEB AB-FEERHREFER
number of employees in the specific category at the end of EE AE) x100% °
the reporting year) X 100%.
10. Breakdown of employees trained = (number of employees 10. ZilEERMA=(FEHEIREFES
trained in the specific category during the reporting year JIEEAB-REFEZIEELA
+ total number of employees trained during the reporting #) X 100% °
year) X 100%.
11. Average training hours = number of training hours in the 1. FHZIRE=EHANREFES
specific category during the reporting year <+ number IS - EERIRE FEREE A
of employees in the specific category at the end of the 2o
reporting year.
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B4. Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits human rights abuses over the
entire business operations. During the Reporting Year,
the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with laws and regulations relating to the prevention of
forced labour or child labour that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations
include but not limited to the “Framework Law on
Employment Policy and Workers’ Rights (Law no. 4/98/
M)”, “Regulation on Prohibition of lllegal Work (Law no.
17/2004)", the “Law for the Employment of Non-resident
Workers (Law no. 21/2009)” of Macau, the “Provisions
on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour” of the PRC,
the “Employment Ordinance” and the “Employment of
Children Regulations” of Hong Kong.

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group has detailed all recruitment procedures and
requirements in the “Human Resources and Payroll
Management Policy”. In order to avoid child and forced
labour, procedures of pre-employment investigation
including background and reference check would be
conducted by the human resources officer under the
consent of the job applicants prior to the issuing of job
offer. Applicants who are found providing misleading,
erroneous or deceptive information during the recruitment
process would not be considered.

As mentioned in the paragraph headed “Working Hours
and Rest Periods” under Aspect B1, the regulations on
working hours and overtime are set out in detail in the
ESG Policy. Employees may request the opportunity to
vary their work schedules to better accommodate personal
responsibility. To prevent forced overtime work, any
necessary arrangements of overtime would only be made
upon the request of an employee’s supervisor. Overtime
pay as compensation is in line with the local laws and
regulations. Employees’ rest periods are well respected;
hence, they are entitled to various types of holiday as
described in the “Staff Manual”. If any form of child
or forced labour is found, the Group will immediately
investigate and stop such situation, and will investigate
and communicate with the senior management in a timely
manner.

RIR - HERERHRS

B4. 55 T %8|

AEBNBEERKELBERELE
LAE - RBREFE - AEBEWLTH
BEMERNERBBEHIEET KA
BITREEMBAOINE A EBEEASE
A2 o HEEEMEFB2IFETR
ORI 4/98/MI AR EBUR R 45
THREFMEE) « 5517/200457 %22
WEIEETHEIRE) 821200950 %2
(BERIMbIEEE) - PEKZIFRAE
THEIRBEEEBIEIR(ERR
ZH) o

BriEE T Rig#|% T
AEBBER(ANEREFHHEREK
RO ERERF RESK - Al
GREAEINBEST - ANERE
BB N BB 2 KB E R
EHTEBIAEREY  BIEESSH
BREFER - RIPEBRHHIRIR
HERE - SRR IEE R RS
BRTEE -

IEANB1 [ETEIA A TVERfE ARk B
R —ERprigat - TYERERI RANTEA94E
B ERESGHR P B FF AT -
BERIABEKARTERRE - LUELF
HEITEAZM - B LERFI M -
NEHNRLZHESERENEER
B RKEFETT - (ERMENINIIEZA
RFEEHERER - BB KB RM
REZESEE At ' HEEEET
(BIFM)FlaSERE o WEER
ERFEANELSRELET  A5H
H S BT R B = E IR - I
NEHESREEEREITHEEER -

2023 FEHE o BAESHERERLT

87



88

oooo

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERHRS

B5. Supply Chain Management

B5. IR EE

Building a trust relationship with suppliers helps the Group
manage its potential environmental and social risk while
enhancing the efficiency of the Group's operations. The
Group's suppliers comprise system vendors, authorised
distributors and subcontractors. Under the Enterprise IT
Solutions business, the suppliers are mainly authorised
distributors of the system vendors, and the Group
purchases the products from the authorised distributors
of the system vendors for project application. The Group
has implemented the “Purchases & Payment Policy” with
the following practices on supplier management for all
suppliers. During the Reporting Year, the Group had
a total of 211 (2022: 194) suppliers. The geographical
distribution of suppliers is as follows:

HEEEEYETHEEREIREAEE
EREBEMRREL SRR - FFRE
BAEERNEENE o  AEEEER
BIERGHER  HELHEHAES B
B RIETHASTRERT - HE
BAEB ARG HEFNRELHD
REERRFHEFORBLHEER
BERHAREEER - AEEE R
BB SRER) - HETE R EREAITIA
THEFEREN - RBEFE - A
EEAHEF211(20224F + 194/ #
fER o (B MR DA T

Geographical region HE 2023 2022
20234 20224
Macau SEPY 69 82
Hong Kong BB 88 81
The PRC H 23 14
Others (Israel, Taiwan, Australia, HEf (BT - & -
Finland, US, Thailand, Singapore, SBAFTE - SR
Malta, Malaysia) EB - B - R0
FEHEAb - FRFR) 31 17
Total HEt 211 194
Procurement Mechanism PREE1EH)

The Group has established the “Purchases & Payment
Policy” which stipulates the procedures whenever
engaging a new vendor. The director of Product
and Marketing Department should fill in the Vendor
Registration Form with the potential vendor’s basic
information and then conduct background check and
United Nations sanction check with relevant supporting
documents to ensure the potential vendor is valid.
Upon approval by the CEO, the director of Product and
Marketing Department should register the qualified
vendor into the Approved Vendor List for the CEQ’s
approval. The documents must be obtained before
the purchase order is placed to the new vendor and
properly filed and retained. Due to the business nature,
occasionally some required goods and services may not be
provided by the existing vendors on the Approved Vendor
List. In those cases, a quotation would be obtained from
the single potential vendor before placing purchase order.

AREBEHE TCRBRNFRBEFR) -
HRTETEERNEEENERF -
EmEmEHRsrRERERERS
BRERSECHEBERNEALAEM @ &
RAMEERAERETRERAE M
EEGHRE - AEREEHERD
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EARHERHEENTERL - A
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B EHERRENEEHERR
By A] B BOX IR K LA R A MR
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Supply Chain Environmental and Social Risk
Management

The Group conducts an annual performance evaluation
to all the approved vendors to weed out undesirable
vendors based on performance indicators including
defect rate, pricing and discounts, turnaround time and
validity time of quotes, packaging integrity and delivery
schedule, technical skills and ability, flexibility, accessibility
and responsiveness to queries. The evaluation results are
recorded in the Vendor Performance Evaluation Form to
be reviewed and approved by the CEO. The Approved
Vendor List should be updated based on those results and
unqualified vendors would be removed from the list.

In addition, the Group puts emphasis on compliance with
environmental and social laws and regulations which
helps to identify and minimise risks along its supply chain.
Any non-compliance to relevant laws and regulations
discovered by the Group will be promptly reported to
the management. Corrective action will be carried out to
remediate the identified risk in a timely manner.

Promoting Environmentally Preferable
Products and Services

The Group has adopted green procurement practices
suggested in the ESG Policy which aim at providing
the Product and Marketing Department with guiding
principles when making sustainable procurement
decisions. It further promotes and supports the
environmental protection initiatives in the supply chain
by encouraging suppliers to explore and implement
innovative environmental practices. Throughout the
procurement process, higher preference would be given to
those suppliers adopting green specifications and meeting
the Group's environmental protection requirements. The
above requirements are clearly specified at the beginning
of procurement process. Approved vendors are monitored
and assessed with the annual performance evaluation
as detailed in the paragraph above, with environmental
protection as one of the criteria.
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B6. Product Responsibility

The Group places customer satisfaction as the Group's
top priority and strives to keep up with the evolving needs
of its customers. The Group has established the “Product
Responsibility Policy” to standardise procedures for the
quality management of products and services. The Group
strives to establish and maintain good relationships with
customers, to listen to their concerns, and to surpass
their expectations with the Group’s premium quality.
As technology continues to advance, the Group will see
changes in customers’ behaviour and expectations.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling, and
privacy matters about products and services provided and
methods of redress that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Relevant laws and regulations include
but not limited to the “Consumer Protection Law (Law
no. 12/88/M)”, the “Personal Data Protection Act (Law
no. 8/2005)” of Macau, the “Cyber Security Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the ”"Data Security Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Civil Code of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Personal Information
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China” of the
PRC, the “Sale of Goods Ordinance (Chapter 26 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)” and the “Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong)” of
Hong Kong.

Quality Assurance

The Group believes that stringent quality control is
critical to the Group's success and reputation. With the
commitment to delivering products which are safe and
of consistent quality, the Group ensures that products
are sold in compliance with local rules and regulations
related to health and safety. The Group has put in
place high-standard quality control measures at various
stages of the Group’s work process, including project
planning, procurement of hardware, the associated
system and components, and project implementation
to ensure the quality of the work adheres to the
contractual requirements and customers’ specifications.
In projects where subcontractors are engaged, the
Group also takes steps to ensure that their work conform
with the requirements, specifications and timeline.
The Group monitors the performance of the Group’s
subcontractors through conducting on-site reviews, and
the subcontractors are required to submit progress reports
to the Group on a regularly basis to record and report the
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work completed by them. If the products are defective
upon arrival, the authorised distributors of the system
vendor in general would unconditionally replace with
new products within seven days of the delivery. In other
cases, product repairs or returns depend on the warranty
purchased by the Group’s customers, the periods of which
generally range from one year to three years. The Group
provides back-to-back warranty to the Group's customers
accordingly.

During the Reporting Year, there were no products
recalled for safety and health reasons and no material
written complaints related to products and service
were received. As described in the section headed
“ACCREDITATION AND AWARDS" above, the Group
was honoured with awards such as the Certificate for
Qualification of Information Security Service Provider in
recognition of its commitment to delivering high-quality
networking solutions and services. In addition, the Group's
services and management systems have been certified by
The International Organization for Standardization (ISO).
Moving forward, the Group will make every effort to keep
up its performance.

Privacy and Data Security

The Group is committed to respecting privacy rights and
protecting the personal information clients share with
the Group. Therefore, it has formulated the “Policy on
Data Protection and Privacy of Personal Data” under
its ESG Policy to set forth how the Group will manage
the personal data that it collects in the normal course
of business. The Group takes steps to make sure the
proper use and collection of personal data. The Group
will allow data subjects reasonable access to personal
data about themselves during normal working hours
and upon reasonable request, and will be allowed to
update and/or correct any inaccurate information. As
a precaution to mitigate risks of data leakages and
privacy breaches leading to increased costs in addressing
regulatory actions and also potentially tarnishing the
Group's reputation, employees would be required to sign
non-disclosure agreement. The Group will take other
reasonable precautions to protect personal data from loss,
misuse, unauthorised access, disclosure, alteration and
destruction.
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RIR - HERERHRS

The Group uses a self-assessment approach to assure
compliance with this privacy policy and periodically
verifies that the policy is accurate, comprehensive for
the information intended to be covered, prominently
displayed, completely implemented and accessible and
in conformity with the principles. The Group encourages
interested individuals to raise any concerns regarding use
and disclosure of personal data in accordance with the
principles. If a complaint or dispute cannot be resolved
through the Group's internal process, the Group agrees
to resolve it using a third-party resolution provider as a
method of redress.

As an enterprise providing IT solutions and cyber security,
data security is material to the Group’s business. Thus, the
“Staff Manual” provides guidelines relevant to tackling
potential threats such as hacking and cyber phishing.
Preventive measures on handling e-mails and documents
as well as setting passwords are set out in the guidelines.
Employees are provided with external training and briefing
sessions on data security by relevant IT solution providers
from time to time. Employees are also encouraged to
report on suspicious situations.

Intellectual Property Rights

To protect the Group's intellectual property rights, the
Group has registered or made applications to register
the Group’s patents, copyrights, trademarks and domain
names in different jurisdictions. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group has registered 6 trademarks, 17 copyrights, 21
patents and 7 domain names which are material in relation
to the Group’s business. Despite of these, litigation may
be necessary to protect the Group's intellectual property
rights in certain circumstances. The Group will continue to
monitor to ensure that its intellectual property rights are
not being infringed upon.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group conducts limited advertising campaigns and
therefore does not involve any significant advertising-
related risks. Nevertheless, in terms of the advertisement
for products and services, the Group strictly regulates and
monitors products and services promotion to ensure that
they comply with advertising and labelling related laws
and regulations. Such marketing and promotion must
accurately reflect the quality of the Group’s products and
performance of the Group's services.
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B7. Anti-corruption B7. RES

It is a crucial part of the Group’s principle “We take RESAAEEHMEELPESF]
corporate responsibility” which states that “We set clear RAMEEZEK LD - FHETHRME
requirements for corporate responsibility and ethics within REBRNPREBEIEZHNLESR
the Group and for the Group's business partners”. To FRBEREHPERER] - ATHE
establish trust with customers, authorities, Shareholders P oRERHE  RERLEGELE
and society, the Group relies on professionalism, expertise F - NEBETENS R mEKRE
and high ethical standards in all aspects of the Group’s BB BENARSEEEE
work. The Group promotes a culture of integrity, ethical REEESEGEAE  REERT A
conduct, fairness, honesty and openness when doing FAEIFBM AR E @S - W
business, and adopts a zero-tolerance attitude towards FHERE - RMFFRERITARINER
any bribery, fraud and money laundering. The Group is BrEfE - REBRHERBTS T
committed to ensuring that no bribes, kickbacks or similar ] B B8 ZER A T (RREET IR
gifts, payments or advantages are solicited from or given ) EATRERR - BIFNSERLIBRAE - RN
or offered to any person, for any purposes. Aligning with Fa - BRAEERS - RUEE
the Group’s vision, core values and principles, the “Anti- BREREA - AEESIE T(REFE
Corruption Guidelines” has been drawn up to increase A - LIRSHESHRE - TEes
awareness of corruption and to enable employees across ENEIRHBES  TAWAITER
the Group to identify corruption with direction on how it SHEftiES] c KB EARRELIA
can be combated. Managers are responsible for ensuring Rz BE T EIRBIEE T2
that employees familiarise themselves with the guideline. 15 FERBEMITE -

Employees are therefore expected to behave with care,
integrity and professionalism pursuant to the guideline.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of R|EFENR » AEEIW T HBEM
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations EAREREBEEE 9% HEELE
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money-laundering ERAEEEEMEANERERKEKXR
that would have a significant impact on the Group. SIS o IBEEEMNEE eER
Relevant laws and regulations include but not limited TR ABPE(TER &8 IE5 G 28e
to the “Law on Prevention and Suppression of Money N EE 2200655 E42) - RE(HRE A
Laundering Crimes (Law no. 2/2006)” of Macau, the EHFMEQATEY - (hIE A RHFE
“Company Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the FIEY  (hEEARAREFBERTE
“Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the ?é‘%ﬁ%;ﬁ>&§/;§<B}jﬂ:,ﬁﬁ,ﬁ\%ﬂ%ﬁlj>> o B/\\\
“Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic P ERER - S ES Y A EE

of China” of the PRC and the “Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance” in Hong Kong. During the Reporting Year,
there was no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees.

HEBTIRHYW D EAENETRARM
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Preventive Measures

To facilitate employees to understand the importance of
anti-corruption, the “Anti-Corruption Guidelines” provides
detailed definition on what constitutes corruption and
inappropriate benefits. Nobody may receive benefits from
the Group's business contacts or give benefits to them if
such benefits are based on the employment relationship.
Persons in violation of the policies or applicable laws and
regulations may be subject to disciplinary or administrative
action, as well as civil or criminal liability. The Board is
responsible for drawing up and making accessible training
materials to relevant staff to ensure compliance when new
laws and regulations that may impact the business are
introduced. Training sessions are held at least once every
year for Directors and employees. During the Reporting
Year, 7 Directors and 3 employees of the Group have
each received approximately 1.5 hours of anti-corruption
training in the form of seminar. Such training familiarises
the Directors and employees at various levels with their
corresponding roles and responsibilities in anti-corruption
and business ethics, and helps cultivate employees’
awareness towards anticorruption and a high standard
of professional conduct to comply with the laws in the
operating locations of the Group.

Whistleblowing Mechanism

Anyone who becomes aware of an incident or situation
which appears to contravene rules and guidelines which
apply to the Group’s operations is encouraged to report
orally or in writing. The procedures of whistleblowing
are set out under the guidelines to facilitate employees’
reporting of corruption incidents. The Group specifies
consequences for breaches based on their type and
severity. All sanctions will be assessed by the human
resources manager or the Board before implementation.
The Group will monitor and review the effectiveness of
the whistleblowing mechanism regularly.
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B8. Community Investment BS. HHERE

The Group attaches great importance to community AEEFEHERER RELEE -
contribution, investment and development. Therefore, bt AREEGIE T REERK
the Group has formulated the “Policy on Community ) UNETRBRELS - BRIt
Investment” to uphold its commitments to actively repay g BELEMENER - AEEE
and contribute to the society and promote social harmony. @M AFEER - AERRAF
The Group pursues the sustainable development of the wmoOAMREEEREENETES -
Group’s community by creating shared benefits thereby REBIMKBEZEREZTEFMENEE
improve the quality of life for those in need. The Group BLREBEFBROMEEEER
will also consider the concerns of key stakeholders and B EMRBEBFEENBRR
the synergies that arise from interaction with the Group’s fE - RIEERFHIZE MERE
core social responsibility values, products and services. REFICAERY  NE—FNEME
Approval, reporting and monitoring mechanism are in il R B RS I FEIR B R o

place for the community investment procedures to further
enhance accountability and transparency and to ensure

effectiveness.

Corporate Social Responsibility EHEUEEF

The Group’s contribution areas focus on local AEENERSBEZ TN ERSE
development matters. H-

During the Reporting Year, the Group has supported RBEFERN  AEEZFT136%1E
136 staff members including their family for their BRERALHECRPFIARESE A
participation in “2023 Walk for a Million” organised A eRBNN AnEBHE72023]
by the Charity Fund of Readers of Macao Daily News # 8)10,00008 P9 T 1% & £ 1735/
by sponsoring MOP10,000 for their 3.5-hour walk. B RE—HREISFEHS RN
On another sports day organised by Hou Kong Junior EHe L 2EEERERA—ES
Chamber, 12 staff members with their family participated BTN ER - ZEBE T
in the companionship tasks for 2 hours. The goal of the BEBEREE - UEHAOZRIHE
event was to advocate cross-generational integration in B AEBNRRMATENTRESS
view of the aging population. The Group also donated 1B8#840,0008 7T © ZIFEBRMET
HK$40,000 to Macao Asian Peace Charity Association in YE - VAR M) R 52 EE 48 #8 100,000 74
support of their work in racial harmony and HK$100,000 T XRFEFEAMMARIER -

to Think Tank of United Citizens to support its annual
local research project respectively.

The Group will continue to embolden and support EATREBREBERN—Hn - ~&%
the public by various means of social participation and EEERASETE2ERERN
contribution as part of the Group's strategic development. FEBBMEERAR -
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RIR - HERERHRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX HXF(ESGEHEIESIYRNABED]
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

MR ERE

Governance Structure
r: S478

Reporting Principles

PE SRR A

Reporting Boundary
ME TR ED

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
EN G

TEER  E@ -

—REBERERANER

Aspect A1: Emissions

EBEA1 : Hhm

Section

=z s

B

ESG Governance Structure

ESGE AL

About the ESG Report — Reporting Framework

RARESGHR S — EHER

About the ESG Report — Reporting Scope

RARESGH S — TS L [E

Description

it

Section/Declaration

General Disclosure Information on: Emissions

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water

and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—MRIE AABERLRERBHR - FKRLHAEET  BEREZEEDHN  HRY

EEEN

@ HE: K

(b) EFHBETARBEATENRMEEIR

HBHY o
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions — Air Emissions
R ERUEIRALY R RARR B - B — BERBEI
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas  Emissions — GHG Emissions

FASRIAIEIRAT 2

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit

of production volume, per facility).

B (EEN) ResREE (SBE)REREHNE CAETE) &
BRI BESEN - BIHRME)

(ni@

B — R E R

KPI'A1.3

BREBUEIEA1 3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

MELRERRNEE
fii - BRI E)

(ARt E) R (ER)ZE (WNEESE

Emissions — Waste Management -
Hazardous Wastes (Not applicable
— explained)

By -BEENER-BZEED
(MER-C#E)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs
TEEE - B@ -
—REERBREE

KPIA1.4

MR

RS IRAL 4

oooo
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Description

st
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

frETEZEEYEE (Ut E) R(WER)BE (NABEES
i~ FERIEE) ©

RIR - HERERHRS

Section/Declaration

BH/ 85

Emissions — Waste Management -
Non-hazardous Wastes

B -BEENEE - BEREY

KPIA1.5

BSRIENUEIRA1S

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

AT LM B E B R R AR EL R RITRRN SR -

Environmental Targets, Emissions —
Air Emissions, GHG Emissions

REAR  HRY - BRI
RERIEHEN

KPIA1.6

FSRIEUEITA16

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

HERRERBERRMNGE - M L RAER R R AE
PG B BRI SR

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2 : ERER

Environmental Targets, Emissions —
Waste Management

RERE - B - EEDER

General Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

Use of Resources

—fRIE BRERER(BIERER - K REMRMERL) B o BIREF
KPI' A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas  Use of Resources - Energy
or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production Management

RS RAL.1

volume, per facility).
RENESMERRFREER(NE - RIvh) EHE
REHE) REE (WABESEN - §IARIEHE)

EUTET

BRER —RERERE

KPI A2.2

R EIEIZA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
BRKERTE(WAGESEN - §EHRHHE) o

Use of Resources — Water
Management

BRER—KERERE

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to  Environmental Targets, Use of

achieve them. Resources — Energy Management
HRERIERA2 3 PRI M ) BEIR A A B R RS iE Lk B ARPTERER B 78R REAR  BREA-ERER
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit ~ Environmental Targets, Use of

RsEIERA2 4

for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

it SREGER KR AT B ERIRRE - WA RATRI R KE B IR R A
ETE L BIRATERERA S8R -

Resources — Water Management

REER  AREA-XKBERER

KPI A2.5

RIERIEIZA2 5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

S mARBEMHEE A E) R (NER) BLEEMEE -

Use of Resources — Use of Packaging
Materials (Not applicable —
explained)

BIRER—aEMHEA
(TEA-E®E)
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description

TEER  E@ -
—REBERBRENESE #d

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3 : RERARER

Section/Declaration

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the  The Environment and Natural
environment and natural resources. Resources

—fRIKE BEBTAHRERRARERELERZENRE - RENRKRAER

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment  The Environment and Natural

and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

RS NUEIRA3.Y HRFBEBERARARERNEAY E RO RMEREAZED
178 °

Aspect Ad: Climate Change

EHEAL : RiIREL

Resources - Environmental

Awareness, Indoor Air Quality
RERARER - RREH

ENEREE

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related ~ Climate Change
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
—MRIREE FRREHER R EHETAEEYENEARKHEAEENE  RIRE(L
% o
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have  Climate Change - Physical Risks,

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

Transition Risks

MR B RUEIRAL1 HHERRAIEHBETAELYENEARGERSE - REHT RES-ERER BER
o
Aspect B1: Employment
BB : R
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
—MRIE BEREMLFE  BEREA  TERE  BRE - FTS#e ER
& RERAREMBFBRBTIN :
@ B R
(b) BEBFHETABEAZENEBERKERM
HBHY o
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or
part-time), age group and geographical region. Employment
B BIERBR1 BRI BREEE(NERIEE) FRAFMEADNEER R
2o
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures

and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TEHE EED-
—-REERBRERER Hd B8 /85
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical  Employment - Recruitment,
region. Compensation, Promotion and
Dismissal
RIREMIRIRB1.2 IR FRERNKREDHERRALE - ER—FE - F8 - B RRE

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EEB2 : REHZS

General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

—MRIE ARRHEZETHERERREEEEERELEEN REZE
@ BE: Rk
b) BTFHETAREATENBREEZRAD
AR -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the  Health and Safety
past three years including the reporting year.
IR B HE13B2.1 BE=F(BRERFE)SFRITHMABRLE - RREZE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
MREMIRIZB2.2 AIGEATERS - BEET S
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and  Health and Safety — Measures on
how they are implemented and monitored. Occupational Health and Safety,
Response to the COVID-19
Pandemic
MIREMIRIRB2.3 AR BERRER 2N - AREARTRERNE - RREZE -FRRERFERLS

HFEHE « FELICOVID-19% 18

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : R KIE

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging  Development and Training
duties at work. Description of training activities.

—RBE ARRIHEE BT IIERAENAB R MIER « fitBINES EEYEE]

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee  Development and Training — Training
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Programmes

MR B RUE1RB3.1 RUFIREEEN(NMBRAEEE +REEE)IINZIEERD BRIUEI-EIEE
Je, @

2023 FEHE o BAESHERERLT 99



100

oooo

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREGRSE

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs
TEEE  EBH -
— R ERE RS
KPIB3.2

Description

MR i

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

RSRANUIE1ER3.2 RIERI R BB ERIE D

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

» BAER A FRE -

[EmEB4 : TR

Section/Declaration

Development and Training - Training
Programmes
pEYEEE e

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

General Disclosure

Labour Standards

—RBE BABIEETREHSTIH : BT AR
@ HE: K
(b) BEFHETABEATENEBERREM
HER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child  Labour Standards — Prevention of
and forced labour. Child and Forced Labour
R BIEEBRAN e RREPINEEASRET RRHIZT - BTHER-FIEETRAEHESET
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when  Labour Standards - Prevention of

discovered.

RAsAE IR 1RBA.2 W EERERBENERERERMRRN SR o

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

fEEBS : fERER

Child and Forced Labour
BTER-FFIEET REHISET

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply

chain.

Supply Chain Management

—fR%E ERHERNRE R ERARBE fHRegEE R

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management

M B UE1RBS. 1 BRI DOHEEHE - R ER

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of ~ Supply Chain Management
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

MR B RUE1RB5.2 WO AREAMEANEN  MERTABENINHERHE - Ak HEBEER
A TRERRE o

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social ~ Supply Chain Management — Supply
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and Chain Environmental and Social
monitored. Risk Management

Mg EUIE1EB5.3 A BRI ERSERAORERMGRROES - RBRHR HEREE - HERNREILE
TRESRE- EfRER
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs
TEEE - B@ -
—REERBREE
KPI B5.4
BIREIRIERS 4

MR

oooo
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Description

st

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

W EREHERR LS ARRERKRENHE -
REZFE o

AR ABEEAT

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

ETEB6 : EmMEE

RIR - HERERHRS

Section/Declaration

5,89

Supply Chain Management —
Promoting Environmentally
Preferable Products and Services

HERER - RZARRERK
PR

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

Product Responsibility

—MRIE BRMREERMRENRELRLZE - BE  REMMEFEULE EmEE
HOE -
@ BE: Rk
b) BFHETAREATENBRERRAD
AR -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for  Product Responsibility — Quality
safety and health reasons. Assurance

FIR A RUE1RB6.1 EEXEERERAHTRL 2 RREFIEMMALKNA DT ERET-EERE

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how  Product Responsibility— Quality
they are dealt with. Assurance

RIS IB A HR1RB6.2 REMNERRRBNRFEE AREHTE - ERET-EERAE

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting  Product Responsibility - Intellectual
intellectual property rights. Property Rights

MG EIE1ER6.3

s L REREE RN E -

EmAE—MBERE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility — Quality
Assurance
MR EBIRIZR6.4 S BT RE R ERCKERT o ERET-EERAE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how  Product Responsibility — Privacy and
they are implemented and monitored. Data Security
MR B RUE1RB6.5 i EEEERIRE RALBECK - URBERITRERLE - EREE-BLLEELSE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TEER - BH-

—-REERBRERER H4d

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[EEB7 : RES

General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption
(@) the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

—MRIE BRV LR - R - BHEEROAREMN R&S
(@ BER: kK
b) BETHETAREATENREEIRD
HOEH o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought  Anti-corruption

against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

MR B UE1RBT 1 RERANHBETASEESREVEEENE) THARMNAER RES
FARER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures, — Anti-corruption — Preventive
how they are implemented and monitored. Measures, Whistleblowing
Mechanism
MR EMIRIRRT .2 faat by & R BRI MR RERAE - RE)5— B - R
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. ~ Anti-corruption — Preventive
Measures
MR B RUEIRBT .3 HRESRE TRENREFE R&S—TEF

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEBS : HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the ~ Community Investment
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities' interests.

— MR BHEUMER2ERTREEMEMESTENRREAZETHSEEL  HERE
B F 2 ABUR ©
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, ~ Community Investment — Corporate
labour needs, health, culture, sport). Social Responsibility
BRENIEIZBS EIEREE(NHE BESH 415k BFR UL -BF). HERE-GEHEEFR
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment — Corporate
Social Responsibility
PIRIENIRIERS.2 EETHEMBHAER(INeRNKH) - HERERE-CEMSEE
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERS

The Board submits herewith this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2023.

COMPANY INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 18 February 2021 and
was registered as a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) on
7 June 2021. The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange from 15
July 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business during the year, which includes
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the
Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, particulars of important events influencing
the Group, an indication of likely future developments in the
Group's business, and discussion on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance and the relationships with its stakeholders,
can be found in the sections headed “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT",
“MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS”, “CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT"”, “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT” and “INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT”
of this annual report. The review forms part of this directors’ report.

oooo

EXo R HRRIAFRERAEE2023FHF
MR ETHR A MIERE -

ARIER
ARARIR2021F2 A 18BER SR ST A
ENPBR AT - 202166 A7 BIREEE LM
F622E N RN E 1620 M A EE B AR - &
D BE20225F7 158 REFT £ o

TEER
ARABIRREER AR - B AR EREBH
RER A RS BRRMIRE39 ©

O

AEBFAXEBERA(BRASERRZ X EME
BRI EERRZ W - KA EMBRERR
UAKERE N AFEFEAKEEAS
HZFHE  ARBBERIBERBR 2 IEREA
SERBERRMEREAEN R BN S HRERRER
A BN AF R T EHE ] [EEER WA
1 ThEERER®E] [RE  HEREARK
FIMOBLZEENRE |6 - BN WALE
EEHmER D ©
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY BEEE

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the ~AEEBEREHBFEDAMELEUREER
Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from the audited BEZHESRNAFRE224EEF2268 + )
consolidated financial statements, is set out on pages 224 to 226 of ~ Fsk A KEHF AP HERE - I B W TEK L
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited TR A P ERE 2 —3H °

financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND EEBENRE

The consolidated financial results of the Group for FY2023 and the ~ AEEMR2023FH FERGAE T B ELEUAKLARR
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December &R ANE@ PN 2023412 A31 B EHRREN
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and ~ ANFRLGFA BRI EMEEMRAE « R4 85K
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial ~ Jt3&k MAR A B SRR EE38 ©

position and note 38 to the consolidated financial statements of this

annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for ~ZE&TiEHRM2023FFFHRILS -

FY2023.

DIRECTORS ==

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chao (Chairman and CEO) BrRE(EEFEEHTTE)
Ms. Chiu iz

Ms. Lei T4+

Mr. Ng REE
Non-executive Director FHITES

Mr. Li oA

INEDs BNFBITESE
Mr. Man XA

Mr. U REE

Mr. Suen Rt HE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND EEREHRETEERBE
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of each Director and senior management of ARG SEE R SAEEEBNEEFIBENAFE
the Company are set out in the section headed “DIRECTORS AND RIES=NSAEIERE |—6 o
SENIOR MANAGEMENT" of this annual report.

104 BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Chao, Ms. Chiu, Ms. Lei and Mr. Ng, being the executive
Directors, has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date.

Mr. Li, being the non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date.

Each of Mr. Man, Mr. Suen and Mr. U, being the INEDs, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
in writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation and not aware of any
adverse event, the Company considers that all the INEDs are
independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS", no contract of significance was entered into
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during FY2023 or subsisted at
the end of the year and no contract of significance for the provision
of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during
FY2023 or subsisted at the end of the year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have

any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has adopted a Dividend Policy, details of which are
disclosed as follows:

Purpose

This Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines that the
Company will apply when considering the declaration and payment
of dividends to the Shareholders.

Principals and guidelines

The Board adopts the policy that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well
as its Shareholder’s value.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the Shareholders, subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and
regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Company and the Group when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends:

e financial results;

e cash flow situation;

e business conditions and strategies;

e  future operations and earnings;

e  capital requirements and expenditure plans;

e interests of Shareholders;

e any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

e any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

IR EBER
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Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors as set out above, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year
period:

° interim dividend;
e final dividend;
° special dividend; or

e any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’
approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash
dividend or scrip dividend or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

Review of the Dividend Policy

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time
to time.

Annual general meeting

The 2024 AGM will be held on 20 June 2024. The notice of the
annual general meeting will be published and dispatched to
Shareholders in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTERED MEMBERS

The Register of Members will be closed from Monday, 17 June
2024 to Thursday, 20 June 2024, both days inclusive, for the
purpose of determining the identity of members who are entitled
to attend and vote at the Company’s forthcoming annual general
meeting scheduled to be held on Tuesday, 20 June 2024. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all
transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates
and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 14 June 2024.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during FY2023 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
FY2023 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during FY2023 are set out in the consolidated statements
of changes in equity and note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

The Company may pay dividends out of share premium, retained
earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately following
the payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to approximately HK$620.9 million (2022: HK$622.4
million).

BORROWINGS AND GUARANTEE

Details of borrowings from bank and other financial institutions of
the Group as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

During FY2023, the Group had not made any loan or provided any
guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior
management of the Company, the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules).
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 15 July 2022. Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities
during the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 20 June 2022, the Company has conditionally adopted the Share
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is subject to,
the regulations under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to provide selected participants with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company
and to encourage selected participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and the Shares for the benefit of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Share Option
Scheme will provide the Company with a flexible means of either
retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to selected participants.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Company (and to which the provisions
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed
the Scheme Mandate Limit. Options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time
subject to prior Shareholders’ approval. However, the Scheme
Mandate Limit as refreshed shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of the aforesaid Shareholders’ approval. Options
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and other share
option schemes of the Company (and to which the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with its terms or
exercised), shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
limit as refreshed.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed the Individual Limit. Any further grant of options to a
participant which would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such
participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of grant of
such further options exceeding the Individual Limit shall be subject
to Shareholders’ approval in advance with such participant and his
close associates (or his associates if such participant is a connected

person) abstaining from voting.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date, but in all other respects
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of
any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required
in accordance with the provisions of the rules of the Share Option

Scheme.

The amount payable for each share to be subscribed for under
an option in the event of the option being exercised shall be
determined by the Board but shall be not less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant; (i) the average closing prices
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date
of grant (provided that in the event that any option is proposed to
be granted within a period of less than five Business Days after the
trading of the Shares first commences on the Stock Exchange, the
Offer Price of the Shares for the Global Offering shall be deemed to
be the closing price for any Business Day falling within the period
before listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange); and (iii) the

nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.
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Exercise of option

Subject to the terms and conditions upon which such option was
granted, an option may be exercised by the grantee at any time
during the option period, provided that:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

in the event that the grantee (being an employee or a director
of any member of the Group) ceases to be a participant under
the Conditions, the option shall lapse on the date of cessation
of such employment or engagement and not be exercisable
unless the Board otherwise determines in which event the
option shall be exercisable to the extent and within such
period as the Board may determine. The date of cessation of
employment of a grantee (being an employee and who may
or may not be a director of any member of the Group) shall be
the last actual working day on which the grantee was physically
at work with the Company or the relevant subsidiary, whether
salary is paid in lieu of notice or not;

in the event that the grantee dies before exercising the option
in full and none of the events for termination of employment
or engagement under the Conditions with respect to such
grantee, the personal representative(s) of the grantee shall be
entitled within a period of 12 months (or such longer period as
the Board may determine) from the date of death to exercise
the option up to the entitlement of such grantee as at the date
of death;

if a general offer for shares by way of voluntary offer, takeover
or otherwise (other than by way of scheme of arrangement
pursuant to item (iv) below) is made to all the holders of
Shares (or all such holders other than the offeror, any person
controlled by the offeror and any person acting in association
or concert with the offeror) and such offer becomes or is
declared unconditional prior to the expiry date of the relevant
option, the Company shall forthwith give notice thereof to the
grantee and the grantee shall be entitled to exercise the option
to its full extent or, if the Company shall give the relevant
notification, to the extent notified by the Company at any time
within such period as shall be notified by the Company;
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(iv)

(vi)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

if a general offer for Share by way of scheme of arrangement
is made to all the holders of Shares and has been approved
by the necessary number of holders of Shares at the requisite
meetings, the Company shall forthwith give notice thereof to
the grantee and the grantee may at any time thereafter (but
before such time as shall be notified by the Company) exercise
the option to its full extent or, if the Company shall give the
relevant notification, to the extent notified by the Company;

in the event a notice is given by the Company to the
Shareholders to convene a Shareholders’ meeting for the
purpose of considering and, if thought fit, approving a
resolution to voluntarily wind-up the Company, the Company
shall forthwith give notice thereof to the grantee and the
grantee may at any time thereafter (but before such time as
shall be notified by the Company) exercise the option to its full
extent or, if the Company shall give the relevant notification, to
the extent notified by the Company, and the Company shall as
soon as possible and in any event no later than three days prior
to the date of the proposed Shareholders’ meeting, allot, issue
and register in the name of the grantee such number of fully
paid Shares which fall to be issued on exercise of such option;
and

in the event of a compromise or arrangement, other than
a scheme of arrangement contemplated in item (iv) above,
between the Company and the members and/or creditors being
proposed in connection with a scheme for the reconstruction
or amalgamation of the Company, the Company shall give
notice thereof to all grantees on the same day as it first gives
notice of the meeting to the members and/or creditors to
consider such a compromise or arrangement and the grantee
may at any time thereafter but before such time as shall be
notified by the Company exercise the option to its full extent
or, if the Company shall give the relevant notification, to the
extent notified by the Company, and the Company shall as
soon as possible and in any event no later than three days prior
to the date of the proposed meeting, allot, issue and register
in the name of the grantee such number of fully paid Shares
which fall to be issued on exercise of such option.

(iv)

(vi)
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A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of
the grant of an option.

The total number of options available for grant, hence shares
available for issue, under the Share Option Scheme is 50,000,000
which is 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2023 and the date of this annual report.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at Shareholders’ meetings.

As at the date of this annual report, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme is approximately 8.2 years.

No options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2023
and there were no outstanding share options under the Share
Option Scheme during the period from the Listing Date and up to
the date of this annual report. A summary of the terms of the Share
Option Scheme has been set out in the section headed “D. Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Company during FY2023 or subsisted at
the end of FY2023.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed under the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, at no time
during FY2023 was the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt
securities including debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director or any entity connected with
such a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Reporting Year or at any time during
FY2023.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments (including the discretionary bonuses) of the
Directors and senior management of the Company are decided
by the Board with reference to the recommendation given by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individual in the Group are set out in notes 11 and 12
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

For FY2023, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director
or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None
of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for
FY2023.

The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme as
incentive for Directors and eligible employees. Details of the said
scheme are set out under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this annual report and “D. Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus. Except as disclosed above, no other
payments have been made or are payable, for FY2023, by the Group
to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management’s remuneration, on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy, and on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of office or appointment.
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Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group. Further details are disclosed
in the paragraph headed "EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY” under section headed “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty by any of the Directors.

A directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During FY2023, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a
director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters as
disclosed in the section headed “DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS”
in this annual report, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or in existence as at the end of the
year or at any time during FY2023.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
FY2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at the date of this annual report, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be entered in the register kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were
otherwise required, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are set out below:

EERFETHRAERAQFARH
MESEERNRD - HERORER
HPNESRRAR

RAFHRAY  BEFRARRERITHRAERRA
NS EARROAE (E & BB F AR ERDIEXV
BB EIR D - ARBER D R ERERE T R A REES
KRG 5 BIF 352 1A AR R A TR B i
SARBIZETRIB G AR R LB R Fragiss &
IRBEIIINT

Number of  Approximate
Ordinary percentage of

Director/chief executive Nature of interest Shares held  shareholding
Fr¥s A
B FETBAE EEME BEROEAE ERESL
(Note 1)
(BiF3E1)
Mr. Chao (Note 2) Interest in controlled corporation 315,116,750 (L) 63.02%
JB 5 A (PREE2) RESEEE R
Notes: FfaE -

1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. These 315,116,750 Shares are held by Tai Wah. Tai Wah is wholly-
owned by Mr. Chao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chao is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Tai Wah.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had, or were
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

As at the date of this annual report, so far as is known to the
Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following persons,
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, had an
interest of 5% or more in the Shares or underlying Shares:

oooo

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

FTERRREMALTRERTRSG
RAEBROHNERRAR

RAFREE - sEARFAA - AR RIREE
7 KB RHIE336(F BN E LML -
AT AL (BREEHRRFRETHRA BN
SRR P BB 5 %A EROHER ¢

Number of  Approximate
Ordinary percentage of

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held  Shareholding
Fris BA
BREE B8 ERtE TERMEAE BERESL
(Note 1) (Note 1)
(BF&ET) (fF3E)
Tai Wah Beneficial owner 315,116,750 (L) 63.02%
Tai Wah EnEEA
Ms. Wong Pui Fan (Note 2) Interest of a spouse 315,116,750 (L) 63.02%
=W (FRE2) IR £y
DHQ (Macau) (Note 3) Beneficial owner 44,865,000 (L) 8.97%
AEZ R (FsE3) EnEEA
Zhuhai DHQ Group (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation 44,865,000 (L) 8.97%
HERESEE (M) YA B R
Ung Choi Kun Beneficial owner 27,776,000 (L) 5.56%
RIEHE EnEEA
Notes: BT -
1. As at the date of this annual report, the Company issued 500,000,000 1. RAFEFHRAH  &R2QF)E 2 17500,000,0000% i
Shares. The letter (L) denotes the person’s and/or entity’s long position B FROEZALR REBREEBROTH
in the relevant Shares. iE e
2. These 315,116,750 Shares are held by Tai Wah. Tai Wah is wholly- 2. 3% % 315,116,750 i f% {5 £ Tai Wah 5 & ° Tai
owned by Mr. Chao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chao is deemed to be Wahf AL ERERE - BIEEFRIAEKA -
interested in the Shares held by Tai Wah. Ms. Wong Pui Fan is the B % AR AR Tai Wah % B B IR0+ #E A& #
spouse of Mr. Chao and is therefore deemed to be interested in the % o B S LT RELENRS - Bt - RIEFE
315,116,750 Shares held by Tai Wah in which Mr. Chao is deemed to % R HEABGBIEXVED - #AR R Tai Wah#FFE #)
be interested by virtue of Part XV of the SFO. 315,116,750 R IR D R B 2= - AL ERER
3. These 44,865,000 Shares are held by DHQ (Macau), which is a wholly- 3. 3% 544,865,000 J& 15 FA A E GBI )#FH A -

owned subsidiary of Zhuhai DHQ Group. By virtue of the SFO, Zhuhai
DHQ Group is therefore deemed to be interested in the 44,865,000
Shares held by DHQ (Macau).
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Company was not aware of any persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares that were recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest customer accounted
for 12.0% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group's five largest
customers accounted for 40.9% of the Group’s total revenue.

In the year under review, the Group's largest supplier accounted
for 13.1% of the Group's total purchase. The Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 47.4% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, details of significant transactions with its related
parties or transactions undertaken in the normal course of business
are set out in the note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
None of those transactions constitutes a disclosable connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

During FY2023, the Group has not entered into any connected
transactions.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

During FY2023, the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Hong
Kong are required to participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund
in Hong Kong. The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in Macau
and the PRC are members of the government-managed retirement
benefits scheme operated by the local government. The employees
of both Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement
benefits scheme to fund the benefits.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement

benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Board, as at the date of
this annual report, the Company has maintained the public float of
not less than 25% of the issued Shares as required under the Rules
Governing the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events after the end of the reporting
period and up to the date of this annual report that either request
adjustment to the financial statement or are material to the
understanding of the Group’s current position.

DONATIONS

During FY2023, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$0.2 million (FY2022: HK$0.2
million).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management
and independent auditor the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Company and the audited consolidated financial
statements for FY2023.

AUDITOR

Deloitte has been appointed as the auditor of the Company
on 10 November 2023 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of PwC. Deloitte shall hold office until the conclusion of
the following annual general meeting. The consolidated financial
statements for FY2023 were audited by Deloitte, who will retire
at the end of the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Deloitte as the independent auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

For the three years prior to FY2023 and up to the date of this report,
save as the resignation of PwC and the appointment of Deloitte as
the auditor of the Company on 10 November 2023, there has not
been any change in the Company’s auditors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the environmental
and giving back to community and achieving sustainable growth.
The environmental policies and performances and the Company’s
relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and other
that have a significant impact on the Company and on which the
Company’s success depends are discussed in the section headed
“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT" of this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For FY2023, the Company was in compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company in all
material aspects.

On behalf of the Board
Chao Ka Chon
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

iR SCTE: S

Deloitte

To the Shareholders of BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 128 to 223, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a

FRRETEE
F%ﬁ%ﬁ%lﬁ%?fﬁﬁi“mﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁ Y=V
A BRERNEBTAEEMNETE - BREE
qu%IEEAiM*qu%‘&f?EAﬁﬁ“#ﬁzi‘%&ﬁA =
RESERIE o TeHERETETRIZHEREE

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide & °

a separate opinion on the matter.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition for provision of professional IT
services

We identified the revenue recognition for provision of
professional IT services, recognised over time under input
method by reference to the proportion of contract costs
incurred to date to the estimated total costs for each
contract, as a key audit matter, due to management
estimation required in the determination of the estimated
total costs and costs to complete the remaining
performance obligations of the contracts, which impact
the progress towards completion for revenue recognition.

The Group has recognised revenue for provision of
professional IT services of HK$379,227,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023, out of which HK$371,039,000
is recognised over time under input method by reference
to the proportion of the contract costs incurred to date to
the estimated total costs for each contract, as disclosed in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

As set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognises revenue for provision
of professional IT services according to the management’s
estimation of the estimated total costs and costs to
complete the remaining performance obligations of the
contracts. The progress towards completion of revenue
recognition is measured based on the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligations
relative to the estimate total costs to the satisfaction of
those performance obligation.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition for
provision of professional IT services included:

e  Obtaining an understanding of the relevant key
controls over revenue recognition for provision of
professional IT services;

e  Reviewing contract terms, on a sampling basis,
and evaluating whether the basis of the revenue
recognition is in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies;

e Agreeing projects’ contract sum to signed contracts
with customers, on a sampling basis;

e Obtaining an understanding of the process of
developing the management’s estimates on the
estimated total costs, and evaluating, on a sampling
basis, against relevant supporting documents or
evidence;

e Interviewing the project managers, and reviewing
correspondence and/or acceptance by customers to
understand the completion status as well as progress
towards complete satisfaction of selected contracts;

e Comparing the actual cost incurred during the year,
on a sampling basis, to the relevant supporting
documents from subcontractors and suppliers, as
well as the payroll records, to ensure the validity and
accuracy of the contract costs incurred; and

e Testing the mathematical accuracy of revenue
recognised during the year, on a sampling basis,
based on total contract revenue, estimated total
costs, and actual contract costs of selected projects
incurred during the year.

e 2023 ANNUAL REPORT
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chan, Alan.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 30 March
2023.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeRmREMEERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B Z2023F12H31HIFFE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Revenue g 5 717,595 580,833
Cost of sales and services $HE M ARTERCAR (601,948) (480,481)
Gross profit EX 115,647 100,352
Other income EugA 7 8,169 5,692
Distribution and selling expenses DI RIHERX (32,323) (24,567)
Administrative expenses TE R (71,842) (58,614)
Research and development expenses R (10,037) (6,688)
Impairment losses under expected FEEMEEEEEXTH
credit loss model, net of reversal OREEE) B BRI ERE
HEE 8 (453) 991
Other expenses HAbh - (8,616)
Exchange (loss) gain, net b 5 (B8 ) e 558 (885) 379
Finance costs BhE AR 9 (830) (2,253)
Profit before tax BREE AR R 7,446 6,676
Income tax expense FS R 13 (2,944) (3,428)
Profit for the year FREF 10 4,502 3,248
Other comprehensive income His2mEA (%)
(expense)
Item that will not be reclassified to BT EEF HEEEmEE -
profit or loss:
Gain on revaluation of property YIS E (I 710 -
Jtem that may be reclassified R E 7 EE18am A
subsequently to profit or loss: EH :
Exchange differences arising on MEIBINETE PR E £ 8
translation of foreign operation PE N =% (207) (2,442)

Other comprehensive income (expense) FREAZ2E U A (FIZ)

for the year 503 (2,442)
Total comprehensive income FREZEBALEE
for the year 5,005 806

128 BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



oooo

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
freEnREMEEBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:

2023
20234

HK$'000
TR

AT EIAREFREN(ER) :

2022
20224
HK$'000
FBTT

Owners of the Company RATHEB A 4,502 3,252
Non-controlling interests IR i R - (4)
4,502 3,248
Total comprehensive income (expense) A FEIEfELGZEKA(FBI)
attributable to: #azE -
Owners of the Company KABER A 5,005 810
Non-controlling interests E el T - (4)
5,005 806
HK cents HK cents
I L
Earnings per share FRAEF 14
— Basic —HRK 0.90 0.78
- Diluted — 8 N/ATERA 0.78

2023 FEHRE o BHEBEZRHBERLAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BN R

As at 31 December 2023

FR2023F12H31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FExT FBT
ASSETS BE
Non-current Assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WEKEE 15 9,332 14,861
Investment property B 16 4,939 -
Right-of-use assets PHEEE 17 10,088 11,398
Intangible assets B EE 18 776 1,582
Deferred tax assets RIETIEEE 19 1,567 1,379
Finance lease receivables RbE T & IR 20 9,941 8,736
Contract assets BHEE 21 7,352 8,669
Financial assets at fair value through BAFERAER
profit or loss (“FVTPL") (MEAFETTAERE])
W RMEE 109 -
Deposits and prepayments e RTENHIA 23 29,617 18,585
Contract costs A KIPRAR 24 - 36
73,721 65,246
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories L= 22 21,928 56,569
Deposits, prepayments and other e - TENFRIE R E A EU
receivables FIA 23 65,936 57,013
Contract costs BHIKAR 24 3,901 2,826
Finance lease receivables RIEHE R IE 20 6,484 5,301
Contract assets BHEE 21 148,594 79,818
Trade receivables g S WA 23 179,906 147,447
Tax recoverable AI EF IR 883 -
Amount due from non-controlling FEU IR AR M 2 SR IR
interest 25 - 4
Pledged bank deposits EHEAIRITIFR 26 53,317 53,317
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEED 26 28,733 105,519
509,682 507,814
Total Assets BEMAEE 583,403 573,060
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBANRE
As at 31 December 2023
R2023F12H31H

2023 2022
20235 20224

HK$'000 HK$°000

FH FET

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EZREE
Capital and Reserves EXRR #E
Share capital [i&N 27 5,000 5,000
Share premium and reserves A5ty i (B I (b 1 331,028 326,023
Equity attributable to owners of the RARES AEGER
Company 336,028 331,023
Non-controlling interests IR - —*
Total Equity fERAAEE 336,028 331,023
Non-current Liabilities kFRBAE
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 4,018 5,511
Contract liabilities AHAaE 30 2,807 3,503
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEE 19 1,224 -
8,049 9,014
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAME IR 31 190,942 135,553
Contract liabilities ERBE 30 26,678 84,735
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 7,139 6,647
Tax payable FESBIIE 3,515 6,088
Borrowings B 32 11,052 -
239,326 233,023
Total Equity and Liabilities HBEZREE 583,403 573,060

* Less than HK$1,000.

* D EM,00008 7T °

The consolidated financial statements on pages 128 to 223 were 128 E223H M4 A B 53R KR 2 MR 20244E3 A
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 26 A& EEEH ENRFRETIZ  WHTIES

March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: REK=Z
CHAO KA CHON CHIU KOON CHI
ARE HEZ
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
pey e B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

Attributable to owners of the Company
FATREARY -

Share Share  Capital Legal Other Revaluation  Exchange  Retained Sub-  controlling
capital  premium  reserves  reserve  reserve  [feserve  reserves profits total interest el

Kx  ROEE EMEE  iERE EfffiE EXRE REEN Nt FBRER @it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Thr Thr  TEr  TEx TT Thr  Thn T BT ThL ThT
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(sr) (W)

At 1 January 2022 H2002%181A - 48101 1,024 12 (36,39) - 66 156,078 168,883 - 168,883
Profit (loss)for the year ERgr(BR) - - - - - - - 325 325 W 38
Exchange differences arising on A SN EBFEES

translation of foreign operation B Z% - - - - - - (2,442 - (2442) - 2.442)

Total comprehensive (expense) FR2E (B%) KA
income for the year g - - - - - - (2442) 3252 810 4 806

Sharesissued pursuant tothe BB B TETH

Capialisation lssue (Note d) Tl (Ff5£4) 375 3750 - - - - - - - - -
Shares issued under the Global ~ BEZKEEETH

Offring (Note 5 RA(H:ES) 1250 133750 - - - - - - 1300 - 13500
Transaction costs attributable o EAEERHAA

shares - (12,661) - - - - - - (12,661) - (12,661)
Capital injection from non- FERERTE

controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 4 4
Derecognition of redemption K HERTER A

liabilty - 2,593 - - 36,398 - - - 38,991 - 38,991
At 31 December 2022 H2002%12A318 5,000 168,033 1,024 12 - - (2376) 159330 331,03 - 3103
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A18 5000 168,033 1,024 12 - - (2376) 159330 331,023 - B3
Profit for the year ERgT - - - - - - - 4,502 4,502 - 4502
Gain on revaluation of property M1 EfElE - - - - - 710 - - 710 - 70
Exchange differences arising on BN EFTEES

translation of foreign operation ~ EX 2% - - - - - - (207) - (207) - (207)

Total comprehensive income ~ EA2ERA(BX)
(expense) for the year 45 - - - - - o (207) 4,502 5,005 - 5,005

At 31 December 2023 R203%12A318 5000 168,033 1,024 12 - 0 (2583) 163832 336,028 - 336,028

132 BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RAERRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
EE2023F 12431 HIFFE

Capital reserves represent the paid-in capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the reorganisation prior to the listing of the shares of the Company on 15 July
2022.

In accordance with Macau Commercial Code, companies limited by quotas
incorporated in Macau should set aside a minimum of 25% of the entity’s profit
after tax to the legal reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches a level
equivalent to 50% of the entity’s capital.

Other reserves are attributable to the ordinary shares issued on 23 March 2021
of 834 shares to Da Heng Qin (Macau) Limitada with redemption rights. Such
redemption rights were lapsed upon the listing of the shares of the Company on
15 July 2022.

On 15 July 2022, the Company issued 374,988,858 shares at par value of
HK$0.01 each to the then shareholders, by way of capitalisation of an amount of
approximately HK$3,750,000 to the credit of the share premium account of the
Company (the “Capitalisation Issue”).

On 15 July 2022, the Company issued a total of 125,000,000 ordinary shares
at a price of HK$1.08 per share upon the completion of the global offering (the
" Global Offering”).

FifsE

1. BAREEERAQR/RMNR202247 158 EHRIREE
AUEEN B A RNEHER -

2. RIBPEFIREIEERR RIRPIEMOZBADERSIOD
AAREERRRRNBEERD25%EERERE  EE
FEEBREBIRE N ERBEARS0%HKF -

3. HthREERA2021F3A238#T T AEZE(CRM) AR
AEIMASE R 2 834 LB - HZEEER AR AT
B3 202297 A158 MR -

4. R2022F7R158 - ARRBEBEERNEEEREN
AR 493,750,000 L E AL - [AIERKAREZETT
374,988,858 I F AKX E (E0.01 B LA Ak 0 ([ B A (b 8
1Tl

5. FA20229F7R15H AR BERIREE TR AER
1,087 LM B 153174 ££125,000,0004% & @A% ([ 23R
BED -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FRRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B Z2023F12H31HIFFE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FBT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETEH
Profit before tax B Al a 7,446 6,676
Adjustments for: IR
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHE 871 1,000
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BEMEETE
equipment 5,861 4,329
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 9,103 7,351
Exchange gains, net P& W s F5E (254) (1,042)
Finance costs BhE RN 830 2,253
Impairment losses under expected credit EHEEEERA THREERE
loss model, net of reversal (B EREEEFEE) 453 (991)
Interest income F B A (2,247) (1,264)
Provision for onerous contract B8 A #RHE - 1,893
(Reversal of) write-down of inventories 7 (B ) MR (744) 1,475
Operating cash flows before movements in LEESEYINEERERE
working capital 21,319 21,680
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables B 5 eI (42 00) R A (33,221) 42,584
Increase in contract assets BHVEEEN (66,923) (3,791)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other  FE{FUE - 2% K E b fEWGRIE
receivables N (20,568) (16,968)
Increase in contract costs B KB A IE N (1,075) (2,080)
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERAGEM) 35,441 (28,050)
(Increase) decrease in finance lease receivables F8& 0 & fEUs 0 (3E0) s > (1,895) 12,992
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 I EAth S SRIAIE AN 55,465 3,575
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities EHBEECRD)E N (58,813) 37,336
Cash (used in) generated from operations (R ERE (70,270) 67,278
Income tax paid BATFTSR (5,365) (4,790)
Interest received BUHE 207 872
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING KRESTE(FTA)FBEES RS
ACTIVITIES (75,428) 63,360
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received BUHE 1,257 -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB W% - BiE k& (3,966) (6,377)
Purchases of intangible assets BEEBLEE (65) (189)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BEEREQATEFABENSREE (109) =
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits IR IRITFR 50,000 =
Placement of pledged bank deposits TFABEHRITER (50,000) (50,000)
Repayment from non-controlling interest FEPEAR A 2R R K 4 =
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES R&EFEEFTARE R (2,879) (56,566)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERERE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BV Z2023F 12 A31 HIFFE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES REES

Interest paid ERHE (806) (664)
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS R0A - 135,000
Payment for listing expenses TR ETHAY - (9,918)
New borrowings raised EEMIER 11,097 30,900
Repayments of borrowings BEER - (62,355)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEaE (8,793) (8,104)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES B & EEFEREFE 1,498 84,859

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND

RERBESEEWORD)EM

CASH EQUIVALENTS ] (76,809) 91,653
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT MA1BNRERASEEY

1 JANUARY 105,519 14,485
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNEEREEHTE 23 (619)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R12AMBANRERES

31 DECEMBER ZEY

represented by bank balances and cash BIRTTHHBRIAS 28,733 105,519

2023 FEHE o BAESHERERLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B IR RE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZ2023F12H31HIFFE
1. GENERAL INFORMATION

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its ultimate parent is Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
and is wholly-owned by Mr. Chao Ka Chon (“Mr. Chao").
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section to the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are provision of professional
IT services, managed services, IT equipment leasing, IT
maintenance and consultancy services, and distribution and
resale of packaged hardware and software in Macau, Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

—RER
BHEEZENFEERAR([AQTA ] ERS
HEFMK L AERRERAR - R
EXBERSGHERAT([HBRAA]) L
m o HEEAF]ATai Wah (BVI) Holdings
Limited + AR R EBE LB S FMK
v HmAREEE(TAEE])2EHRE -
RN EE R EEE MBS
EAFRATER —ENIFE -

AR BTEERAR - EMBARMNE
EEBRIVEM BERTEARKLNE
(THE DREFXETRS  FEERS - TR
BHE - MEERERRSE - UEDHRE
SERBEF RIS -

RAEMBmERABIT(EIT]) 25 HIF
RANRAININEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

New and amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to IFRSs for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

IFRS 17 (including the June 2020  Insurance Contracts
and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IAS 8
Amendments to IAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform - Pillar Two
model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

RS I TS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2023
B 22023F 12531 HIFF/E

JE PR 5T B8 e R e o 22 B ([ R
MRS E 2R ) REBRT A

PA 7N 6F 2 58 1 A SK Y 3T RT B PR B 7
E A R HASET A

RAFE  AEBEEBEXERATIRASE
E742023F 1 A1 BFAAAFE HE RS &
MBI FTET BIRR B 5 s 5 2B R R EAS AT AN -
ARBUR A B ISR

BB REERNE17%  RREY
(BEER I BREER
F1758202056 A %
2021512 AMIERTA)
Bl e ERAESR(ETA) EFfiENTE
Bl e R R 2125, REE-RHEBEE
(1BFIK) REEZEERE
Bl R R 2125, BB B S E - =
(1BFIK) ERA
BElResEAE IR RER S BRORE
B ERERAE
EVEACCHENY

BRI E SN - RANE E AT AR
EATBERMBREEN T EHAREERA
FERBEFENUBMRRRLZR R,
HZERAMBERRABNOEEBRERY

2 .
=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BT IS SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FER¥:TEIMRE &M E 28| ([E

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS ("l FRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(continued)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to

MR R EER ) REST A m

RAEE RS R TR B35
WEZE R R HASRT &R (|

2.1 EFEBEEERIF 1255 (155T

IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments narrow the scope of
the recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of IAS 12
Income Taxes so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i) the Group has applied the new accounting policy
retrospectively to leasing transactions that occurred
on or after 1 January 2022; and

(i) for leasing transactions in which the tax deduction
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group also
recognised a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible
and taxable temporary difference associated with
right-of-use-assets and lease liabilities.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group's financial position and performance.

K)KEE-XEEHEERE
BEZELFH RN

AEBEERAFEERERAZE
ZIERTHEEBRBR T ERF 125 MF
P15 M 2ABURE IR & B MR
HEEZERHLHRE  EEIEE
PR 4] 86 T SR By E A AR 5 JE AR TR %
AHREREREIRS -

RIBBIE R :

() ZAEECHEHLFTEKRBYER
R2022F1 1B 2 83 4£ T
BEXS &

(ih HRAEBEEEmELETERL
MBERS  AEE T EER
REENHERBRBENMER
RN FE AR T B 5 = RR R R ST
8T8 A B (i FE AR B¢ g I 1R 7T BE
WA R 3 B R 0B R R R AT
A SRER IR RS

& PR "% & 7] 7N S 7R S 1 o0 B 755 A0 B
RAVEBEBATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("|FRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments
to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies
The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses
to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the "Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added
to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting
policies set out in note 3.

RS I TS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2023
B 22023F 12531 HIFF/E

2. [E AR BIRR B A R 5 22 Al ([ Bl
MR EER ) REST A m

A F E R & R T BB B 3%
WEZE R R HASRT &R (@)

2.2 BB E R E 155 R E R
BIBREEREFR AN EF25 (15
HE ) -0 & 0844084
AEBERAFEERERAZSE
T o B LRSS 1R BHRE L 2
FHSET A EA R S EE SR IR
[TEBeHBE AT ZHAEBR -
MEeH R AN RE R RRAE
H Gk — £ B > A IETES
SYERANBREANTIBSHEREL
REZEMBBRIEL ZRE © BIZE
HBEEHBERX -

ZEERIATER - BEBBHIAL
TEAN EHRERRS - HiFER
RN E - REFTERRER AT
BEX - AW LIFMAEREAR
5 HEEIMNE @2 @5t R
ERAGBEK - W—HEREER
BIFEASTHRESR - ABEEHR
TEREENGHHRES -

B B S ERER ARG 25RIF
EXRMEHE(TEBHEQE ) MEER
PAFEA — R B B Al i [ 1 2 ARHEE
RMRIE ARG 5T R IE KA
BT RRNENEEMBERER
TEBEK - BERAECDIEMEEER
KED -

FERZFET TS HAEBET NN
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2023 FEHE o BAESHERERLT

139



140

oooo

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BT IS SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS ("l FRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments
to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (continued)

Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Venture'

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1
Non-current?
Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to !

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

2. [ERET BIRR R A R 5 22 Al ([
MR R EER ) REST A m

RAEE RS R TR B35
WEZE R R HASRT &R (|

2.2 EHEBE T E R E 155 R E R
BIBREERER AN EF25 (15
HE -0 & 4:084 0k 1C. )
B AB 18 18 K £ 3 19 B L B 7 3R
ERIEET A
AR B E AR AN T B B MR
KA BB B T 3RS MBS ET AN

EREEREERE105
KBS ERIE28%

RAFEABENT
FAREEZEN

CHES) BEHERIA

BRVBRSEAR6E  EREDNEERE

CHES)

AR RS R(ETR) RAENEARDR
L/

B ERSR(BA) ARRHNFERD
B
HEmRERR

BRI B TR
AR B REENETS
CHES)

AR e EENRBTR) RZALAE

MARFE H Bk H AR R S E HAf &

be determined »

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 R2024F 1 R1BR 2 ERABHEE
2024 BRI AR

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 20251 A1 Bk 2 & FRBBFE
2025 HARE A

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of amendments to IFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

RS I TS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2023
B 22023F 12531 HIFF/E

3. FEMBBRREASTHERE

3.1 BAMEERNFEREE

RAEVMBHRRERERE S ERE
ZERMNBRPBREERRE
ARG EMBRERME - HWEBE
HeERfer 8T E2RMEFELN
RE - RBBERBEREBSEK - it
S IRAMBRRBEERMERS
FrERARES EMARA(T EWR
R ) BB R BMEDIRE HE R R
FIH -

ARRESEHARA HHERE
ABFEHREEETERN KRS B
WE B - Fit - NEREA
BSREE - RSB RS ETS
EHEE -

3.2 EXBBERER
LERE
NN E Bl WS NI N = P NN
N BB B R a6 ) F R A B 7S R
K o WMARBFTAUTIEGE » BIRRA
TEETEHIHE -

o HHRERBEHRITEES

. FASAREYUREBHARTE
RN AR L E AR

s BENEREBHNFERDRE -

= E MERBR EXFIEG#E=

BRAEPH—BARA L TR HRE

8 AAKEEENFHEHREY
R IEEESIRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Z4HBHERBEEASHBESE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

B A iR BLEZE )

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFBERER @

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

F=P-21¢

B AN AEBEERSEBHE QA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IRk EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2023F 1231 HIFFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #REMKBRREAEHEEE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL B REZE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 ERSHBEER @
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued) WE . BERREE)
If a property becomes an investment property because WYERATEBBRSBEENE - MK
its use has changed as evidenced by end of owner- BINEYE - BiZEERNERAS Y
occupation, any difference between the carrying amount BEmEEAANFTEZENESEREMmS
and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer BEWABILANEEEERNES - H
is recognised in other comprehensive income and BHESNREEZYER - HEEGE
accumulated in revaluation reserve. On the subsequent S B TR F o
sale or retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.
Revenue from contracts with customers HREEFESHLINE
Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating NEBEBERPAYNNSHKERE
to contracts with customers is provided in note 5. BRIEAMEES o
Investment property REY)E
Investment property is property held to earn rentals. 1B YEAZFEEABEES Y -
Investment properties are initially measured at cost, BN SRR AN (B IEEEENE
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent YEE o VIIATERIE - WEYEE A
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured EHEEAE  KABREABIEEETEN
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued o BETEETAS A -
operating lease income.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of BEYENTEEHEL NS
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the Bt AR EAS R RIES o

period in which they arise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #&
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

IR RRERSTBRE
B mEEE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFBERER @

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, contract costs
and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful
lives and contract costs to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.

WE BMERRE RHAEER
B aXEARELEERE
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W% -~ BFEN&E - EREEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IRk EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2023F 1231 HIFFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #REMKBRREAEHEEE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL B REZE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 ERSHBEER @
(continued)
Impairment on property, plant and W HBERRE FHESZ
equipment, right-of-use assets, contract costs E BRI EEEERE
and intangible assets (continued) (1)
Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for EAREERERRERELERFES
assets capitalised as contract costs under IFRS 15 Revenue BERARPANNKSBENMLEE
from Contracts with Customers, the Group assesses and MR EEIEER AE NIRRT » A&
recognises any impairment loss on other assets related [ 38 B X R EL (S M e R (T R ER AR 8
to the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable ANEBANEMEERBEERE - B
standards. Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets B (HBRTE(E RN B 78 B UL ERUA
capitalised as contract costs is recognised to the extent BREEBE RS REO R B4RER IR
the carrying amounts exceeds the remaining amount #HiZEE QSR EEEEMNRA(H
of consideration that the Group expects to receive in KERAERY) A& EERR
exchange for related goods or services less the costs BERB(INE)EREBAENKAK - EA
which relate directly to providing those goods or services A XA BB AR B BEE fE B R AL (G 4R
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets BISEASEMREmMST AEREBY
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the RS ESEMZEREE o
carrying amount of the cash-generating unit to which
they belong for the purpose of evaluating impairment of
that cash-generating unit.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs AJ U Bl 4 28 T A FER E HE R A%
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, HeERFEEEEMETHERSE -
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their EHEFEREER - MitRAKREBEE R
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects ECHHAGRMATAEIE RN EHIT
current market assessments of the time value of money B ZG T AR IR K PE I M ¥ BB
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating BEENE TSGR EE (R
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have SEABMN)EANERR (GRETEHEZEA
not been adjusted. BRFRAEFTARRIRERE) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Z4HBHERBEEASHBESE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

B A iR BLEZE )

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFBERER @

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, contract costs
and intangible assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a specific
identification method or weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to
the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IRk EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B FE2023F 12731 HIFFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEMBHRRREAGTBRE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL R REE )
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 ERSHBEER @
(continued)
Cash and cash equivalents BeRESZEY
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated R EBRARKE2INNIRES LIRS
statement of financial position include: =By aE
(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand @) IREeL BIEFBERSEIHT
deposits; and 7Rk
(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (b) RELEHEY - BIFATEIEA
(generally with original maturity of three months A=EASATAER LB AD
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily MYZEIRSMEH S REEIRE
convertible to a known amount of cash and which (ZEREFEmENEEEZEEHA
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value I AEKR)  ARARTEH
and restricted deposits that are held for meeting HEAEMBEENIEEIFR -
short-term cash commitments. Cash equivalents are BEHSEEBYNENREREE
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash HAIR £ A&E  MARIRE R E M
commitments rather than for investment or other BH) o
purposes.
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash MEAREREXRNS  BHeLBES
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash EEYBTFE FXARETHE S LIRS
equivalents as defined above. EEY) o
Taxation g
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and TS X ERN A R EIEFT SR X
deferred income tax expense. THAFN o
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the BNERFE N R IB Jh AR I8 (N FE R 7 % A
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because HE o PN HEHMEE EERR A HR
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in MU A SRS - LA HZER R s A a]
other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. HUBIE B - SE R % A B R B A g
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax FAE - REBENEARIEAERA
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by RIREBARO BB E BHA T =X
the end of the reporting period. HE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Z4HBHERBEEASHBESE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

B A iR BLEZE )

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFBERER @

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IRk EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B 22023F 12531 HIFF/E
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. SZEMEBRREEASHBKRE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BLAYm B % )
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 ERSHBEER @
(continued)
Taxation (continued) HE (#)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing Tt EXNEERRAFEREEE LEH
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of- HEEENHEXRSNELEREM
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first = AEEFELEETHREHBELE
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to ANEREEENBERRE -
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are HRBENRGERENEEREZHEE
attributable to the lease liabilities, ultimate costs incurred 5 AR B I1E BB E A R AR K
for provisions for restoration the Group applies IAS 12 N REFEBEERSHERE 129218
requirements to the lease liabilities, the provisions for ENREANEERRE BEEEN
restoration and the related assets separately. The Group BEEE AEERREBEEAES
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities FARIEIETITEEE - MELAR BT FE
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will REOHAN BEEE IR ERE A
be available against which the deductible temporary PR WEtPr A E R B A = 2B IR IE
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all EFTEB R -
taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there HEAEHITEMNIGE R IBEE
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets EABNHEARI B B A - BEARE—
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to BB mE — 2 TR e RH
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the BEE  BELEHRBEELREGENR
same taxation authority. HEHEES o
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, ENER IR IERI B A IB 2P 1EsR » 1R
except when they relate to items that are recognised in REMEEWASEENERERY
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which BB HEBERBRI  REERT - BNEA
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised FIEEMBEBII D BN E2mmig A
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity BHERERPRER o
respectively.
Employee benefits 1ES &7
Retirement benefit costs BIERE A
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the mEEE THREIERERE([#’
“MPF Scheme”) for staffs in Hong Kong, retirement EestE )  hEEIMEKRSE
pension schemes for staffs in the PRC and central social NORPIE TH)F Rt & RERT BIVE L
security scheme for staffs in Macau are recognised as an MR EE TERERSEmEE
expense when employees have rendered service entitling ESHTERRARY -

them to the contributions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Z4HBHERBEEASHBESE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

B A iR BLEZE )

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFBERER @

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 Leases
at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IRk EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE2023F 1231 HIFFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #REMKBRREAEHEEE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL B REZE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 ERSHBEER @

(continued)

Leases (continued) HE &)

The Group as a lessee (continued) KEFIELSAEN ()

Right-of-use assets EREEE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes: FREEENRANBE

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease o HEGBEHNYLHESLSE:
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the o KR HEIS Y BIFTERY (TR
commencement date, less any lease incentives ENZ O REMEBHTAMAESR
received; =

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and o AREBEFMEAKTAYIBEER

NN

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group o ANEFNKRBREBBRIEBEE -
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 1ERBEEEEEE e a0
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring BEEREHENGITRZIELER
the underlying asset to the condition required by the AR T EE AR K A ET o
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any FREEEEREKAREMEITER

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and BEEESS  WHAEa G Tm

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. S EELFAE -

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis PR EERE G EHENEGE T

over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease FRERAE(AREE BE) NI

term. =

The Group presents right-of-use as a separate line item on REFNLG S BTG HRRZE ¥ A

the consolidated statement of financial position. EBEZY AEEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BT IS SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Z4HBHERBEEASHBESE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

B A iR BLEZE )

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFBERER @

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IRk EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. S8 BBERREALHBEE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL A iR BLEZE )
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 ERSHBEER @
(continued)
Leases (continued) HE &)
The Group as a lessor REFES LN
Classification and measurement of leases HENSTEREE
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as REBAEMBAZHEDEAMEK
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of RETHE o & ﬁffl%?ﬂ}i—ﬁﬁﬁﬁé?}gﬁ
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards B REMT S 4B K 2R R K B SR EE R4
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the Z2EMAR  ZA ,Z’jJ'j \*Etj:,wﬁﬁfﬁ
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All o TAEMAERNDEACLHAE

other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are BT & T & WA A RIERF
recognised as receivables at commencement date at MBBERAEKTE  HeEER
amounts equal to net investments in the leases, measured FAEFINE  WEFERESERSHHE
using the interest rate implicit in the respective leases. SHRHE AEBEATSH LA
Initial direct costs for leases in which the Group is the AMZERE NG EERARRE
dealer lessor are recognised in costs of sales at the AEREBBERANERE o 78
commencement date of the finance leases. Interest WA DR E e HIR - J,/{&Eg%z]g’i
income s allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect BEEBHHEENKREEFLENET

a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net AU ZE R o

investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in ETRE 7 RS WA TR A BT LA
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the BHAENBERPHER - E T
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating BHEEENVIBEEERKA st AH
and arranging an operating lease are added to the HEEMNEmE  WEZERANUHE
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are GEENHERNER AR Y  HUAA
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the FEEBRENIREMEBIBRIN

lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Refundable rental deposits TEBHERS

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted BN AR e A SRS TR s F
for under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. B3R HE B 55958 A B IR A F(E Y]
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are FetE o NYIFHERRFHN A FERAE
considered as additional lease payments from lessees. BEE AR AWERSEINEE R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BT IS SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Z4HBHERBEEASHBESE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

B A iR BLEZE )

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFBERER @

(continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, deposits,
amount due from non-controlling interest, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances) and other items (including
contract assets and finance lease receivables) which are
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

RS I TS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2023
B 22023F 12531 HIFF/E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BT IS SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. Z4HBHERBEEASHBESE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

B A iR BLEZE )

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

3.2 EREFBERER @

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BT IS SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(continued)

(ii) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(continued)

(iv) Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables and contract assets using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BT IS SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For finance lease receivables, the cash
flows used for determining the ECL is consistent with
the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with IFRS 16.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and certain
contract assets are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire ,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre B AE SRR EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZ2023F12H31HIFFE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue recognition from provision of
professional IT services

Revenue from professional IT services is recognised over
time under input method according to the progress towards
completion of each individual contract, which is measured by
reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred to date
to estimate total costs. The recognition of contract revenue
requires significant management judgement and involves
estimation uncertainty. Estimated costs mainly comprise
material costs, subcontracting charges and project staff costs.
In order to ensure the total estimate costs are accurate and up
to date such that contract revenue can be measured reliably,
management reviews the estimate total costs, costs incurred
to date and costs to complete the remaining performance
obligations for each contract regularly and revises the estimate
total costs when necessary. As such, the increase or decrease in
estimate total costs results in the adjustments to the progress
towards completion and the corresponding amount of revenue
recognised in the period.

HREMBEBRREREASTHERE
B mEEE @)

3.2 EREFBERER @
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(CREEESES:NESE L

UTERBERRBARRNEIERR
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BRITRAT ZRENE SRS EBE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables, finance
lease receivables and contract assets

Trade receivables, finance lease receivables and contract assets
with significant balances and credit-impaired are assessed for
ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on certain trade receivables and contract assets which are
not assessed individually using a collective basis. The provision
rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration the Group's historical default
rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables,
finance lease receivables and contract assets are disclosed in
note 34.

e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

A TABEENEEZRR @

EZEWHE  MEREERKE
RENEENEREEBERRE
ABBEAGEHEDREEREDE S EKR
OB MEAMEEWHKERANEERES
TR E A -

AN RETREBTEHNE 5 EUKEKIEA
RAERNEE  AEERBEHEEEEA
SREEQAMGEHEENEERE - &
BEAZBREFANRRSEE  XEE
AEBHELZORNER N HEINKA
BN A EEHEIE R R A AT
EE - MNEBEEHY  TERNBEED
KGEHNE - Wt RAEEERNES) -

BMEERERER XA EINT
2 FHBENEEER A5XEEZREK
FE - BMEHERUKEARAGNEENE
S EENHFES -

REVENUE g
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Revenue from contracts with customers KB & F & LRI 707,172 580,134
Lease income from IT equipment ITERAEFTSHE WA 10,423 699
Total st 717,595 580,833
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R B S SRR GE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () EFENkEsE
with customers

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFEIT FAT
Types of goods or services Em AR E Bl
Enterprise IT solutions EITHRAT R
Professional IT services (Note) FHZETHRE (FIFE) 379,227 262,606
Managed services LB R 27,715 24,255
IT maintenance and consultancy IT#EE & R A ARTS
services 49,235 69,937
456,177 356,798
Distribution and resale DIEREE
Distribution o= 123,372 143,879
Resale BE 127,623 79,457
250,995 223,336
Total Bt 707,172 580,134
Note: An amount of HK$371,039,000 (2022: HK$259,790,000) MsE © 371,039,000 # JT ( 2022 F
included under professional IT services is recognised over 259,790,000 7% 7T ) 5 A B HITAR
time under input method by reference to the proportion of % - IBIRE A ER — BRI A
contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total costs. R IEBELLSEENE NG
it R AR LB
An analysis of the Group’s revenue by timing of AEERBITBRAEENRKHESISH
satisfaction of performance obligation is as follows: Was T T -
2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Timing of revenue recognition g dia
A point in time RE 2, 266,690 236,010
Over time R—BREER 440,482 344,124
Total #t 707,172 580,134

164 BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



oooo

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS I TS ERERA
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE
5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WEm
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () BEFEHANKED B @
with customers (continued)
Geographical markets 2 77 %
The following table sets out the Group's revenue TREVNEAEBLCEMERR
from external customers by geographical location as EFAEEEMES DN AEERE
determined by the country/region of domicile which the HNEBE P NS o AN E IR A IR
Group operates. The geographical location of revenue UEENRHRENEENYIRLE
of the Group is based on the physical location of assets IRNEMHLE °

through which the services were provided or the location
at which the goods were delivered.

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET T

Macau JEPY 439,577 371,078
Hong Kong B 145,550 167,944
The PRC s 122,020 41,112
Others Hi 25 -
Total 4@t 707,172 580,134
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RS BT IS SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

5. W=
(i) EEAHNNBHREERKERE

customers and revenue recognition policies

Revenue from provision of professional IT
services

The Group provides multiple deliverables to customers,
including network configuration, assessment of system
specifications and requirements, procurement and delivery
of packaged hardware and software, installation of
equipment and software, and technical support services
under fixed price contracts. These multiple deliverables
are collectively accounted for as a single performance
obligation when the Group provides an integrated service.

The Group recognises revenue from provision of the
integrated service over time as its customers control the
asset being created or enhanced arising from the Group’s
performance. Revenue is recognised over time under
input method, which is by reference to the proportion of
contract costs incurred to date to estimate total costs for
each contract.

Estimates of costs or extent of progress towards
completion are revised if circumstances change. The
progress towards completion of revenue recognition
is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of the performance obligation relative
to the estimate total costs to the satisfaction of those
performance obligation. The increase or decrease in
estimate total costs results in the adjustments to the
progress towards completion and the corresponding
amount of revenue recognised in the period in which the
circumstances that give rise to the revision become known
by management.

Upon the completion of the integrated service, the
Group may provide further provision of IT maintenance
and consultancy services to the customers mainly
includes post-sales on-site maintenance support and
technical support services which is considered as separate
performance obligations. Such revenue is recognised over
time on a straight-line basis over the period of services as
the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance.

BBUR
BREBXITRE R Y=

AEEREFPRHZER MM B
WEEE  ZGRERERFE K
BLRINERREREMN RERME
R A RARIBR B E (EIR & ARt
MZFRT - ZEZBRIMMARR
AEBERHEGRE RBEARIEE—
BRELE -

ARG B R A SR B R 40 P B3 R T
BEPEHNEERN —REFHARER
KBRS REOWER - WERE
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LT EENANRNEENANNTG
BECEN= 41
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MER] » TR aE RN ERREAR
SERBETROEEMNENE N
BARENEITZEBAEENME
BB E - hEHERARIE IR
LEYHTTEEELHE - BAE
Was BN EE BN EHARIER]
BT HIRERERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IRk EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
B 22023F 12531 HIFF/E

5. W=
(i) EEAHNNBHRNEERKERE

5. REVENUE (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies
(continued)

Revenue from provision of professional IT
services (continued)

Where the contracts include multiple performance
obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to each
performance obligation based on the relative stand-alone
selling prices. Where these are not directly observable,
they are estimated based on expected cost plus a margin
approach.

The Group also separately provides its customers with
software development services where the Group will
customise the software based on the user requirements of
the customers. Revenue is recognised at a point in time as
the Group’s customers control the asset only after delivery
to the customers.

Revenue from provision of managed services
The Group leases certain IT equipment to its customers
under finance lease arrangements and renders related
technical support services under fixed price contracts.
Where the contracts include multiple performance
obligations, the Group as a lessor will separate the
components of a contract and the transaction price will
be allocated to each component based on the relative
stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not directly
observable, they are estimated based on the expect cost
plus a margin approach.

Revenue from related technical support services is
recognised in the accounting period when the Group
provides the service and all of the benefits are received
and consumed simultaneously by the customer
throughout the contract period. Therefore, the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue
over time. The Group’s accounting policy as a lessor is set
out in note 3.

The Group also provides its customers with security
monitoring services to protect customers’ information and
data security as well as network operating environment.
The Group applies time based method to measure
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation when the Group has a stand-
ready obligation to make itself available to provide the
services to the customers over a period of time.

FABUR ()
FEREEITIRFE B 25 (%)

HMENBEEZHEENET RPER
REABBIEEIEESBNE
WA ERERES  AIRERA
HIR A I FSE(ERT ©
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1R ERTEE 7Y W 2
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HEEBEBORETERID © i
T EEBRES @ RIRERERHKA
g MEME
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RS BT IS SRR ML

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

5. W=
(i) EEAHNNBHREERKERE

customers and revenue recognition policies
(continued)

Revenue from provision of IT maintenance
and consultancy services

The provision of IT maintenance and consultancy services
mainly includes on-site support and technical support
services provided to the customers and post-sales
maintenance and support services provided by system
vendors under extended warranties.

For revenue from IT maintenance and consultancy services
excluding extended warranties is recognised over time
on a straight-line basis over the period of services as
the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance. The Group
applies time-based method to measure the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation when the Group has a stand-ready obligation
to make itself available to provide the services to the
customers over a period of time.

For extended warranties, the Group acts as an agent as
the Group is not the primary obligor in fulfilling such
additional promises and the corresponding revenue is
recognised on a net basis at a point in time.

Revenue from distribution and resale of
packaged hardware and software as a
separate performance obligation

The Group sells a range of packaged IT hardware and
software. Revenue from distribution or resale of packaged
hardware and software is recognised at a point in time
when sale is completed and control is transferred, being at
the point of time the products delivered to the customer’s
specific location and no unfulfilled obligation could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products. Transportation
and other related activities that occur before customers
obtaining control of the related products are considered as
fulfilment activities.

A receivable is recognised by the Group when the
products are delivered to the customers as this represents
the point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is
required before payment is due.

FBUR (@)

FERITHE & R 2 R 75 19 W 55
RH{THEENEARGIZEEAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE (continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 and the
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

5. W=
(i) REFANBXRZERIET
BTENEME

B ZE2023F 2022F12A318 © e
EHRT(REREIBOARATER)BEHE
AR S B R A T8 585
s

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FBT

Within one year —FR 50,460 19,643
More than one year but not more than 8@ —F{E BB E

two years 19,252 12,249

More than two years R E 8,106 8,173

77,818 40,065

(iv) Leases

During the year, the Group recognised selling profit of
HK$1,643,000 (2022: HK$104,000), being the difference
between revenue and the cost of sales, as a dealer lessor.

(iv) HE
FRN - NEBERHEERF1,643,000
77T (20224 1 104,00077T) - BIE
AR SEEREA - WS EEE KRR
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FE M IF R EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

Information reported to the directors of the Company, being
the chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment focuses on
revenue analysis by products and services. No other discrete
financial information is provided other than the Group'’s results
and financial position as a whole. Accordingly, entity-wide
disclosures, major customers and geographic information are
presented.

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Macau, Hong Kong and
the PRC.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the operations.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets other than
financial instruments and deferred tax assets is presented based
on the physical location of the assets or the location of the
operations to which they are allocated.

7 HREF
AARAER(AEEZERRA([EZEE
BREA D)) 2MAEEITE RS B RFTE
B ERHA B PR E a MRS 1E H a0 ez
i o BRASRB B ERE R BRI -
BEREHEMETMEER - Eit - E2
BERNESRE I2XPIEREF -

& E R
AEE LB RRM - BERFH o

AEBKBINEF U 2 BRHRBE
EEBZY c BRAAKENIERBEE
(ERTAMEEFREERIN ERTY
ERBEEMEYMBUEN RSO REENE
BRREZ7) -

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REIIMBEF Bk FRBEE

2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224F 20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT FET THT
Macau P 450,000 371,777 30,552 22,724
Hong Kong B 145,550 167,944 7,827 5,956
The PRC s 122,020 41,112 10,734 14,948
Others Hip 25 - = -
717,595 580,833 49,113 43,628
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers of the corresponding years

e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BLE20234F 12831 HIFF/E
6. DEPER @
FEEFWER

T RHERFEREEYAEENEKEGEE
BR10% A EROSNERZR P oLk 2R

contributing over 10% or more of the total revenue of the
Group are as follows:

Customer A
Customer B

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FBT
ZEA 86,246 N/ATNE AT
Eg=T 85,601 N/ATNE AT

! The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the 1
total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December

HZE2022F12 8318 ILFEE - HEWS S
AEBBREOERBIAREI0%IAL -

2022.
OTHER INCOME 7. Hk A
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Government grants (Note (i) BT Bh (B REx)) 4,921 2,687
Incentives from vendors for marketing ~ Ft& 5 S BhIL (LB ES R EEE)
events (Note (ii)) (B #¥Gi)) 835 1,636
Interest income on: FBHA -
- bank deposits —RITIFR 1,464 569
— finance lease receivables — B EREK A 586 595
- financing components in relatonto  —EEF AL BFBEHRE D
contracts with customers 197 100
Others HAtb 166 105
8,169 5,692
Notes: BT
()  For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, a city in ()  #ZE2023FKR2022F12 8318 ILFE - &

the PRC, where one of the subsidiaries operates, has granted
conditional financial subsidies, based on the size of the properties
leased, to businesses in the technological sector that are
operating within the designated area for regional growth.

P-ENBARKEERENTRERTER
BEHEMERNRRAEETREKE AN
RITECEREH GO RAHEL - e
ERIER -

(i)  Certain vendors of the Group have agreed to grant certain iy ANEEAETHEFRSXE —THEEIAE
amount of incentives to reward the Group for hosting marketing BhZN 2B SR T 2 E I E S g E
events that promote business activities and opportunities in LIEEBENKE o
relation to their brands.
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FE M ERRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
B 220231231 HILFZ
8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 8. EHIEEFEEXTHRESE
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL (BEREEEFE)
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Impairment losses recognised R (ERE)RBERIS
(reversed) on:
— trade receivables — & ZEW A 620 (1,218)
— contract assets —GHEE (260) 278
— finance lease receivables —BEHERKFUR 93 (51)
453 (991)
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 34. BB EENMIEE34 -
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. RIBRA
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Interest on borrowings Ep7e RS\ 109 664
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 703 472
Interest on financial liability for AIEEE € R A EN S
redeemable rights — 1,091
Other finance costs Eh g & A 18 26
830 2,253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IRk EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BLE20234F 12831 HIFF/E
10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. FRREF

PR FIAEIRR (GHA) AT SR & S

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

HK$'000
FHT

2023
20234

2022
20224
HK$'000
FBTT

Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN &

— Audit services — 1 Z RIS 2,293 2,601

— Non-audit services — I BRT 98 17
Amortisation of intangible assets BB EEH 871 1,000
Cost of inventories sold and services EEFERDRERBH

provided Al X 562,343 443,953
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BE MREITE

equipment 5,861 4,329
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 9,103 7,351
Employee benefit expenses (including  EEWHMAX (BIEEEHE

directors’ emoluments and MR EFIEEIH R0

contributions to retirement benefits

scheme) 112,149 90,221
Expense relating to short-term leases HHHEENRX 175 290
Listing expenses il b3 - 8,616
(Reversal of) write-down of inventories 175 (%[0 ) #iUA (744) 1,475
Provision for onerous contract EE A KRS - 1,893
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FE M ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B 220231231 HILFZ

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S M. EERFETHRAEME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIBEA LR REB R BRI R
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong REEEERTEITHAEFMOT -

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
2023 20234

Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable in

Social security ~ connection

fund, with the

Pension costs  allowances, management

Salaries, - defined and other  of the Group

wages  contribution employee orits

Director'sfee  and bonus plan benefit  subsidiaries

A2 fMe

e REARE

REES. HKELR

e TE BAeHA-  RMREL EEEREN
Ezhe R REMFHE EEEA g st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000
TEn TERL TEn Thn Tén T

Executive Directors Y2

Mr. Chao Bk 120 630 - 2,907 - 3,657

Ms. Chiu Koon Chi ("Ms, Chiu”) #Eeat(#at)) 120 - = = = 120

Ms. Lei Sok Han (“Ms. Lei") FhREnL(%Lt]) 120 592 - m - 982

Mrr. Ng Hong Kei (“Mr. Ng) REERE(REE]) 120 592 - 17 - 889

Non-executive Director *H17ES

Mr. Li Haodong (*Mr. Li") PEREE(%5E]) = = = - = =

Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES

(“INEDs")

Mr. Man Wing Pong (“Mr. Man’”) kAR (k) 180 = = - = 180

Mr Suen Chi Wi (*Mr. Suen") EsRrit(BRL]) 180 - - - - 180

Mr.U Seng Pan ("Mr. U") FHREL(REL)) 180 - - - - 180
1,020 1814 - 3,354 - 6,188

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for FHABTEENHES ABESHERELRAA

their services in connection with the management of the affairs RAEEEBAREREHME

of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown LB TESNNE AESEER

above were for their services as directors of the Company. NRAEEMRERBGHME o
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e B IRk EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BlZ2023F 1231 HIFFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. BEERIETHAEME@
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
2022 20224

Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable in

Social security connection

fund, with the

Pension costs ~~ allowances,  management

Salaries, - defined andother  of the Group

wages  contribution employee or its

Director's fee and bonus plan benefit ~ subsidiaries

fiie

Lk RAi

HK$'000 HK$'000 : HKS$'000
Tén Tén Thx
Executive Directors by
Mr. Chao Bk 64 630 - 2,907 - 3,601
Ms. Chiu el 64 - - - - 64
Ms. Lei 4t 64 592 - 401 - 1,057
Mr. Ng Rk 64 592 - 643 - 1299
Non-executive Director FYTES
M. Li Y3 - - - - - -
INEDs BusynEs
M. Man (Note (i) p&icalip0) % - - - - %
M. Suen (Note () iealin) % - - - - %
M. U (Note () (M) % - - - - %
544 1814 - 3951 - 6,309
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for Pl TEENNS ARSEREIEARAA]
their services in connection with the management of the affairs EAREEEBHBTIRERBEHOEME -
of the Company and the Group.
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown LB IERTTESEAMNE AREEER

above were for their services as directors of the Company. NEEEMIRHREHOEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

11. DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

Mr. Man, Mr. Suen and Mr. U were appointed as the INEDs on
20 June 2022.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any director as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

None of the directors has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
nil).

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors,
and no payments were made to the directors as compensation
for early termination of appointment during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

No consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties
for making available directors’ services during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements
in favour of the directors, or controlled body corporates and
connected entities of such directors during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

Except for mentioned above, there were no significant
transactions, agreements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of the operating
companies were a party and in which a director of the Company
had material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

MNEBERFETHAEMES @

BT -

U]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

A BREEERRIEAENR202296 A20
AEZEABUIFNTES -

REZE2023F12A31HILEFE - REEH
EREMEEFHI - (EARSIEEM

AARER BBl A AN SR 1 1O 2 (20224F
&) -

REZE2023F12A31BILEFE @ HESS
REE kR B E T B (20224 : 4) o

REZE2023F12A31BIHEE - BEEM
BEES R ERTMERARER - TFER
BEEYMEARBEARNKERINE
B(20224F : 4®) »

REZE2023F12A31HILFE © ERE
REESEREMGETE=FRE=ZFRK
HIRB(20224F = &) o

REZE2023F12A318ILEE - HENE
B CEENIZEWEERBEETRE AT
ANER - BERREMR 5L HE(2022
Fom) o

B AT E SN - ARA B Sk R & B A A
BERASEEB UARNGEERES
mEENEZ (TwmEZNME) BERER
2023F 12ANBIEFEFENEARS
WM A H(20224F « 4E) o
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RE M IS ERRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BV Z2023F 12 A31 HIFFE
12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 12. A EEESFMAL

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year FAN - AEERERSFMALTEE %
included one director (2022: one director). Details of whose FEQ00F  —REF) - HEMNNEH
remuneration are set out in note 11 above. Details of the PR ESCHIFETT « FAN - 2T H (2022
remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2022: four) F B EaTMEES (WHEARTES

highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief REETHAB)NBMESFENT -

executive of the Company are as follows:

2023 2022
2023F 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Salaries, wages and bonuses e TERDA 2,090 1,734
Sales commission expenses HEMESRX 2,676 6,515
Pension costs — defined contribution plan 3R KS B AR — FE R 2 36 18
Social security fund, housing and other # 2{REEE S  FEREM
employee benefits BB @A 467 468
5,269 8,735
The number of the highest paid individuals who are not the eBATSHENIFARTEENES 5
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the A B AT -

following bands is as follows:

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/ 7T -
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T22,000,00078 7T 1 3
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 T2 3,000,000/ 7T = 1
4 4
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five REZE2023F12A31HILFE - AEEE
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon BERERAEESHFMA T SEHM - F
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during BERSIEEMARNEFRZMARNEZEZ K
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil). R E B EAVM(E (20226 « &) -
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) o
R IR RMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
B 220231231 HILFZ
13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FREHBAX
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT THET
Current income tax BEAFT1S AR
— Macau Complementary Tax —RFIFTEHR 1,914 3,210
— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBMER - 888
1,914 4,098
Overprovision in prior years BAFEREERE (6) (130)
1,908 3,968
Deferred taxation (Note 19) FEIEFE T (BF5E19) 1,036 (540)
2,944 3,428

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

The Group's principal applicable taxes and tax rates are as
follows:

Macau

The entities within the Group incorporated in Macau are
subject to Macau Complementary Tax at progressive rates
ranging from 3% to 9% on the taxable income above 32,000
Macanese Pataca (“MOP") but below MOP300,000, and
thereafter at a fixed rate of 12%. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Macau tax authority introduced a one-
time incentive that raised the tax-exempt income ceiling from
MOP32,000 to MOP600,000. Consequently, profits surpassing
MOP600,000 are subject to the standard 12% fixed tax rate.

Hong Kong

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

AEENEZEARARBENT

!

PRPIEMA IO AEBRMAETEER SN
32,0002 97T ([ 8P 7T ) {8 /K7 300,000
SEPI T ERRIMAIEN F3%E9% M A
EREITRPIMEHAR  ZBE L
AZEERENRR I B /MAH - #E
2023F 12 A31HIEFE - BB BT
—IH—XMEEEE) - B ER 32,000
8 P9 T 18 2 600,00058 P9 7T - Aty » FBiB
600,0002FI A m FIEIZEE ERE12%
F o

&8

RIBEBFNEHROFNESHERES - 68
REBEENE2EEETEMNNMRE A
8.25% - MiBiB2 A & B TLH & T R &
16.5% o TREFSHEMBPHERHE
EERAENGEER165%NTE—FHE
B - Bt HETERFENFNE2E S
BILIE825% T E A EREEETERMNES
FEH - HETERT RTBIE2E BA T
116.5%:t5 °
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 13.
The PRC

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled from
the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

FrE8iBE X

thEl
RIEFBRCEMSHE(EREHRE]D
RO¥EMEBFENEmAME] - REHEA
AR MEFE 2 FHREH B25% °

FRMBHRAXIRGEERREMEE
WAK AR AR AL BR AT -

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Profit before tax FRBERT R A 7,446 6,676
Tax at the Macau complementary BBRPIMSEARMETE Y
tax rate TR 894 801
Tax effect of income not taxable BERHWA Z HETE
for tax purpose (129) (162)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  NAHKINFEIERM X 2 BT 2
for tax purpose 23 27
Overprovision in respect of prior years BT F/E BB (6) (130)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ FIERIRIER B 2 RIAF L 2,002 1,726
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 7EE fth 7 AR (& BT B A7)
operating in other jurisdiction TRME 8 553 1,206
Others HAtb (393) (40)
Income tax expense for the year FAMGHAXZ 2,944 3,428

2023

FERE o« BHEESHEARAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BREF

180

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is
based on the Group's profit attributable to the owners of the
Company of HK$4,502,000 (2022: HK$3,252,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares calculated below.

EREAREERF IR ARREE AR
1l 7N 52 8 %5 F1 4,502,000 78 7T (2022 4F ¢
3,252,000 7T ) M & 8 3% 00 AE 19 EEt
H MR °

2022

20224

Weighted average number of ordinary ~ R EBRERREHBF &

shares for the purpose of basic and AR N Ia 8
diluted earnings per share

500,000,000 417,803,000

No diluted earning per share for the year ended 31 December
2023 were presented as the Company has no dilutive potential
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2022 did not assume the exercise of
redeemable rights attached to the Company’s share issued to
certain pre-initial public offerings (“Pre-IPO") investor, which
were lapsed upon the listing of the Company’s share on the
Stock Exchange on 15 July 2022, as the exercise prices of those
rights are higher than the average market prices of the shares
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

AR ARRIRERNI EBEITEIINETERE
LB MEE2023F12A31BILFEET
25| SREEAF -

SEHE2022F12A31B L FEGRE S
BFBYRBRRITEZRITTFETERAR
BEM(BERAMBEA D REENEAR
AR FIBI AR T FE Bl 48 - b sl A AR
NEDPA2022F7 A1 BIEBE R AT E &
K RERARZEEMNITEERAAR
AIEE 2022912 A31H IEFEBRG FH
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. 5% - MERRE

Furniture
Computer and Officc  Leasehold Motor  Construction
equipment fiture  equipment improvement  Buildings vehicles  in progress Total
BlRE  GBREL  BORGE  HENE BT RE  HEBIE fat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
T Tir Thr T T Thn T T
At 1 January 2022 R2022%151A
Cost ik 10,381 842 911 8,577 5463 628 - 26,802
Accumulated depreciation B3 (6,984) (583) (457) (7470) (339) (115) - (15,944)
Carrying values FaE 3397 259 454 1,107 5128 513 - 10,858
Year ended 31 December ~ EZ2022%128318
2022 LEE
Opening carrying values ENEmE 3397 259 454 1,107 5,128 513 - 10,858
Additions hE 2437 70 32 394 - - 1,705 9,036
Depreciation TE (1,878) (143) (178) (1,736) (268) (126) - (4329
Exchange realignment ERRE (112 - (16) (50) (526) - - (704)
Closing carrying values EXEEE 3,84 836 19 3,063 433 387 1,705 14,861
At 31 December 2022 R2022%128318
Cost A 12,818 1,562 1,183 12,519 5,463 628 1,705 35,838
Acumulated depreciation  Z3THTE (8,974) (726) (651) (9,256) (1,129) (241) - (20977)
Carrying values e 3,844 836 49 3263 4334 387 1,705 14,861
Year ended 31 December ~ EZ2023%128318
2023 lx:3:3
Opening carying values ~ FAIEREE 3,844 836 492 3263 4334 387 1,705 14,861
Additions HE 3,729 - 265 693 - - - 4,687
Depreciation i (2,352) (2317) (363) (2,678) (105) (126) = (5,861)
Transfer from construction in - EZHERTR
progress - - - 1,614 - - (1,614) -
Transfer to investment EEERANE
property (Note) (H3t) - - - - (4229) - - (4229)
Bxchange realignment BiE% = = = (35) - - (91) (126)
Closing carrying values EXERE 521 599 39 2857 - 21 - 9332
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12A31R
Cost WA 16,547 1,562 1,408 14,826 - 628 - 3497
Accumulated depreciation  BEHTE (11,326) (963) (1,014) (11,969) - (367) = (25,639)
Carrying values RaE 5221 599 394 2,857 - 261 - 9,332
2023 FEHRE HEESREARLE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 ¥%¥ - BEEZE®

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for Ly BERREBEE (EEIER
construction in progress, after taking into account the residual SIMNRET RFISRBEEIREREERE -

values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to MEFARSEIRNUTHFIERAFHR
allocate their costs less residual values over their estimated DERABFIREEE ¢

useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment 40 5 years EIEEAE A5
Furniture and fixture 410 5 years RIERAL A5
Office equipment 5 years MAERE 5
Leasehold improvement 2 to 3 years or the remaining HMEMR 2E3F R EMFIRE
period of the lease, whichever is (AR EA%E)
shorter
Buildings 20 years BF 204F
Motor vehicles 5 years qE 5
Note: During the year, the Group reclassified its buildings with a MizE : FR - NEBEGREE &4,229,0008 7T
carrying amount of HK$4,229,000 from property, plant and MEFEME  BEREBENSDEAR
equipment to investment property upon the end of occupation by KREME  REHRAEBEEEIHERAZ
the Group. The difference between the carrying amount and the BF ZEFREHeHEAQTEZHEN
fair value of that buildings, amounted to HK$710,000, has been Z 710,000 TE A H M2 E KA
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated R WIEEGREP RET -

under revaluation reserve.
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Group leases out office under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. The lease runs for an initial period of 2 years,
with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial period
held by lessee only.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangement, as the lease is denominated in the
functional currency of group entity. The lease contract does
not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

16. REWHE

AEERBLEMEEHERLE  RAK
PHe - HERVIRE2F  RAEABEAR
B R BT EHER AR B AE & = 1145 BARR A
AN o

HREENEEERENEERE &
AEBTERMEE L MASZINE R
HEANTEERERE R SABAL
HEHRSBEYRAREZE -

HK$'000
THT
FAIR VALUE DNFE
At 1 January 2022 and 7R2022F181HK%2022512A31H
31 December 2022 -
Transfer from property, plant and Wz - WE REEE T (MHEE15)
equipment (Note 15) 4,939
At 31 December 2023 A2023%F12A31H 4,939

In estimating the fair value of investment property, it is the
Group's policy to engage an independent qualified professional
valuer to perform the valuations. The management works
closely with the valuer to establish the appropriate valuation
model or techniques and inputs to the model.

The fair value of the Group’s investment property as at 31
December 2023 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out by APAC Appraisal and Consulting Limited,
independent qualified professional valuers not connected to
the Group.

The valuation has been arrived at using direct comparison
method by reference to market evidence of transaction prices
for similar properties in the same locations and conditions.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment property,
the highest and best use of the property is its current use. The
fair value of the Group's investment property has been adjusted
to exclude prepaid or accrued operating lease income to avoid
double counting.

HEHREMEN R FER - AEBHNEE
DERBIABREXMEMETHE -
ERERGEMZYAE  BXEENG
ERA S R AR A ABUR

AREFMIREYZER2023F12831HHR
FEDRBEERNEEVEBENE LS
BEEAEMDAMERBERER QR ®E
ITEEEMETE -

BELAEZLBE2ZHRMER LR ER
BUMERSENTIZEESD -

KA ARBEREMEN R FER - B
RER/YMENESE&ERRE - AEER
BEMENRXTED THE  UFIRENHK
EETHSEHEWA - BREETE -

2023 FEHE o BAESHERERLT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair

16. BEWHE m)
TRINEEBIEEWENAFEMMETE

values of the investment property is determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the

MER CLERMABN G ERNERE AR
®) > WRBAHEFETNEABEAE
ERRE  BAVPEAEIENAFEER
(F—2F=) -

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

Investment properties
held by the Group

in the consolidated
statement of financial

Relationship of
Significant unobservable unobservable inputs to
inputs fair value
THBRRENARE
BN ENERR

position
TEBMRGRE BT
MR REFE WIREW

Valuation technique

fhER EXTIBEGARE

Commercial property in
the PRC: HK$4,939,000

Direct comparison method  Unit sales rate, taking into  An increase in the market
with unit sales rate as key  account the time, location, unit rate used would result
input. and individual factors in an increase in fair value,

such as footage and size, and vice versa.

between the comparable

and the property, ranging

from RMB29,911 to

RMB32,417 per square

meter (“sq.m").

R BEMEEYX BERLEE  UEBMHE ZERIERE - wHLHR  MAMSELER LS
4,939,000/ 7T EREREIEHARE - WEEVMEAZZHANM  BEAVHEEN  RZTF

EFEE REESERE N o
= BUHEEERNIRE
R ERRDARE
29,911 TE ARYE32,417

184

JT °

The fair value of the investment property at 31 December
2023 was measured using valuation technique with significant
unobservable inputs and hence was classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment property
have been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group.

A EER2023F12 A3 B A FEETHE
BABE AT B A SRR E T
e MOEARATFEERE=H -

R2023F12A31H » REERNKREDED
WER - AAEEEENRITREREE
%o
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B IRk EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

17. EREEE

Office
properties

b UES

Office Staff
equipment quarters Total
MARE BIES At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET

HK$:000
TAT

20235128318

Carrying amount BRmEE 9,450 214 424 10,088
As at 31 December 2022 A2022612831H
Carrying amount ARMEE 10,844 194 360 11,398
For the year ended 31 #HZ2023F12A31H
December 2023 HEE
Depreciation charge nEEA 8,663 58 382 9,103
Exchange adjustments [E A= (23) - = (23)
8,640 58 382 9,080
For the year ended 31 B £2022612A831H
December 2022 IEFEE
Depreciation charge EER 7,029 52 270 7,351
Exchange adjustments FEE 5 A28 673 - - 673
7,702 52 270 8,024
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$000 HK$'000
FH&T BT
Expense relating to short-term EHARSE 175 290
Total cash outflow for leases HEME SR 9,671 8,394
Additions to right-of-use assets REFRAEEE 7,770 10,306

2023 FEHRE o BHEBEZRHBERLAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

ALZ2023F 1231 HILFE
17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

For both years, the Group leases various office properties,
offices equipment and staff quarters for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 year to
5 years (2022: 1 year to 5 years), but may have extension
and termination options as described below. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
equipment. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no lease
with variable lease payment. The lease agreements do not
impose any extension or termination options which are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessors.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group does not
provide residual value guarantees in relation to leases
arrangements. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has no leases
that are committed but not yet commenced.

17. FREEE @

RREFEE  AREHYAHERLENE
BEEMWAME  HARBEERBIES A
EAHMNETER A1FE5F (2022F 1
FESF) - BR g N XA A E AR 4R
IFiRERE - AR ERBLETER 8
P EHER B A - e B R AT A A]
BOHER NN RE - AEEEASLNE
EWET AL ANITRHRR -

AREBRETHT L EHAEE - 722023
FR2022F12A318  HHHEEHEAHE
XA ERBHERYNE SRS

4+

Eo

PA2023FF K 2022912 A31 8 » AEEIE
AIEHENRNAE - HEWRZHIL &N
ErRASEMIELEEAAITENEM
JERASR AR EIBIEHE -

PA2023FF }2022% 12 A31H » AEEIE
RAETHREFGEBERER - BREEA
BENHEEENERERI  HEWR
I £ s AR 22585 o

A2023F 2022612 A310 » NEFEI &
BAEERERRARHEE -
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

18. B B E

Software
B
HK$'000
TET
At 1 January 2022 7R2022F1H18
Cost N 4,412
Accumulated amortisation KRt (1,990)
Carrying values REE 2,422
Year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE2022F12A31HLLEE
Opening carrying values FHEREE 2,422
Additions NE 165
Amortisation b (1,000)
Exchange realignment e 3, 8 2 (5)
Closing carrying values FREEE 1,582
At 31 December 2022 20225128318
Cost N 4,577
Accumulated amortisation REHEEE (2,995)
Carrying values BRMEE 1,582
Year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F12A318 L EE
Opening carrying values FHRAEE 1,582
Additions =T 65
Amortisation B (871)
Closing carrying values FAREEE 776
At 31 December 2023 A2023F12831H
Cost [p%N 4,642
Accumulated amortisation ESE (3,866)
Carrying values FREE 776

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
following periods:

Software 4 years

BB EEREGRERFY - ZFETY
BERIATHEREREEE

LIS 4%

2023 FEHE o BAESHERERLT
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e IEERRMIGE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

19. DEFERRED TAXATION 19. IEIEFIIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement REEMBRAKRNEZINME - & TRE
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities HBEENBEDWEE - TRARMG
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred R E K2 IRERIBASB AT

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
2023F 20224
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTERT FHET
Deferred tax assets EIEFIBE 1,567 1,379
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEB R (1,224) -
343 1,379
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) UWTAAFENBEFECHERNEZE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and EMBEEE(BE) REHAEE
prior years:

(Accelerated)
decelerated Write-  Impairment Right-  Provision for
tax down of losses under Lease of-use onerous
depreciation inventories  ECL model liabilities assets contract

BHRE

0159014 BREAT |
BENE  M#EE  NEEER 2 BEAR  HAEEE  S0RB @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr T TR TR TEL Thr Thr

At 1 January 2022 R20226181A (250) 944 145 - - - 839
Credit (charge) to profitor ~ IBZREHAGIR)

oss 246 196 (129) - - 227 540
At 31 December 2022 #2022512A318 (4) 1,140 16 - - 21 1,379
Credit (charge) to profit or MEZEEA(HR)

loss 10 (730) 3 1,062 (1,224) (227) (1,036)
At 31 December 2023 20235124318 6 410 89 1,062 (1,224) - 343
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

19. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 19. IEZERR IE (@)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused RBEER NEEBERSAREBREL
tax losses of approximately HK$34,422,000 (2022: 34,422,000 7% 7T (20224 : 17,886,000 7%
HK$17,886,000) available for offset against future profits. JC) A AR B AR A m ) o B P A TR
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such RACEF IR - A B LS ERRRIE
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. EHEEE - AERNIBEEREIHA
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately BRGNS R PTIR FE H) B3 48 49 19,851,00078 7T
HK$19,851,000 (2022: HK14,935,000) with expiry dates as (20224 : 14,935,000 7T ) o HAthE5E ]

disclosed in the following table. Other losses may be carried BIRHAAEE o
forward indefinitely.

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT T

2025 20254 10 10
2026 20264 447 571
2027 20274 9,774 14,354
2028 20284 9,620 -
19,851 14,935
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

20. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

The Group entered into finance lease arrangements as a lessor
for equipment. The average terms of finance leases entered
into usually range from 3 to 5 years. All interest rates inherent
in the leases are fixed at the contract date over the lease terms.

20.

BMEHERWRR

AEEESEBRAN)RMREITLRERE
ZHF e RIVRMEHREZ FHOHRABE R3E
54 - HEZPIBRANXRZEHENEHHE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Finance lease receivables comprise BEHERUGRIABRIERENR
undiscounted minimum lease =IEBEEMNK
payments:
Within 1 year 1R 7,630 5,388
In the 2nd year 24 5,445 5,359
In the 3rd year 34 1,907 3,688
In the 4th year F4F 1,698 210
In the 5th year E5F 963 2
Gross investment in the lease HERE®R 17,643 14,647
Less: unearned finance income BT AR BRENEY LA YA (1,066) (551)
Less: allowance for credit losses o EEEEEE (152) (59)
Present value of minimum lease HERENKRE
payments 16,425 14,037
Analysed as: D
Current TRE) 6,484 5,301
Non-current JEREY 9,941 8,736
16,425 14,037

Interest rates implicit in the above finance leases range from
2.3% 10 20.4% (2022: 2.2% to0 20.4%).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the

respective functional currencies of group entities.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 34.

L@ EREMSFENT23%E20.4%
(20224 : 2.2%%20.4%) °

HRAHEYUEEERSANYESR
e - AKELERNEE 25 mm b
SINE Bz ©

ERH A B E K34 o
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o =
AR RMGE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BV Z2023F 12 A31 HIFFE
21. CONTRACT ASSETS 21. EHEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Professional IT services EEITARS 148,119 83,802
IT maintenance and consultancy services IT#k & & 34 s ARTE 6,008 4,580
Managed services e RS 2,462 962
156,589 89,344
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEEERE (643) (857)
155,946 88,487
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Analysed as: O
Current mEh 148,594 79,818
Non-current JETEY 7.352 8,669
155,946 88,487

As at 1 January 2022, contract assets amounted to
HK$84,974,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional.

Contract assets, that are not expected to be settled within the
Group's normal operating cycle, are classified as current and
non-current based on expected settlement dates.

R2022F 118 © AHEE A84,974,000
BT o

BHEETERAKENIE T/ LA
STHERENENER  ARLSENN
AEBERKOBOBNBGS - %5
MR BEGRTR  SHEEREREES
JEWRRIR -

BHTeEAKENLE 2 ERRANE
MEHNEE SREMEERMOBELAR
ESELEIE

2023 FEHRE o BHEBEZRHBERLAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

21.

22,

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
assets recognised are as follows:

Professional IT services

The Group's contracts include payment schedules which require
stage payments over the service period once certain specified
milestones are reached. The Group requires certain customers
to provide upfront deposits 30% of total contract sum as part
of its credit risk management policies.

The Group also typically agrees to a retention period ranging
from 2 to 4 years for 10% of the contract value. This amount is
included in contract assets until the end of the retention period
as the Group's entitlement to this final payment is conditioned
on completion of the retention period.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because
the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

IT maintenance and consultancy services

The contract assets represent the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred to
customers when that right is conditioned based on mutual
agreement with customers, therefore a contract asset is
recognised over the period in which the IT maintenance and
consultancy services are performed.

INVENTORIES

Finished goods B

21. BHEEm@m

EECHRENEESENE RAIE
o .
AT

EHEITRS
AEBEHNANBIE—BRBBYNEIE
T B2 AIEE R RN R
2 EAEERARTEREN—HH - &
EBMERETFELIZMANBTEI0%MTE
RS o

AEBBETRAEZEI10%NAENEENRE
HNF2245F - WA AANEE &
ERBHER  RAERAREAFRE
M RIR T BRRISZERBRMAR -

AEERZEANEEDBRRDEE
REAERAEEBEHRIER EERHAE
BRSEE -

ITHERE & 5 50 AR 7%
BHEERAKERRBARERETFE
o H) AR TS W B B RO RE R (F R R FIIA 5
FRRE S RIEE) - AEEHNEER
HEETTITHE T 7 ARG HARHERR -

22. 78

2023 2022
20234

20224
HK$'000
T

HK$°000
FEx

21,928 56,569
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23.TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

23. EZBURIR - BE - BNRE
R E B FRIE

2023
20234

2022
20224F
HK$'000
FAT

HK$°000
FTExT

Trade receivables B 5 EWFEIE
Contracts with customers EFEAHY 181,513 149,253
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,607) (1,806)
179,906 147,447
Deposits, prepayments and other e EAREREAER
receivables g
Deposits %% 19,073 22,318
Prepayments TERTFIE 74,912 51,017
Other receivables E b fEUS FIA 1,568 2,263
95,553 75,598
Analysed as: DNTE -
Current mE 65,936 57,013
Non-current FETRED 29,617 18,585
95,553 75,598

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$188,803,000.

R2022F1A1H » REBFPAYNESE
U ZRIE 5188,803,000/8 7T, ©

2023 FEHE o BAESHERERLT
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HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

23.TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

The credit terms of trade receivables granted by the Group are
generally 1 to 3 months. The following is an aged analysis of
trade receivables presented based on invoice dates:

23. B BIFHIR - BE - AARE

R H A E N FIE )

AEE—RETESRBKIE1E3E A
EEH - RBEZAHEIINE FEKGKR
BRI -

2023 2022

20234 20224

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Up to 3 months 31E A AR 112,883 114,727
Over 3 months and within 6 months 3{E A A 6@ A A 57,871 12,385
Over 6 months and within 1 year 618 A LA 15 LA 5,376 4,058
Over 1 year 1F A 5,383 18,083
181,513 149,253

As at 31 December 2023, included in trade receivables are bills
amounting to HK$5,547,000 (2022: nil) that were discounted
to bank on a full recourse basis. Since the substantial risks
and rewards of the ownership of the bills have not been
transferred taking into account the credit quality of the
issuing counterparties, the Group continues to recognise the
full carrying amount of those discounted receivables and has
recognised the associated liabilities as borrowings as disclosed
in note 32. All bills received by the Group are with a maturity
period of less than one year.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade
receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of HK$59,460,000 (2022: HK$57,802,000) which are past
due at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$19,585,000 (2022: HK$20,772,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default because it's
the industry’s practice that payments are usually made after the
due dates. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. Trade receivables which are neither past due nor
impaired are in good quality with satisfactory repayment history
in the past.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables
are set out in note 34.

R2023F12A318 ' EZEWHRIEHRE
FUTE2ERREERFTUMROER
5,547,000/ 70 (20224 : #) - BN EE
EEFHNEREEMABREZBRID
FrEERE R HRMETER  AEEEE
BEERZECWBEREZRERER
BRREMBBEEEAERURM E32E
=) AEEMAEWEENEIEEH LR
7513 °

R2023F12A318 » AEEE FEWR
HESBERREOHaHNEEmAE
59,460,000 7% 7T ( 2022 £ : 57,802,000 i
JC) W FEU IR R o s HA&E R + 19,585,000
77T (20224 : 20,772,000/8 70 ) E %1 8
90H AL - ARAIRIBITEIER - I50A
BAZEA BT A MERELD -
AEEVEEZEEBSETEHERR -
BEalf i ERENE S RIGEEXR
7 BREEFRESARE -

B 5 N E A R R E T G BEN
P5E34 -
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24. CONTRACT COSTS

Incremental costs to obtain contracts

e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

24. XM

S A KR I8 E R (BTEEG))

2023
20234

2022
20224
HK$'000
FBT

HK$'000
FHT

(Note (i) 2,873 1,175
Costs to fulfill contracts — Setup costs ~ JB1TA LIHIAK AN — BAR ZE TSR AN
(Note (ii) (B 3EGI)) 1,028 1,687
3,901 2,862
Analysed as: DITE
Current mED 3,901 2,826
Non-current IERE - 36
3,901 2,862

Notes:

@

(ii)

Contract costs capitalised relate to the incremental sales
commissions paid to the sales personnel upon successful
negotiation of long-term contracts. Contract costs are recognised
as part of selling expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in
which revenue is recognised. The amount of capitalised costs
recognised in profit or loss during the year was HK$8,293,000
(2022: HK$9,360,000). There was no impairment in relation to
the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs capitalised
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group applies the practical expedient and recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining contracts relating to the sales
of goods and services as an expense when incurred if the
amortisation period of the assets that the Group otherwise would
have recognised is one year or less.

The Group has also incurred direct labour costs from the
engineers for fulfilling the obligations in relation to the software
development contracts. The labour costs are directly related to
the software development contracts, used to fulfil performance
obligations of the contracts and are expected to be recovered.
The amount of capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during
the year was HK$1,661,000 (2022: HK$2,010,000). There was no
impairment in relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs
or the costs capitalised during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

BT -

U]

(ii)

2023 FERE o

BB KR ATIERAIN BRI REEE L
BREEABSNNEEHERS - A4
RARERU RN GRAEE R MR
ABARERABHEERAIHN—HD - FR
B R A E AN A £ 58 48,293,000
78 7T (2022 4 : 9,360,000/8 L) - B &
2023F [22022F 12 A31HILFE » XL
FRANHY W) 48R 5l B AN AN I A R
g o

REBRAEBHRENEE  WMAEERE
BROREFEENEHEPIES —F RN
A AIRBEEEER MR ERNE D
EIEERA - REERERRF -

AEBFEBITHEGHEANEBNE
AMEAKREIRMNEES TRA - &
THRASRGRESNEZAR  BRE
NFEIERIERT AT E - FARIEISERN
B ALk A £ 5 51,661,000 7T (2022
% 12,010,000 7T) ° #HE20234F 2022
F12A318ILFE  ERCRANFELE
R F NE AL AR FE R E o

BEESHRRERLT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

25.

26.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

AMOUNT DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST

The amount due from non-controlling interest was unsecured,
non-interest bearing and fully settled during the year.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, AND CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits for the
purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash commitments,
which carry interest at market rates which ranged from 0.001%
t0 3.1% (2022: 0.001% to 3.1%).

Pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rates range from 1%
to 3.6% (2022: 0.75% to 2.5%) per annum and represent
deposits pledged to banks as a security for a bank facility and
a bank guarantee requested by a supplier. Deposits amounting
to HK$53,317,000 (2022: HK$53,317,000) have been pledged
and are therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank
deposits will be released upon the settlement of relevant bank
borrowings.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and
pledged bank deposits are set out in note 34.

25.

26.

PR FE I IR R ER R OR

o

FEWOF R R st R R IR - AEFE AR
FACEHBAER

EEARTERRREERRATE
(€7

ReRBRSSEMEREHER BNA
BITAEBMNEHER S AGE  HHBHE
M 90.001% Z3.1% (20224 : 0.001% =
3.1%)5T 8 °

EEBRTERRETFNNENT1%E
3.6% (20224 : 0.75% &2.5% )5t & 15
B FIRITIEARSRITRERARE
EEXKMMERITERNRES - T
53,317,000 7T (2022 £ : 53,317,000 5
o) BRI - Rt AR EE - DEHF
RITTFSE R 4 B FERE IR T FRFARRR o

RITHES N B IRITFRARER S
BRI EE34
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BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. g7

Nominal
value of
Shares

B EE

Number of
Shares

BB E
'000 HK$ 000

T TR

Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each FIRAEEC.01E L BB

Authorised EE
At 1 January 2022 R2022%1A1H 38,000 380
Additions during the year (Note (i)) RN (HFREG)) 9,962,000 99,620
At 31 December 2022 and 72022128318 K

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid ERITRERE
At 1 January 2022 2022F1 418 11,142 -
Shares issued pursuant to the BBEEREEITEBITORG

Capitalisation Issue (Note (ii)) (B 3EG)) 374,988,858 3,750
Shares issued under the Global Offering 1R 1E 2 BkEFE B 31T (D

(Note (iii)) (B (i) 125,000,000 1,250
At 31 December 2022 and at M2022F128318 %

31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H 500,000,000 5,000
Notes: Pi5E -
(i)  Pursuant to the meeting of the board dated 20 June 2022, the () RIE2022F6HF20BNEFECEE &

38 $% 5 % 51 9,962,000,000 f% - & I E A
0.0 TR + AR RIH AT AR
380,000 7T (% 438,000,0008% * &% E
{B0.018 TR A% 17 ) 32 H0 2 100,000,000
7¢(4 /10,000,000,000/% * FAXE{E0.01
FETTRIRRAD) ©

authorized share capital of the Company was increased from
HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares of par value of
HK$0.01 each to HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
shares of par value of HK$0.01 each by the creation of an
additional 9,962,000,000 Shares of par value of HK$0.01 each.

(i)  F2022%78158 » BRI TIRE HH
F202F6 A20HMIREAZEEZE o I

(i)  On 15 July 2022, the Capitalisation Issue pursuant to the
shareholders’ resolution dated 20 June 2022 was effected. The

(iii)

Company issued 374,988,858 shares at par value of HK$0.01
each to the then shareholders on 15 July 2022, by way of
capitalisation of an amount of HK$3,749,889 to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company.

On 15 July 2022, the Company issued a total of 125,000,000
ordinary shares at a price of HK$1.08 per share upon the
completion of the Global Offering. The number of total issued
shares increased to 500,000,000 shares upon completion of the
Capitalisation Issue and the Global Offering.

(iii)

2023 FERE o

202267R158 « RRRFE B ERMD &
EIRM#EEREE3,749,889 B LA AN  BE
B B A% 353 17 374,988,858 1+ & AR E &
0.01BTTHIAR ©

M2022F 78150 » KRARIELRBE
FERR B LA F AR 1.088 T ERETA R
125,000,000 f% L@ A% o B 1T 425K
EEREBTRERBEETKBENE
500,000,0008% °
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 20 June 2022 for
the primary purpose of providing selected participants with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and
to encourage selected participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and the shares for the benefit of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Scheme will
provide the Company with a flexible means of either retaining,
incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/
or providing benefits to selected participants. Under the
Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible employees, including directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

At 31 December 2023, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was nil (2022: nil), representing 0% (2022:
0%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

The exercise price of options is determined by the directors
of the Company and will not be less than the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant,
(i) the average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable upon
acceptance of the grant of an option.

The total number of options available for grant, hence shares
available for issue, under the Scheme is 50,000,000 which
is 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2023 and the date of this report.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at Shareholders’ meetings.

28. B34S

RO B ARES A IR ERT S

ARBIRIEFN2022F6 A20 B BBRRZESR
Rl ETE([Zat8l)) TZ28/MR
BIET2HERHBIEARQRMEEER
Mike  WEBEEELEERNEALRAD
AR EERE SRR KR RERGE
o ZErEl AR ATRHEEEN R
LAIRER - BB - 42E) - D% - fERTES
WmER REERHEET o RIEZTE
RABEEAMAEREES (BERRAR
EfBARMES) BLBRE  URELX
NS S

M2023F12A31H - RIEZFEIERTE
MARITENERES ROBROEE AT
f% (20225 : ER]) - MERZAEARRL
BITIRD 0% (20224F : 0%) ° KRR
AR B LML - BIEZA SR A
BERRERTS KR D BB N EHBBAAT
EEARRESEEITRMOM10% o RER
NEIREELIE - FEEA—FREER
BABRHRATEERTENBREMSRNE
BT RAGBITHNROEE TEHBBARR
A AEREIE BTN % °

BRENTEEHARRESEE - B
MEROARBBEMRE Bz (g
(NEZEF LAY AEEXRARNDNFH
WifE : RiNARBRMHEEZRSE -

BEXBERERTRHEZINBERET00H
7_E °

RAEZ AT 8 AT 9% M B AR i ia i (B AT 4
EITHIRLD ) A&50,000,0000% © 15 AR A TR
2023612 A318B RARE A BB EHITIRA
#110% °

BN T T ERA ABIRE R
RAE LREZHER -
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BLR2023F 1231 HIFF/Z
28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (continued) 28. A0 X 15 )
Equity-settled share option scheme of the AT UREXFHERESTE @
Company (continued)
As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share RAREBH  BREFSFARROR
Option Scheme is approximately 8.2 years. 8.2%F o
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no share option is granted R20234F 2022412 A31 BBEERIZ 25T
and exercised under the Scheme. SR RATE R o
29. LEASES LIABILITIES 29. HEAE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$’000
FEx T
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEESRE :
Within 1 year 15E K 7,139 6,647
Within a period of more than 1 year but #8:@ 148 T #B:@2 E ) HAE K
not exceeding 2 years 3,893 3,646
Within a period of more than 2 years but #B:@2 18 T #B:@B5E ) HAE K
not exceeding 5 years 125 1,865
11,157 12,158
Less: Amount due for settlement within & = 781218 A REIHISE 2 £58 (7
12 months shown under current mENBEE THIR)
liabilities (7,139) (6,647)
Amount due for settlement after 12 RI2EREIIREE &%
months shown under non-current (RIERBEBEETIIR)
liabilities 4,018 5,511
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to fE RN TEE B E Y I F 1518 & B RF A
lease liabilities range from 2.5% to 5% (2022: range from 2.5% KN 25%ZE5%(20224F : NHR2.5%E
to 5%) per annum. 5%) °
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29. LEASES LIABILITIES (continued) 29. HEEEmw

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other ZREFASETROEEE I B
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are FHEMEEEESHIIOT ¢
set out below:

\Y (0]
BT
HK$'000
T
As at 31 December 2023 72023512 A31H 3,198
As at 31 December 2022 2022512 A31H 4,360
30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30. ENEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Professional IT services EEITARS 5,543 60,728
IT maintenance and consultancy services IT#k & & 34 RS 14,090 18,260
Managed services TEIRS 6,041 7,399
Distribution 4 2,088 971
Resale [Eg== 1,723 880
29,485 88,238
Analysed as: DNTE -
Current mE 26,678 84,735
Non-current IERED 2,807 3,503
29,485 88,238
As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to M2022F1H18 - A48 1E 450,902,000
HK$50,902,000. BT °
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BlZ2023F 1231 HIFFE
30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 30. BN EE@®
The following table shows how much of the revenue TREJBEEHRELAEaNEEREMAK
recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and HEBHNETERANEERKESEE -

how much relates to performance obligations that were
satisfied in prior periods.

IT

maintenance

Professional and

T consultancy Managed

services services services  Distribution Resale

ITEER
BXITRE Bl EERE ik | BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT TR THT THAT TR

For the year ended HZ2023F12A31R
31 December 2023 HEE

Revenue recognised that was FAFVANEBEES
included in the contract liabilities ~ #)2 FER M &
balance at the beginning of the

year 59,022 13,417 7,143 21 831
For the year ended BZ2022512831H
31 December 2022 ILFE

Revenue recognised that was TAENEHERLHS
included in the contract liabilities ~ #2 HeBUas
balance at the beginning of the
year 16,277 18,692 2,958 2,437 348
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B Z2023F12H31HIFFE
31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. EZ REMENRIR
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Trade payables B 5 ERFIE 174,165 116,385
Salaries payable BN TE 9,933 10,148
Accrued expenses e 4,343 4,235
Other taxes payable HibfERFLIE 113 785
Other payables H A TR 2,388 2,107
Provision for onerous contract ER A B - 1,893
190,942 135,553
Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 1 to B HRENFEREER  BPARERE
3 months from recognition. 238 A AT -
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented REZAMEINNE S ENRIBREDT
based on the invoice date. N
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET AT
Within 1 month 1MEA AR 121,497 83,283
Over 1 month and within 3 months ME B LA E31E B AR 41,035 26,314
Over 3 months and within 1 year 3EA E1FEAA 11,605 6,702
Over 1 year 16 LA 28 86
174,165 116,385
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BlZ2023F 1231 HIFFE

32. BORROWINGS 32. B

2023 2022
20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TAET

Financial liabilities on bills discounted M =EALIR BN SR AaE

with recourse 5,547 -

Other secured bank borrowings Hua G IMIRITER 5,505 -
11,052 -

The carrying amounts of above AR BRE{EZE R T 51 B

borrowings are repayable: Bi% :

Within 1 year 1A 11,052 -
Included in the balance are fixed-rate bank borrowings which ERRBIEENT1.70% £3.65% 2 FH Rt
carry interest at rates ranging from 1.70% to 3.65% per B2 EBRITER(2022F « ) -

annum (2022: nil).

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has the REEER - NEEB AT RIENRITH
following undrawn borrowing facilities: & :

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FAET
Fixed rate [& 7F =&
— Expiring within 1 year — N FEREH 85,550 50,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

33.

34.

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes lease liabilities and borrowings disclosed in notes
29 and 32 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, share premium and reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and share buy-backs as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

33. EARER

AEEMEAEEBEARRASEER
REFRFELYE  RREBE(LEBERAF
& RERFREALDR - £F - AEE
MERRIRERS T E -

AEBNEAERERERFE  ETE
B RIRM 29 k2 REBENEE B ERE
R B RREEEWFELARRESR
AREEED (BIEREBITRA - BREE N
Kf#fE)

EREFFFRANEARE - ERARFTN
—#n EEESEEEAKNARERE
AR - REBEEEENZZ  AKEH
BB IR A BB S B AD B B DA R B AT (B 75
SERRAER FEEREARRE -

34. €T A

SRTEER

2023 2022
20234

20224
HK$'000
THET

HK$"000
TR

Financial assets SREE

Amortised cost i N 282,597 330,868
FVTPL BATERE B EE e AER 109 -
Financial liabilities tRAaE

Amortised cost b N 187,605 118,492
Financial risk management objectives and BEREREBEREK

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, deposits, other receivables, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances, trade and other payables, and borrowings.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk, and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management of the Group
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

AEENTIZSRTIABRTEEHEKK
H ke HEWER - e ERRTE
R RITER B NEMENFUARE
Ko M TAFBEREREREME - 2%
FeRTAAENRREETSRER(EE
B RFEER) - FERRLREE SR
B o T XE A R EZFR R A REK
AEEEEEEEMERZZRR AR
KEAMRBVEE 151 ©
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk

(i) Currency risk
The Group operates in Macau, Hong Kong and the PRC
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to
Renminbi (“RMB"), US dollars (“US$"”) and MOP. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions
and recognised assets and liabilities. The Company
currently does not have a currency risk hedging policy.
However, the management monitors foreign currency risk
exposure by closely monitoring the movement of foreign
currency rate and considers hedging against it should the
need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2023

FET

20235
HK$’000
RMB AREE
Us$ ETT
MOP SEPITT

Assets

6,513
13,438
99,638

e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

34. €t T B um)
MEREREEBZRBEm®

5
() EXEE

AEBRRR - BEERPELE?
% WAR ARG ELIMNER
B TEEARB(ARED %7_5
(TEx ) FRFITHR - IMNERKR
BAREER HIA KB HER QE&E
B o 7R A3 R I B SN E S IROR
A EEEEBTYEREXRE
%’WI\EHEWEM S IEE‘%E
BERTEBEHINERS

RBmEHRAINEHENEBEER
ERaENREENT

Liabilities
BE 8f&

2022 2023 2022
20224 20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FExT FHBT
131 = -
16,679 64,185 15,135
156,733 5,660 1,338

As HK$ is pegged to US$ and MOP, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the foreign exchange
risk of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in US$
and MOP is insignificant. The directors of the Company
also consider that there is minimal foreign exchange
risk from insignificant amounts of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in RMB. Therefore, no sensitivity
analysis is presented.

AR A TEE T MBPITTEME - A
ji%wuﬁl LA%TE&&F'%TE:#TEZ
BEEEERBERNIINER R T E
7( KABEENRE  UARES
Bz EaEEEERABENINER
B At - WEEHGREDHT ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to pledged bank deposits (see note 26), fixed-rate
borrowings (see note 32 for details of these borrowings)
and lease liabilities (see note 29 for details). The Group is
also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances (see note 26 for details). The
Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances. The
Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of borrowings
in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within
reasonable range.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

34. €@t T B um)
MR REE B ZRBEmE®

SRR (%)

(i) FIEEE
AEEERGEDEPRITER(RNE
26) * ERMER(ZEERFBERNE
32)RHEERB(FIBERWF29) B H
FAFEF ERE o A5 E I8 e
FRIRTEHRGFBRMWE26) BEAM
RenesfExER - AEBENRESR
SFERERFEEFRIRITELNF]
R E) o AEERBIRIEKFERKER
A=A ERF RSB EENBEE
LREEENERR - BEEEHBE
EBMZBETWMELA - WHERERE
BIEEENA -

REHERAGTENEREENSBA
M -

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other income HAanlg A

Financial assets at amortised cost HEEN AT ENSREE 1,464 569

Interest income under effective interest RIBERFREFTE 2 F B
method WA 1,464 569

Sensitivity analysis

Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

B 22023F 12531 HIFF/E
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. £ T Eum)

Financial risk management objectives and MEREEEBERBEE @
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment =B R E G
Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties EERRIEAERNEFTHREETES
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial Z’j%{{ﬁﬁgﬁzﬁ% H I8 B 75 E R A9
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are oo REFNEERBHMOZIEZARE
primarily attributable to trade receivables, deposits, contract FEWZE  1%e ANEE  mEHRE
assets, finance lease receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank FEURERTE « B3R ITIE R~ RIT4EES -
balances, other receivables. The Group does not hold any HubEU FRIE o AN E Y miE A A
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks meEkEMEE S EIAAESMEER
associated with its financial assets. BEEREIZHERE -
Trade receivables arising from contracts with BREFSINE S EWIE - FEHE
customers/finance lease receivables/contract assets EEWYEE  BHEE
Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal EESEMHRP 2 AEBFE BRI
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit ERAR ARG EERR Y EBEEET
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring HIERE AT EERE ZEFHNEE LR E
attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other 5 iﬁiﬁéﬁﬁu\ CEmEMEEIEREF
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up PR IR 1T AR B8 BRE 7S -
action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade BEUEMREE S EWRZIE /E\,,%’gﬁé&
receivables, contract assets and finance lease receivables, A EEE 1521;?? C REFHE
the Group monitors the issuance of credit on an ongoing B R (=K #%g}iz =ZER
basis. Credit limits and credit terms granted to customers R EEKRIREEETESEZERE#
are approved by delegated officers only after thorough BBEKEEANEIE - EREEHEE
background checks and interviews were conducted. The R EEEERPHEES AT ZEELJE
activities of individual credit account are monitored regularly PiE - B SN o AN BREREEURE
for management to decide if the credit facility should be TR A BE B HA 2R IE S o

continued, changed or cancelled. Furthermore, follow-up
actions will be actively taken in order to closely monitor the
overdue amounts.
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HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED e

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers/finance lease receivables/contract assets
(continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 11% (2022:
10%) and 40% (2022: 30%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade receivables, financial lease receivables and
contract assets with significant balances and credit-impaired
individually. The remaining balances are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the Group's
internal credit ratings.

Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits/bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank deposits/bank balances
by reference to information relating to probability of default
and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management believes that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition. For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits
are insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognised.

34. €@ T B

B EREE R ZERBE @

1= B 2 f2 R B8 571 (%)
BREFAHXNE S EWE - HEHE
EREWNE - BHEE &)

REE11%(20224F : 10% ) &240% (2022
F 1 30%)E SRR ERENEDZEE
GO RIREAEEZEAZTERAKREF °
AEEERRRERE  AEEEERED
ZREGEEECEFEREREESEIL -

AN REEEREREEHEEAYA
BEEAEHRLREBREEERENE SRR
FE - BERERUWKERAGNEEETT
BERIRERE - SR N ERTI2EREE 2
WEEEFAR - RAREERREEDE -

ERBORERAANETX -

EBFRITIHRITHE

HREFHRERRES H&&%%

fo AR IRTT - B EWRITER /ﬁE
THRENEERBRBR - AEE2ZHREH

9I\%Efﬁ§%&$&%%§%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ§ SRS

MEOBABMERBOBRERZEHR - FHE

EHEMRITIFRRITAERE 1218 A A H
EEEE -

Bt ERFERZES
REMERFAERZEME @ EEERE

BELMNRE  BAECRALSERAR
BYEOAEEEERTEHEER  HHEAM
JFE UG TR IE K i 9 AT Y [ 14 3 77 7E HAME B
iE - EEERBAVIRERARZER
W EE R MEEEIL I - B2 20234F
Eimziuﬂ3whﬁﬂ* AEBFFHE
thER AR S NBHEEBRY R
A B E R E IR -
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B 22023F12H31HIFFE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. R T B
Financial risk management objectives and MEREE B ZERBEEK @)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) S BRI E R E)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises REFBHNANSEZERBELTGEEIBEUT
the following categories: KR

Internal

credit rating

PR RATAR

Low risk

1K

Watch list

BIESIR

Doubtful

RER

Loss

&8

Write-off

Description

i

Trade receivables/

contract assets/

finance Other financial
lease receivables  assets/other items
B 5 EWHIE S

EHREE/ Hihe@mMEE
MEHEREKNIE HtER

The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL—not ~ 12m ECL

and does not have any past-due amounts  credit-impaired

“HFTmENRRENRBEMaRTE 2HEHIEEEE 12EARMEES

—E{EERE 18

Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL—not ~ 12m ECL

but usually settle in credit-impaired credit-impaired
BERARERIBAREN  EBFENE 2HEHEEEE 2EAEREES
AXENBRTEE —EEERE |
There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL—not  Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since through information credit-impaired credit-impaired

developed internally resources

REABKRSLNEN  EERAREEZ 2UBEHEERE ZUBRHEEERE

= pill —BEERE —EEERE
There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —

credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
FRBERENEEBEERE HIEHEEFE HRBEESE

—(EERE —EERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written ~ Amount is written

is in severe difficulty and the Group has off off

no realistic prospect
ERBETNEBARNBRERNE - AEE  #MiEzoE HhsEFRIE

W B H) A a8
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B Z2023F12H31HIFFE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. €@ T REwm)
Financial risk management objectives and MK EREEBERBK @
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) S BRI B E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's TRIFMINHEAEE SR EENZERR
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: ANE - HASTEREEEETM
2023 2022
External Internal Gross Gross
credit credit carrying carrying
rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount amount
ShER B 12f8A % 20235 20226
FEIR GEIR ZHENEESE REAE REAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT
Trade receivables - contacts 23 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment) 90,363 67,168
with customers T ERR 2 HEHBEEEE(ERE)
BHRIGIE-BFAH (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (collective assessment) 90,893 80,695
(FizE2) 2HRAEEBE(RETG)
Loss Credit-impaired 257 1,390
BE EERE
Contract assets 21 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment) 98,303 57,577
BHEE TiER ERR 2 HBAEEEE(ERNTE)
(Note 2) Lifetime ECL (collective assessment) 58,248 31,767
(FizE2) 2HBAEEBRE(RENG)
Loss Credit-impaired 38 -
BE EERE
Finance lease receivables 20 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment) 16,577 14,096
MERERIGR N ERE 2 HBAEEEE(ERNE)
Deposits and other receivables 23 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 20,641 24,581
e RA MR TiEm (FzE1) NEABREESSE
Amount due from 25 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL - 4
non-controlling interest ISl (F¥3E1) NEAEHEESE

FEMI R R 2 50R

Pledged bank deposits 26 A N/A 12m ECL 53,317 53,317
BIRIRRITER A i NEAEREESSE
Bank balances 26 Aa3tobaa3 N/A 12m ECL 28,733 105,519
RITEERR Aa3Zbaa3 TEH NEAEHEERSE
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BE2023F 1231 HIFFE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. R T B

Financial risk management objectives and MEREEEBERBEE @

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EEEEEFEZ L E)

Notes: BtEE -

1. For deposits and other receivables, and amount due from non- 1. BhiRS K& H i e W EE LA K e W 3 e pR A
controlling interest, the Group considers the exposure of credit HEEmME AREF AV EBEENE
risk is low because counterparties have no historical default $%c BEETEHRESEHE @A e
record and the directors expect that the general economic o AR S N e B A A - AR EER
conditions will not significantly changed for the 12 months after ABEERBIE -
the reporting date.

2. For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied 2. WMEBIRWZBEBRANBEEMmMS  AEH
the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the impairment loss 2 5 B R B 78 R 45 Bl S 9SE I B8 (L Sk &
at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on these items E2HEREEEBOMERE - AEE
collectively based on loss patterns as reflected in the debtors’ *E}F S AR BENRER KA IELE
historical payment pattern. AHFEETZSHANRPEEES -

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group EAREBEERBTIEN —25 A&

applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following B EEHBARNPEETSR - TG

table provides information about the exposure to credit risk RIE S IEINEIE N A #)VEENZERRK K

for trade receivables and contract assets which are assessed O8EE  ITREHEHEEER(EEY

on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). EE) IR R EDET - 20234128

Debtors with significant outstanding balances or credit- 310 - BEASEAAEEEKSDREEE

impaired with gross carrying amounts of HK$90,620,000 SHME B0 15 78 A BE T 425 5 51190,620,000

and HK$98,341,000 respectively as at 31 December 2023 70 %98,341,000% 75 (2022 4F = 70,340,000

(2022: HK$70,340,000 and HK$57,955,000) were assessed 7T 157,955,000 70 ) (B BIE T2 o

individually.
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B Z2023F12H31HIFFE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. TR T Em)
Financial risk management objectives and MK EREEBERBK @
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE &R EFTFE &)
Gross carrying amount BREAEE
2023 2022
20235 20226
Average Trade  Contract Average Trade Contract
loss rate receivables assets loss rate  receivables assets
£ 85 T =
BiEE ERRE GREE BEEX  ERFIE  AHNEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
TERT THERT FAT TAT
Low risk REE 0.10% 14,697 32,465 0.08% 41,259 5,925
Watch list BRyR 0.30% 72,676 25,441 0.16% 36,043 25,463
Doubtful xR 23.88% 3,520 342 24.36% 3,393 379
90,893 58,248 80,695 31,767
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical MEEBEEDENEB AR B S AR B
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and FEEMSMENRME - WIREHFEE
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available 8 % X KBRS 0 RTERAS 89 A BE 1 & KR
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed B pHETIEKEIRE TSR - R
by management to ensure relevant information about specific BEEBAEBERSIEN 6HNEE
debtors is updated. The contract assets have substantially the HRAESHNE S RKFIEN R RS-
same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same BAER - Bt - AEEBELERBE SHEW
type of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the REHEBEXHENEENBEERSIEME
loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation 2

of the loss rates for contract assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
B 22023F12H31HIFFE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. R T B
Financial risk management objectives and MEREE B ZERBEEK @)
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) S BRI E R E)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that TRV EAES A EmE S ERFTER
has been recognised for trade receivables and contract assets AUNEERIANDHTEHEEGENEE -

under the simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
ZHEH
ZHfEH FEEEE
BEEEE (B#4E
(BEERHE) EERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHBT
As at 1 January 2022 #2022%181H 2,738 1,271 4,009
— Impairment losses recognised —BHERREERE 165 809 974
— Impairment losses reversed —BELORERSE (1,620) (294) (1,914)
— Write-offs — Hif 88 - (396) (396)
Exchange adjustments PE 53 % (10) - (10)
As at 31 December 2022 R2022%12 8318 1,273 1,390 2,663
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EBEREEERE (333) 333 -
— Impairment losses recognised —BERBEBE 1,957 = 1,957
— Impairment losses reversed — BB ERERE (940) (657) (1,597)
— Write-offs — 88 - (771) (771)
Exchange adjustments b 5 SR B (2) = (2)
As at 31 December 2023 2023%12H31H 1,955 295 2,250
Debtors for finance lease receivables with significant M2023F12831H EEERKEEL
outstanding balances or credit-impaired with gross carrying BB HEEERENFEMEEE WK
amounts of HK$16,577,000 respectively as at 31 December A BR T 48 {8 5 16,577,000 70 (2022 4F -
2023 (2022: HK$14,096,000) were assessed individually. For 14,096,000 7T ) - HBEEERE A D H B ET
the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment of HK$93,000 e HZE2023F12A31B1LFE - ERR
on finance lease receivables was recognised (2022: HK$51,000 b & T S fE Y FK I8 R {E 93,0008 T (2022
was reversed). £ 1 51,000/8 LB #E) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HZ2023F12H31HIFFE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management of the Group monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31 December 2023, the Group has available
unutilised short-term bank loan facilities of HK$85,550,000
(2022: HK$50,000,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities and derivative instruments.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans with
a repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time
band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate or based on
overnight index average, the undiscounted amount is derived
based on management’s best estimates at the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interest rate curve,
if available.

34. €@ T B

B EREE R ZERBE @

REBELEEE

RERRBDESRRE  AEBEERENE
FREEERRMBENARELERRDR
ERENBTEMEBRARNRAE RS
EBEYKF - AEEEEEERERITER
HIEN AR HECR 8 T B R

AEEBFRBRUTEBEREARBESZEX
HR o 7A2023F 12 A31H » AREE T A
RE)A R EIIRTTE R & A85,550,000
7 7T(20224F ¢ 50,000,000587T) ©

TRALAEESHEBEERITET AN
TARNIHBIBER - ZRDBEBEAREERA
EWERKEENRFENREBRAGENR
MEReRERE - ABME - WHAR
EXRFEEGRFRORTEFAARERH
BA - MAmRITERITEEEN AT
o RMETE SR B ENIH B AKNE
EVER B -

TRERMNELASHESRE - HHER
ERFDMEHENBERFHEE - BIK
MRS BEREEEEN RS HRE KA
T (A ) ROREGFHSH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE I ERRM R
For the year ended 31 December 2023
B 22023F12H31HIFFE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. R T B
Financial risk management objectives and MEREE B ZERBEEK @)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) TEE LR &)

Weighted On demand Total
average or less than undiscounted  Carrying
interest rate 1year 1to2years 2to5years cash flows amount

REXE REEH

il 4 RE= RERE
PR PRE 122 ELE nE REE
HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TR TRR TR TER TBx TBT

2023 2023%

Trade and other payables &5 & £ 1508 - 176,553 - - 176,553 176,553
Borrowings b 2.67% 11,157 - - 11,157 11,052
Leases liabilities HEBRE 3.91% 7,378 4111 136 11,625 11,157

195,088 4,111 136 199,335 198,762

Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate Tyear 1to2years 2to5years  cash flows amount

NP AR

i (i REing
RRZLLES DINE 1226 2255 it RAEE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TR TR TAT TAT

2022 20225

Trade and other payables 25 & 2t fEf 7178 - 118,492 - - 118,492 118,492

Leases liabilities HEERE 3.88% 6,817 4,081 1,910 12,808 12,158
125,309 4,081 1,910 131,300 130,650

Fair value measurements of financial SRITAENATEFE

instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are TREENERABHAFENBEER

determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing BRI SR BN T AREBR{EE ©

models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities carried REEK AT ENSREERERAEN

at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts. N EEEREERES ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 35. RiEZHELNEEYER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

THEERAEMBEIDELNAES

(BEBESRIBLEY)  METHEL

MEEEERS B RRBERE

AR EMSABESRBRTHEARE

SEBFERSREMALRE -

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

Financial
liability for
Lease redeemable
Borrowings liabilities rights Total
A
BR HEAE cRERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHT TAT FHT
At 1 January 2022 R®2022%181H 31,455 10,076 37,900 79,431
Financing cash flows MERSME (32,119) (8,104) - (40,223)
New leases entered RV RFAE - 10,306 - 10,306
Derecognition of redemption £ I AR BRI A &
liability - - (38,991) (38,991)
Finance costs E- %N 664 472 1,091 2,227
Exchange adjustments P& 5 - (592) - (592)
At 31 December 2022 7#2022%12A831H - 12,158 - 12,158
Financing cash flows MEREME 10,994 (9,496) = 1,498
New leases entered EARvA:oFikish=1 - 7,770 = 7,770
Finance costs BE KA 109 703 = 812
Exchange adjustments BE K % (51 22 = (29)
At 31 December 2023 720235128318 11,052 11,157 - 22,209
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. EAEIE

2023 2022
20234 20224

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAET

Capital expenditure in respect of the BRI HREANDETL

acquisition of property, plant and BREENREDE - HE
equipment and intangible assets REEARELEERAN
contracted for but not provided in the ~ &AFIsx
consolidated financial statements 1,252 -
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BB AR S
Compensation of key management personnel FEEE ASEH
The remuneration of key management during the year was as RENTESEASENSTMOT :
follows:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiEx FA&T
Salaries, wages and bonuses e TERDA 5,078 4,743
Sales commission expenses HEMeMX 1,765 2,531
Pension costs — defined contribution plan 3R RS A — FE R 2 66 60
Social security fund, housing and other #H&REES - FEMEMEES
employee benefits =l 22 14
6,931 7,348
The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined EENTETHAEZFMNHTHEE R
by the remuneration committee having regard to the BIEEAARRETIEBEET o

performance of individuals and market trends.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

38. KA A BN T R FHEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Non-current Asset FRBEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries WEARIFELMIRE 483,000 483,000

Current Assets REEE
Prepayments TERTFIE 992 330
Amounts due from subsidiaries RS NGIE O] 143,406 142,385
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 404 2,629
144,802 145,344
Current Liability REBEE

Accruals FEEtER 1,900 992
Net Current Assets REEETFHE 142,902 144,352
Total Assets less Current Liability EEHERRBAR 625,902 627,352

Capital and Reserves BEXRR B
Share capital A& A 5,000 5,000
Share premium [ B 168,033 168,033
Reserves (Note) bt (i E) 452,869 454,319
Total Equity SRR 625,902 627,352

RRABF AR KD R2024F3 268 =
e EMEETE WA THIEEARX

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March

2024 and are signed on its behalf by: %= .
CHAO KA CHON CHIU KOON CHI
AxR#%& iz beg=2
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 38. &2 BBk RKR B & @
RESERVE OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: Movement in the Company’s reserves are as follow: MizE . ARRSREZESIOT
Capital Other  Accumulated
reserves reserves losses Total
BEAFEE Htf#eE ZitEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
At 1 January 2022 720221818 483,000 (36,398) (19,040) 427,562
Loss and total FAEEREZEREZ
comprehensive k)
expense for the year - - (9,641) (9,641)
Derecognition of IR A ER B E
redemption liability - 36,398 - 36,398
At 31 December 2022 A2022F12831H 483,000 - (28,681) 454,319
Loss and total FABBREEMY
comprehensive expense 1aE
for the year - - (1,450) (1,450)
At 31 December 2023 72023%12831A 483,000 - (30,131) 452,869
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HZ2023F12H31HIFF/F

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. AA R EEM B A RFE
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RIREHR - AR EEREESE M
Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below. BRBIFHENT °

Place of
incorporation and  Authorised/ Proportion of
principal place of issued and ownership interests
Name of subsidiaries operation paid up capital held by the Group Principal activities

SMALHER  EE/BEf AEEREN
WEATER FTEEEHY RBRER FraERR LAl FEEE
2023 2022
2023% 20225

BoardWare (BVI) Holdings Limited BVI US$50,000/US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding

BoardWare (BVI) Holdings Limited KERUHE 50,0007,/ 1% 7T 100% 100% RERR

BW (BVI) Holdings Limited BVI US$50,000/US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding

BW (BVI) Holdings Limited ABRAES 50,0007/ 1%7T 100% 100% REEKR

Synergy (BVI) Holdings Limited BVI US$50,000/US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding

Synergy (BVI) Holdings Limited RERLES 50,0007/ 1%7T 100% 100% &EZR

BoardWiare Information System Limited ~ Macau MOP25,000/ 100% 100% Provision of professional IT services,
MOP25,000 managed services, IT equipment

leasing, IT maintenance and
consultancy services, and resale of
packaged hardware and software

BREENZRBRAR il 25,0008,/ 100% 100% RESRTRS  TERE  TRER
25,0002 g TEEREARBIARBEER
B REH
Synergy Computers & Communications  Hong Kong HK$1,000,000/ 100% 100%  Provision of IT maintenance and
Limited HK$1,000,000 consultancy services, and distribution
of packaged hardware and software
BAHRARRA ) 1,000,000/87,/ 100% 100% RETEERAARBIRIHERE
1,000,007 e
BoardWare Information System (HK) Hong Kong HK$10,000/ 100% 100%  Provision of IT services, managed
Limited HK$10,000 services, [T maintenance and

consultancy services, and resale of
packaged hardware and software

BRENZG(BE)BRAR 36 10,0007,/ 100% 100%  FRAETHRES - SEERE - MEERFS
10,0007 RENRBEERBHREE
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Name of subsidiaries

WEARER

KEBAREESARAR

KEBAREESARAR

BMEAREESARAR

BMEAREESARAR

Barco Technology (BVI) Limited
Barco Technology (BVI) Limited

Barco Technology (Macau) Ltd.

RFARBARAR

Carriex Business Investment and
Management Limited

BABEREREEBRAT

Barco (BVI) (PTC) Limited

Barco (BVI) (PTC) Limited

MARBARAA

Ee]

MARBARAA

Place of

incorporation and  Authorised/

principal place of
operation

SR LR
TEEXHE

The PRC

E

The PRC

BVI

RBRAES

The PRC

i

issued and
paid up capital
EE/BRT
RBRER

RMB32,000,000/
RMB32,000,000

AE32,000,0007,/
AE#32,000,0007

RMB12,300,000/
RMB12,300,000

AR12,300,0007,/
AE12,300,0007

US$50,000/US$4,000
50,000E7,/
4,000

MOP25,000/
MOP25,000
25,0004f97,/

25,0002

MOP25,000/
MOP25,000
25,0002F97,/

25,0002

US§50,000/US$50,000

50,000%7,/
50,000£7T

RMB50,000,000/
RMB4,500,000

ARE50,000,0007T,/
ARE4,500,0007

e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023

AF2023F 12731 HIFFIZ

39. KRR EFEME R FFE @

Proportion of
ownership interests
held by the Group
AEERAD
A RRRLY
2023 2022
2023% 2002F
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 87.5%
100% 87.5%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% N/A
100% Naf
100% N/A
100% Naf
100% N/A
100% Gyl

2023 FERE o

Principal activities

E2:31 )

Provision of professional IT services,
IT maintenance and consultancy
services, and resale of packaged
hardware and software
REERTRY - TR RSN
RBEERFHREM

Provision of professional IT services,
IT maintenance, consultancy services
and resales of packaged hardware
and software
RUERTRE - TEERBHRE
REEERFHREN

Investment holding

RERRK

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding (established on
30 January 2023)
REER (KRN 202351A308)

Private trust (established on
28 February 2023)
AR (RAIR202352/4288)

R&D activities (established on
12 January 2023)
HraEE (202351 A12R)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
B22023F 12731 HIFF/E

40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

In accordance with the rules and regulations in Macau,
employees in Macau are required to participate in a central
social security scheme operated by the Macau Special
Administrative Region Government. Under this scheme, the
Group is required to contribute a fixed amount on a monthly
basis to the central social security scheme and the contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they are due in accordance with
the rules of the scheme. The Group's obligations are limited to
the contributions payable.

For employees in Hong Kong, the Group participates in the
MPF Scheme established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance in December 2000, which is a defined contribution
scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
contributes monthly the lower of HK$1,500 or 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
PRC-based employees of the Group participate in various
defined contribution retirement benefit plans administrated
and operated by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and the PRC
based employees are required to make monthly contributions
to these plans calculated as a percentage of the employees’
salaries. The municipal and provincial governments undertake
to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC-based employees’ payable under the
plans described above. Other than the monthly contributions,
the Group has no further obligations for the payments of
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of its employees.
The assets of these plans are held separately from those of
the Group in independently administered funds managed
by the municipal and provincial governments. The Group’s
contributions to the aforesaid defined contribution retirement
schemes are expensed as incurred.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$3,208,000
(2022: HK$1,971,000) represents contributions payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
plans. As at 31 December 2023, contributions of HK$300,000
(2022: HK$145,000) due in respect of the year ended 31
December 2023 had not been paid over to the plans. The
amounts were paid subsequent to the end of the reporting
period. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future.

40. RIKEFRIFTE

RIBORFIRO R ROEM - RFIERAS
AR PR R TER 2 B AR & B R At
RIEETE - RIBZA S AEEEASAL
Bl E KRR R SREEHH - W
FHFRIFLT B Z AR B R E RS
AR - NREEREERIOBEMFE -

By S 19 W

AEBEREBREESEN2000F12 ARE
CRHERE ST ENRED R Z BB ST
g ERTBHIEE - #EEEINE
EBUNASEEE  THBUXEAE
PIMESHA - RIEBETE - A%H
5 A$1,500/8 T (& B HRAUARI5% (LA
RIEER/E)ELRHR - 58 AEBEA
#%30,00078 7T ° wt &I KBNS RS -

RIBFRER GO AR - ARENTERE
BE2MbrEEET ABRTEEKEE
MERTEBHEICENREFE - RIFZET
g ARELTEEESABEKEERTE
MEX—BADLRZEAEELHR - T
BB AGERE D5t 8RB ENE
B EARKRAKTEEBRIRENE -
B AHRIN  AEENE SRR
EREMRKERANEMBER - ZFa
FNEEBYNASEEE  YhmkE
BREBNBIERESEAR - AEEY
i TE B BOR IRET BB SRR B A T
R

R IE = MR M 42 5 & 43,208,000 7% 7T
(20224 : 1,971,000 7T) * BAEE LT
SR RIETRAM L RS RZ ST AR -
HZE2023F12A31H * REE2023F12A
31H IEF E | HH9300,0005 78 (20224 -
145,000/ 70 ) M EEFR M AR F 25518 ©
BEFEE N REHMERE I - BHE
SRUSAE TR AT R DR A AR SR FE ST AR 3K o
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41. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into new lease agreements
for the use of office for 5 years. On the lease commencement,
the Group recognised right-of-use assets of HK$7,770,000
(2022: nil) and lease liabilities of HK$7,770,000 (2022: nil)
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the derecognition
of the financial liability for redeemable rights amounting to
HK$38,991,000 was a non-cash transaction being credited to
the equity.

42. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group's borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the
Group's assets and the carrying amounts of the respective assets
are as follows:

Investment property WEME
Bills receivable RN EE
Pledge bank deposits BB HIRITIFR

e ISR R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BElE2023F 1231 HIFFE

41. FEFBRERS
TR AEBREAPARSFIUTHEE
Wik - NTEERAE  NEEDRIERE
& ET7,770,0007% 7T (20224 = ) &7
E81E7,770,000/8 (20224 : ) ©

HE2022F12 831HIEFE » RIFHERA]
fE 04 A& 538,991,000/ T AR E X
SWEFT AL °

42. EEEHR
REEMETARNE B EELDIEER -
BHEBEEMNERRENT :

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
4,939 _
5,547 _
53,317 53,317

43. DIVIDENDS

No dividends was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
by the Company during 2023 and 2022, nor has any dividend
been proposed at the end of the reporting period in respect of
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

44. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified in these
consolidated financial statements to conform with the current
year's presentation, which have no material effect on previously
reported profit and equity.

43. K2
AN BA20234F [ 2022 G0 4 R {5 ok i
) B MR AR BRI B, IR B R Ih
EREEIE2023F K20229F 12 A31HIEF
EREALE o

44. LB F
RE AR RENETHRET O &R
DB UHAENEENER  LEYA
2R RS EEAE o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LFE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

2019% 20209 20219 20229  2023%F
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TExr FTET  TET TET TErn

Revenue Uz 502,742 475,308 534,302 580,833 717,595
Profits before tax Br AT 29,070 34,150 30,002 6,676 7,446
Income tax expense PRSI XX (3,851) (4,292) (5,999) (3,428) (2,944)
Profit for the year F @ 25,219 29,858 24,003 3,248 4,502
Attributable to: AT & IE R
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIE7 =N 25,219 29,858 24,003 3,252 4,502
Non-controlling interests FEIE R R - - - @) =
25,219 29,858 24,003 3,248 4,502

As at 31 December
®12H831H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

20194 20204 20214 20224 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FETT FAETT T T FET

40,441 59,343 57,008 65,246 73,721
261,627 259,097 379,109 507,814 509,682

302,068 318,440 436,117 573,060 583,403

(17,054)  (17,637)  (53,394) (9,014) (8,049)
(175,731) (167,814) (213,840) (233,023) (239,326)

(192,785) (185,451) (267,234) (242,037) (247,375)

Non-current assets IEmENEE
Current assets MENVE E
Total assets BERE
Non-current liabilities JEMEIAE
Current liabilities mMENAE
Total liabilities BfERER
Total equity A

109,283 132,989 168,883 331,023 336,028

224 BOARDWARE INTELLIGENCE TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MIFHE

REVENUE
HK$'000 g 12763 22227 B Professional IT Services
FERT FEITRS
750,000 Jo.457 1233724717 595 l Managed Service and
294,068 30478 143,879 262,606 lease income
635,000 59,763 : FEE RS KA E WA

113,351 108,800

B IT maintenance and

520,000 502,742 consultancy services
T4 8 I 55 A RS
405,000 248,932 Distribution
75
290,000 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Resale
20194 20204 20214 20224 2023 e
REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION
HK$'0_00 i BN B B2 B EE 122,020 25
FET
750,000
717,595 I Macau
167,944 ;@Fq
128,602
635,000 51 IH K
106,721 on on
125401 580,833 ng fong
BB
534,302
520,000 502.742
‘ 475,308 371,777 The PRC
Bl
405,000 405,459 EFI .
396,021 349,856 Others
290,000 Hith
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214 20224 2023%F

PROFITS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

, RATEE ABRMERNGEF
HK$'000
FET
30,000
22,500
15,000
7,500
0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204F 20214F 20224F 20234
NET ASSETS
HK$'000 FEE
FHET
400,000
331,023 336,028
300,000
200,000 168,883
109,293 132,989
0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214F 20224F 20234
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MIFWE

%
100.0
75.0
50.0
25.0

0.0

%
10.0
7.5
5.0
2.5

0.0

Times

=&
2.5
2.0
1.5
1.0
0.5
0.0

%
40.0
30.0
20.0

10.0

0.0

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN
EFZE
17.0 19.7 210 17.3 16.1
O— —— —— — —
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
2019%F 2020%F 20214F 20224F 20235
NET PROFIT MARGIN
#H R =R
43
06 0.6
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
2019%F 20204 20214 20224 202345
FINANCIAL RATIOS
Mt =
%
18.6% . 200
L.L 2.1 5
14.0% 1.8 /E\ ___—— g 16.0
m 12.0

1.5 8.0
AN 33%
: : : Lt : 0.0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214 20224 20234
B Current Ratios [] Gearing Ratios
RENL = EEEEE
RETURN ON EQUITY
e NEE R
231 22.5
14.2
1.0 1.3
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023




GLOSSARY
RIS IR

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the
following terms shall have the meanings set out below.

“2021" or “FY2021"
[20214F |3k 2021 FF B 4F |

“2022" or “FY2022"
[20224F |3k[ 2022 FF B 4F |

“2023","FY2023" or “Reporting Year”
20234 | ~ [2023F BF & e[ a4 E

2023 AGM”
[2023FRFBFRE |
2024 AGM”
[2024FRFBFRE |

“2027"
[20274 ]

“AloT"
[AloT ]

" Articles of Association” or "Articles”

[#RAREAZARAN Ikl 4R

“Audit Committee”

EfEI

“Baidu Group”

EPEESEN

“Barco”
[/

“BC|"
[BCI]

“Board”

=

oooo

RAFEHT - IRIENEREAEE
JEEA T XFR#RE °

BRIT SIS

the financial year ended 31 December 2021
HZE2021F12A31 A LT RFE

the financial year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12A31 ALV RFE

the financial year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31 AL RFE

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 20 June
2023
RATER2023F6 A208 (R ) RITHRRAFAE

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 20 June
2024
ARATHEN202456 A20 8 (2N BTHRRBFRE

the financial year ended 31 December 2027
HZE2027F12A31 B IEHBFE

Artificial Intelligence of Things
PN = 12%7)):

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company, adopted
on 20 June 2022, which became effective upon Listing and as amended,
supplemented or modified from time to time

72202246 H20 RERAEI A R RIER] RS EMABZIRMA - ER L
BAEBMBRIETRAERT - RS

the audit committee of the Board
EXgETLEE

Baidu, Inc. and its subsidiaries, which was listed on the NASDAQ National
Market since August 2005, and was dual-listed on the Stock Exchange since
March 2021

BEEEROARAGLEMEBAR - 8200598 A REMITER 2B M5
LT WH2021F3 A RRER A MESE I H

Barco Technologies Limited (‘/NEHEZ AR AR, a company incorporated in
the PRC with limited liability on 12 January 2023
IARHEER AR - 702023F1 B 12 BEPBIEMA AR AR

Brain-computer Interface

-7 AT

the board of Directors

=g
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“Board Committee”

=gt

“Board Diversity Policy”

[BE=EZ TR

“BoardWare HK”

[EHEE]

“BoardWare Macau”

(4R

“Business Day(s)"

[&%H]

"BVI"”
[REBEIEHS ]

"CEO"
[BRHITE]

"G
[EXER]

"CG Code”
[EXEATAL

“Chairman”

[E/F]

collectively referred to as the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Board

EX2ETRRe REZBELFMEZESHRME

the Board diversity policy of the Company
RRREFEZ TR

BoardWare Information System (HK) Limited (B# & Z45(FB) AR A TF)
(formerly known as BoardWare Information System Limited (‘% &\ £ 44
[R727])), a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 30
March 2017 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BHEMRS(FR)ARLFR(ABABREMRZSNERAR)  K2017F3
RA30BERBFM I ABRAAF - AERABNHEEZERNEARF]

BoardWare Information System Limited (% & R4 AR A A]), a company
incorporated in Macau with limited liability on 21 April 2003 and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BEEARGERAR - —HR2003F4 821 BIERPIFMKZHERA
Al BERAARNEEEZERE LR

a day (excluding Saturday, Sunday or public or statutory holiday in Hong
Kong and any day on which a tropical cyclone warning No. 8 or above is
hoisted or remains hoisted between 9:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon and is not
lowered at or before 12:00 noon or on which a “black” rainstorm warning
signal is hoisted or remains in effect between 9:00 a.m. and 12:00 noon and is
not discontinued at or before 12:00 noon) on which licensed banks in Hong
Kong are generally open for business in Hong Kong throughout their normal
business hours
EENFRRTRBELEEEXFR-RAPMETEXRBENEF(HEHE
EHR - EHRSBEEBELRICET WA R SR VSRR ESEHRR
EFFNREERF+ R ERBSGRBEH AR F+ RIS AT ARRE
FBEIBZREEERN LFAREEFRF+ R ESES MR ERERF
T+ R IES 2 BT AR R ERT H F)

the British Virgin Islands
RERTES

the chief executive officer of the Company

RABIEFEATE

corporate governance
©ERER

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules

E AR RIBHERC1 BB MK R EEVRSFRID

the chairman of the Board

EEEER
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“China”, "PRC" or “Mainland”

[ Bl skl A

"Code Provision(s)"”
[ =F Bl

“CODM(s)"
[E2EEREA]

“Companies Ordinance”
NGILESYN

“Company”

ZAVNCIN
“Company Secretary”
[RAEWE ]

“Conditions”

[ ek

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[FRRRARER

“COVID-19"
[COVID-19]

“Deloitte”

(152 ]

oooo
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RISER

the People’s Republic of China, and for the purpose of this annual report
only, excludes, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

i \NRAAE - @RAFHRN S - TEEEE ORPIRAE

code provision(s) as set out in the CG Code
1 EEE AT RIPTE <P RIE

chief operating decision-maker(s)

TREERRA

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
FEEDIE622 8 R FUEBN) (EARHERT ~ fFEsk AR AR T &)

BoardWare Intelligence Technology Limited (I # E Z R F BB A A), a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 18 February 2021 as an
exempted company with limited liability and registered as a non-Hong Kong
company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance on 7 June 2021
BHREERFBERAT - —ER2021F2 188 EFH ERH ST ML ERH
RARAR - W20215F6 A7 ARB ARG F 16HBEMARIEFTERT

company secretary of the Company

RRRNAEIWE

any reason other than (a) his/her death or (b) on one or more of the grounds
of termination of employment or engagement that, he/she has been guilty
of serious misconduct, or appears either to be unable to pay or to have
no reasonable prospect of being able to pay his/her debts or has become
bankrupt or has made any arrangement or composition with his/her creditors
generally, or has been convicted of any criminal offence involving his/her
integrity or honesty, or on any other ground on which an employer would be
entitled to terminate his/her employment summarily

B F M O)AT B LIBAR(REETREE - IUAFEE I
BIEFARAREE N HEB SR ES D BEES AL EA P
RSILE S REEERHENERMNERT  ETAEBEESREFELR
BB EAEMIEH) MR IHERSIBEEIMERIRE

has the meaning given to it under the Listing Rules and, unless the context
otherwise requires, refers to Tai Wah and Mr. Chao, or any of them

BB EmRAMETZARE - RIEXESGIE - BRIETai Wah & JE 5
A EPER—A

the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), a respiratory illness caused by a
novel coronavirus

201978 ARREFR(COVID-19) - —TEMFT AT AR = 5| B A IR B R 7R

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, independent auditor of the Company

=% « FEMR5EITT - AR RHBILAZBIED
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“DHQ (Macau)”

[KEZ(ORPT) ]

“Director(s)”

==

“Dividend Policy”
(AR BB

"ECL"
[TEREEEE]

“Enterprise IT Solutions”

[{DEEITRR R T E
“ESG”

[ESG]

"ESG Policy”
[ESGIZE |

"ESG Report”
[ESGHRE ]

"ESG Reporting Guide”
[ESGHR &SI ]

“Fin-tech”

[ @R

“Global Offering”
[2IREE

DA HENG QIN (MACAU) LIMITADA (K% (RFT) BRR A7) (formerly known
as DA HENG QIN (MACAO) DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED (K=
(CBP9)3EE— ABRAF]), a company incorporated in Macau with limited
liability on 3 December 2019. DHQ (Macau) is an independent third party and
a pre-IPO Investor

AEZCRFAERAB(FIEAESCRMA) ER-ABRRAF)  —HAR
2019512 A3RARPIEMA N ER AT - KEZ(ORM)A—BBUE=
AR—ZERAREERNRES

the director(s) of the Company
KARES

dividend policy adopted by the Company
R FIFTER AR AR BIBUER

expected credit loss
BHEEEE

enterprise-grade design and implementation solutions and services provided
to corporate customers in which different computing systems and software
applications are either physically or functionally linked together to act as a
coordinated whole

AR AR PIRHEERRG RITHRTT ZMRG - Hh AR B RS M
R AEYIE FIhee B A —#E - A — AR AR ER

Environmental, Social and Governance
R e kER

an internal policy manual which details the policies and procedures of the
Group in ESG perspectives
WEPEEFM - HESGAREFMAEBENBEKIET

the ESG report for FY2023
202345 BF FFESGHRE

the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide set out in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules
FiRRIMERC2PIE IR - (& MEIRHRE S

financial technology, which is an emerging industry which uses technology
to improve activities in finance, such as the use of smart phones for mobile
banking and cryptocurrency

TRIBH - AIMARKSCECRUEBFRESR - IERERTFHRETTFH
RITRNEEREEE

Greenhouse gas

A x4 B
ym 2 R e

together, the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Placing
BB RFEE REIFRAL S H) i
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"“Greater Bay Area”

BN

"Group”
[RE&HE |

“Henggin”
(&%

"HKS"
77t

“Hong Kong” or “HK"
(&%
“Hong Kong Public Offering”

EEYNGE:<3

"AS”

[BIER & aT2EA ]

ASB”
(B g EAEEE]

“IFRS(s)"
[ R 35 s 5 R Al

“Individual Limit”

MEA LR ]

“INED(s)"
B IEITESR]

oooo
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the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, which comprises
the two Special Administrative Regions of Hong Kong and Macau, and the
nine municipalities of Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Zhuhai, Foshan, Huizhou,
Dongguan, Zhongshan, Jiangmen and Zhaoging in the Guangdong Province,
the PRC, with a total area of 56,000 km?

BEBRANERE - AMESITTRE(FERRP) RPBEERENEEED
(B R/ 308 - Bl BN - R~ il - TP REEE A - LETE
/%56,000°F 7 A8

the Company and its subsidiaries

RRRREKE AT

a city in Zhuhai and a special economic zone in Guangdong Province of the
PRC
— ARSI - A EERE LB R

Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BRAEE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of
China
hiE AR KB EBFRITTHR

the issue and offer by the Company of the Hong Kong Offer Shares for
subscription by the public in Hong Kong for cash at the Offer Price, on the
terms and subject to the conditions described in Prospectus
RIEBRERMEGRLEEGERBRT  ARAFIRREEEERTREES
BEEROAEEERRATRE - REERS

International Accounting Standards
il il

International Accounting Standards Board
REET AR EE

International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by International
Accounting Standards Board
Bl g st R E R M BRI 5 s R

the limit of total Share number issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each participant in any 12-month period, which is 1% of
the Shares in issue

E2EEEMN218 B SR A ER B IRERITER E BT RS T81TH
IRAD BB IR - BIE A TARID A1 %

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BIIFHITES
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“International Placing”

[ BIFRACE |

“International Placing Shares”

[ BIFRACE R tn |
“loT”
[ R 48 |

“IPO"
[ERAREE]

T
[T

"KPI(s)"
[ BESRAERUEIS

“Listing”
[ b7

“Listing Date”

[ LR B

“Listing Rules”

[ EmARA

“Macau or “Macau SAR”

[DRFT KR4 BT

“Main Board”

[k

“Managed Services”

[ #E& AR

the conditional placing of the International Placing Shares at the Offer Price
by the International Underwriters for and on behalf of the Company, subject
to reallocation, together where relevant, with any additional shares that may
be issued pursuant to any exercise of the Over-allotment Option
BRBHBAR AR AREEER KT REEREERN (A FEHHER) -
E[R (WA ) R B RR AC AR e T T T AT R BT TV (AT RS MR 17

the 112,500,000 Shares being initially offered by the Company for
subscription at the Offer Price under the International Placing together with
any additional Shares that may be issued pursuant to any exercise of the
Over-allotment Option, subject to reallocation
ARAIREEBRESREEEDFRZAHREER112,500,00008 15 » &
(A R R RE AL AR R 1 T (50 10 PT BE BE T TRV IE AT EESMNR ) - RI T EFT DD

Internet of Things

YL

initial public offering
EPNGE

Information Technology

BARHR

key performance indicator(s)
AR A I

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
e fn OB B2 P £ AR BT

15 July 2022, being the date on which the Shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange and from which dealings in the Shares are permitted to commence
on the Stock Exchange

202247 A158 » BB P £ R AR B OB X2 PR 4R B B /0 B 1

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as
amended from time to time

EEBMARSMARARES LR ETIEHER)

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China

2 A R AR PIH BT

the stock exchange (excluding the options market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of
the Stock Exchange

M RFTEENER XS (T EEREMS) BB AGEM - BE
HA1TEME

support services from leasing contracts and security monitoring services

HEA O R 2B RGTRER STH R
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“Memorandum of Association”

[#RAE A2 KM

“Model Code”
[1Z2E<F Al ]

“MOP”
[EFIT]

“MOU”

[FRAR TR ]

“MPF Scheme”
[EESETE]

“Mr. Chao”
[EEAE

“Mr. Li"
Ee

“Mr. Man"
[ XS4

“Mr. Ng”
[RoE4]

“Mr. Suen”

[fRE4E]

“Mr. U”
[REE]

“Ms. Chiu”
Fikeaull

“Ms. Lei”
[ZFiet]

oooo
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the amended and restated memorandum of association of the Company,
adopted on 20 June 2022, as amended from time to time

72202256 A 20 B ERAEY AR R RIS IEFT RS B VAR B 12 KM (IS B &
&)

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FRRIMERCIPAE F AR EFHEITEF R HHRESTA

Macau Pataca, the lawful currency of Macau
BT RPVEEER

the non-legally binding memorandum of understanding dated 20 October
2023 entered into between, amongst others, the Vendor and the Company
setting out the preliminary understanding in relation to the Proposed
Investment, except for some terms relating to confidentiality, termination and
governing laws contained therein
EHR(EPEE)BEHEAARN2023F10 42085 LT A EELARSE S
R E T - EhEYAEESRESTENYTRE - EETEIIGRER
B RIENREERIE T IRFERSN

the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
EHlEATEEFE

Mr. Chao Ka Chon (BZ1£), an executive Director, the Chairman, CEO and
the Controlling Shareholder
BARELRE - BRTES - K - THERHERIERRE

Li Haodong (Z/& ), a non-executive Director

R RIFTES

Man Wing Pong (35K #8), an INED
SMOKFB - BB IEITESR

Ng Hong Kei (= %B#5), an executive Director
RBH  BRITES

Suen Chi Wai (&E&1&), an INED
BEIE  BBNIERITES

U Seng Pam (ZREKHR), an INED
REGR - RENIFRITES

Chiu Koon Chi (#5@=), an executive Director

HEZ  RITES

Lei Sok Han (Z#U), an executive Director
R BMITES
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“Net Proceeds” the net proceeds from the Listing after deducting the underwriting fees,
commissions and other listing expenses borne by the Company

[P FIEFEE FHFSHIRERE - KR EEER - ME AR B MAERNEAM FHRX

“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Board

[fERZEEg ] ExgRELEY

“Offer Shares” the Hong Kong Offer Shares and the International Placing Shares, including

the additional Shares that might be issued under any exercise of the Over-
allotment Option

[EHERD FEBEER D MERRERD - BERIEITE BRI ] s B THERIMNK
%)
“Qver-allotment Option” the option expected to be granted by the Company to the International

Underwriters, exercisable by the Sole Global Coordinator at its sole and
absolute discretion (for itself and on behalf of the International Underwriters)
pursuant to which the Company may be required to issue up to aggregate of
18,750,000 additional Shares at the final Offer Price, to cover over-allocations
in the International Placing, if any

[ A EE A A TR R AR TR EHEENERE - TRBEREEHHAABERY
RREZEBEBHER) 2ERISEITE - Bt - AARIREHERGRBEEER
118:%18,750,00008 BN D + LATHFE BUBR A & OB RE D AL (20 )

“Professional IT Services” IT integrated solution services including integrated services and post-sales
maintenance and technical support, and software development services

[ERITARTS TARE R RIRTE BIEER A RIS M EREE MM - AR ER
%

“Proposed Investment” the proposed acquisition of the entire issued share capital of the SCB Asia

Management Limited with the intention to indirectly acquire the land use
right to develop an internet data centre situated in Pinggu, Beijing

[N E 22 UK BESCB Asia Management Limited 2 202 3 /TRR AN - LARS B UL EE + it
{5 A LA SR AL T P AR & ) B B B 0

“Prospectus” the prospectus of the Company dated 29 June 2022
[HBRERE] ARAH 202256 A29H AR ETR

"PwC” Pricewaterhouse Coopers

[ 7 SRoKE | e SRR N IEY 3

“Register of Members” the register of members of the Company
N AR AR A

“Remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of the Board
[(FHEEe ] EFgyiEae
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“Reorganisation”

(&4

“RMB”

AR

"R&D"
KiiE:d

“SaaS”
[SaaS]

“SCB Asia Management Limited”

[SCB Asia Management Limited ]

“Scheme Mandate Limit”

[ETEIERE LR

HGECH

‘E%@‘:’.:%‘J

pEm e

“SFO”

[ 78 7 K B 16 p1 |
“Share(s)”

[Rstn |

“Shareholder(s)"”
[ A%

“Share Option Scheme”
[ BB RERT S ]

"SME"
[FR/)he ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 52 P |

oooo
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the corporate reorganisations undergone by the Group in preparation for
the Listing described in “History, Reorganisation and Group Structure —
Reorganisation” in the Prospectus

AEERBHELITMAETNRARNEE  BHEFBENERERIEL - EEK
SEZE—EE I

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR - REEERS

research and development
fft o B pE %

Software as a Service

RN AR

a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and is a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Vendor

BE—RXREEEMKIHNBRAT - RETHNERZENBE QR

the limit of total Share number which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other share
option schemes of the Company, which is 10% of the aggregate of the
Shares in issue on the date of the Shares commence trading on the Stock
Exchange, which is in aggregate of up to 50,000,000 Shares

RITEERR AR 8 R AR R H A BB A 218 T H A0 P A BB AR 1 A]
BEBATHIR M B EIR - BN R PRI E B 2 A B BTG B8 H
10% » & H T #3550,000,0008% B {7

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

BAREFLHEEHERZBE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BREPFS71 E(ESF KK RO (ENEFHERT - fFEsk AR AT R E%)

ordinary share(s) with nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of
the Company
RARIIAAFRZEEC.01E LA E B

holder(s) of the Shares

BIVESZEUN

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 20 June
2022

ARAFIR202296 B 20 B B G ER e BB A HE S 21

small and medium-size enterprises

NS

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMER AR AR
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“Sub-committee”
["NMEBZE= ]

“subsidiary(ies)”

(KB RR ]

“substantial shareholder(s)”

[E2RER]

“Synergy CCL"

[EH R

“Tai Wah”

[Tai Wah

“"tCO.e"

[ — S fLhRE & |

"Us§”
ESH

“Vendor”

(&7

“Zhuhai DHQ Group”
[REAEZEEE]

"Zone”
[RERER]

ESG management sub-committee
ESGEER/NMEZEE

has the meaning given to it under the Listing Rules

BB EiRRIME TR AR RE

has the meaning given to it under the Listing Rules

BB EiRRIME TR AR RE

Synergy Computers & Communications Limited (£ & B & A R 2 7)), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 30 October
1990 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BHERHEAERRAT - —HMR1990F 10 A30B AT ETMK LN BERAA -
BERARRARNEZEEMB AR

Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with
limited liability on 16 February 2021 and wholly-owned by Mr. Chao and is
the Controlling Shareholder

Tai Wah (BVI) Holdings Limited + —f&#0202152 A 16 BE R ER 2 B &t
BZEVARAT - BHESERERR KRB FIHERAR

tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
WE—SULIREE

United States Dollar, the lawful currency of the United States

XL XBEEEAEER

SCB Global Capital Holdings Limited
SCB Global Capital Holdings Limited

Zhuhai Da Heng Qin Group Limited R&KIEZE £ B AR A F)
HWEREZEEEBER AR

the Guangdong-Macao In-Depth Cooperation Zone in Henggin
BEERRESIFER
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\\:/5/;
\V/
Intelligenceylechnelogy,
RS ENSTT R AR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(MEASBESEMAZNERLAE)
Stock code B 315k : 1204
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Paper from responsible sources
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